### **Table of Contents**

1. Introduction	4
1.1 Changes and Enhancements in TheraScribe	4
1.2 TheraScribe Editions	6
1.3 Activation of TheraScribe	7
1.4 System Requirements	8
1.5 Installation	8
2. Feature Overview	12
2.1 Login	12
2.2 Home Screen	13
2.3 File Menu	14
2.4 Go Menu	15
2.5 Help Menu	15
2.6 Navigation Toolbars	16
2.7 Types of Fields	
2.8 Using Dropdown Lists	22
2.9 Entering Dates	22
2.10 Selecting, Adding, and Deleting Patients	23
2.11 Working with Clinical Pathways	26
2.12 Selecting from and Editing Libraries	29
2.13 Screen Customization	33
2.14 Exiting the System	
3. Application Screens	
3.1 Personal Data	
3.1.1 Demographics	
3.1.2 Provider	
3.1.3 Insurance	40
3.1.4 General Notes	41
3.1.5 Attachments	42
3.1.6 Episode Custom Fields	44
3.1.7 HIPAA	45
3.2 Assessment	46
3.2.1 Psychosocial History	47
3.2.2 Biopsychosocial History	

3.2.3 Strengths/Weaknesses	53
3.2.4 Assessments Given	53
3.2.5 Mental Status	57
3.2.6 Recovery	59
3.2.7 Summary	61
3.3 Treatment Plan	62
3.3.1 Problem	64
3.3.2 Definitions	66
3.3.3 Goals	67
3.3.4 Objectives/Interventions	67
3.3.5 Modality	71
3.3.6 Approach	73
3.3.7 Diagnosis	75
3.3.8 Response	79
3.3.9 Homework	80
3.4 Progress	83
3.4.1 Session Details	85
3.4.2 Progress Notes Planner	86
3.4.3 Objective Rating	89
3.4.4 Psychotherapy Notes	90
3.4.5 SOAP	91
3.4.6 Session Custom Fields	92
3.4.7 Group Session	93
3.4.8 Amendments	94
3.5 Prognosis/Discharge	95
3.5.1 Prognosis Details	96
3.5.2 Discharge Details	97
3.6 Appointment Scheduler	98
3.6.1 Sessions	
3.6.2 Other Events	
3.6.3 Add Providers to Appointments	106
3.7 Reports	
3.7.1 Clinical Record Reports	
3.7.2 Administrative Reports	114
3.8 Outcomes	120
3.8.1 Selection Criteria	

3.8.2 Results1	.25
3.9 Tools1	.26
3.9.1 Providers1	.27
3.9.2 Teams/Groups1	.34
3.9.3 Custom Fields1	.35
3.9.4 Default Settings1	.37
3.9.5 Shortcut Bar1	.38
3.9.6 Libraries1	.39
3.9.7 Treatment Planners1	.40
3.9.8 Progress Note Planners1	.41
3.9.9 Database1	.42
3.9.10 System Settings1	.49
3.9.11 Preferences1	.53
4. Technical Support1	.56
5. License Agreement1	.56

### 1. Introduction

Thera*Scribe*® is widely recognized as a powerful, yet easy-to-use, behavioral health clinical management system. Developed by an experienced clinician, Arthur E. Jongsma, Jr., PhD, and a team of knowledgeable programmers at PEC Technologies, Thera*Scribe*® provides new advantages with each upgrade.

- By putting the content of Wiley's best-selling Practice*Planner*® books at the user's fingertips, Thera*Scribe* ® provides options for thousands of prewritten clinical management components and tools.
- This can save hundreds of hours of paperwork and improve the quality of clinical care, while suggesting intervention strategies to the user.
- Thera*Scribe*® is used successfully by providers and practices both large and small.

# 1.1 Changes and Enhancements in TheraScribe

Thera*Scribe*<sup>®</sup> has a new look, combining many of the powerful tools of previous versions with improved features and important new options.

#### • Easier Navigation

Accessing your information quickly and easily is essential in effectively working with your patients. The new layout of Thera*Scribe*® enables you to do just that. The Navigation Bar is your key to all the Thera*Scribe*® screens and groups of treatment options. The buttons, data grids, and windows within each screen provide clear, direct access to your data.

#### • Changing the Primary Problem/Secondary Problem

You may find it necessary to change your diagnosis of a patient's primary problem while working through his or her treatment plan. Thera*Scribe*® allows you to retain all information gathered and recorded for the initial primary problem while designating it as a secondary problem and choosing a new primary problem area instead.

#### • Editing Lightly and Richly Formatted Reports

Thera*Scribe*® makes editing both lightly and richly formatted reports possible. You can edit any of these reports from within your word processor, using tools that are familiar to you, as you create custom reports that represent your work and practice.

#### • Customizing Screens

You can continue to take advantage of the program's flexibility as you add fields to collect data unique to your own practice, set preferred system defaults, and create custom administrative reports. Thera*Scribe*® also provides powerful new lay-out customization possibilities for all episode-related fields.

#### • Expanded HIPAA Security Settings and Tracking Capabilities

Maintaining HIPAA regulations and security for yourself, your patients, and your practice is increasingly important. Thera*Scribe*® has screens for tracking patient HIPAA information and for regulating settings within the program that are important for maintaining a secure environment.

#### • Timesaving Features

Your search time in the treatment libraries is reduced by displaying only those therapeutic interventions that relate to specific objectives selected for each patient. (The full list of possible interventions can be displayed if desired.) You can create group progress notes in one patient's record and then copy them to other patients who share the same problem and who participated in the same group session. Using the Clinical Pathways set up in Thera*Scribe*® continues to be a valuable part of creating treatment plan and homework plan templates for specific presenting problems.

#### • Integration with Microsoft Outlook

If you use Microsoft Outlook as a key organizational and tracking tool in your practice, Thera*Scribe*® makes it easy to integrate patient data and sessions into your current framework. Thera*Scribe*® provides a quick way for you to export both contact information and calendar information.

#### • DSM-5/ICD-10 Compatibility

New Diagnosis Screen and available DSM-5 Wiley Planner Modules.

#### Expanded Array of PracticePlanner® Add-On Modules

 Previously purchased Treatment Planner modules can be imported into TheraScribe®. In addition, users new to the system, or upgrading users who wish to expand their array of Treatment Planner modules may customize the software to meet their practice needs by purchasing modules for a wide array of specific patient populations (i.e. Addiction, Adolescent Psychotherapy, Family Therapy, Mental Retardation, Family) and treatment settings (i.e. Probation and Parole, College Student Counseling, Early Childhood Education, Rehabilitation, Speech-Language Pathology).

To find a complete listing and to order Treatment Planner modules, visit the Wiley website at <u>www.therascribe.com</u> or call the toll-free Thera*Scribe*® hotline at 1-866-888-5158.

• TheraScribe® includes a new set of Progress Notes Planner add-on modules. These modules, which are purchased separately, feature prewritten patient presentation and interventions delivered statements that are tied to the problems, symptoms, and interventions you select for each patient's treatment plan. These time-saving automated and thoroughly integrated progress notes allow users to update treatment records in just minutes.

New Progress Note Planners and add-on modules are constantly being developed. Refer to the Wiley website at <u>www.therascribe.com</u> for a current list.

 In addition to Treatment Planner and Progress Notes Planner modules, TheraScribe® supports the use of a number of Homework Planner modules. Designed to correspond with the related Treatment Planner modules, Homework Planners feature exercises designed to engage patients in the treatment process between sessions. Suggestions for assigning and processing the assignments are included in the system. The exercises themselves can be launched as Word files and modified to suit each patient's needs before printing.

Some available Homework Planner modules include: Addiction Treatment, Divorce, Grief, Parenting Skills, and School Counseling. Refer to the Wiley website at <u>www.therascribe.com</u> for a current list.

#### Website and E-Mail Newsletter

A hotlink on the Home screen of Thera*Scribe*® will bring you to the Wiley website (<u>www.therascribe.com</u>) and to an online form where you can sign up for a quarterly e-mail newsletter featuring Thera*Scribe*® usage tips and alerts about newly published add-on modules

### 1.2 TheraScribe Editions

Thera*Scribe*® is available in different editions, allowing you to choose the treatment planning solution that is right for you and your practice.

This overview highlights some features unique to each edition.

#### TheraScribe® Trial Edition

After first installing Thera*Scribe*®, you will be operating a Trial Edition.

- 1. An Open Database File window will appear.
- 2. Click Create a New Database File.
- 3. A New Thera*Scribe*® Database File window will appear, allowing you to type in the name of the file and select its destination.
- 4. Click Save.
- 5. Continue with Login.

While you explore TheraScribe®, the Trial Edition allows you to:

- Enter up to 5 patients
- View report screens
- Export episodes

In the Trial Edition you will not be able to create a new episode for an existing patient, edit or import/export reports, back up your database, edit clinical reports, and utilize other key features. These options do become available as soon as you purchase an edition best suited to you.

### Thera*Scribe*® Essential 1.0 for Solo Practitioners (NO longer supported or sold -- call 616-776-1745 x4 to upgrade)

#### TheraScribe ® Small Practice Edition

This edition has been developed for practices with more than one provider, or those planning ahead to expand their practice. The Small Practice Edition allows you to network Thera*Scribe*® throughout your office. In addition to using beneficial features of the Essential Edition, you can:

- Organize your schedule with the new Appointment Scheduler and coordinate schedules with colleagues
- Utilize the form lay-out customization tools
- Use full Thera*Scribe*® features, including: editing data for multiple providers, creating Outcomes and Administrative reports, connect multiple machines to an Microsoft Access® database

#### TheraScribe® 5.0 Enterprise Edition SQL Edition

This edition was created to address the needs of large practices of 10 or more providers.

With Enterprise, you can:

- Enjoy the full capabilities of Thera Scribe ®
- Connect to a Microsoft SQL Server database for fast and reliable data storage and retrieval
- Option to store Data on PEC's Azure Server for secure access from any computer w/ TheraScribe installed and an internet connection. Call 616-776-1745 x4 for details.

### 1.3 Activation of TheraScribe

- 1. Go to the Home Screen
- 2. Click the red text which reads: Click here to activate your copy of Thera*Scribe*
- 3. The Activation Wizard will appear.
- 4. A prompt will ask: Have you purchased a license for Thera*Scribe*®? Click Yes or No, then Next.
- 5. If you click Yes, you will be asked to enter your registration code. If you cannot locate your registration code, please contact your Sales Representative or call 1-866-888-5158.
- 6. If you click No, you will be given information on how to purchase a copy (call 1-616-776-1745 x4 or go to <u>www.therascribe.com</u>)
- 7. After activation, you will need to restart Thera*Scribe* **(B)**. Depending on the edition for which you have registered, you will see the new edition title displayed on the opening screen.

8. If you are running Thera*Scribe* <sup>®</sup> Small Practice or Enterprise Editions, you will enter "admin" for Username and "admin" for Password. For more information about login, refer to the Login section of this manual.

### 1.4 System Requirements

Minimum System Requirements for Installation

Component	Client program	SQL Server 2012 Express
Processor Speed	i3	Minimum: i5
		Recommended: 2 GHz or higher
RAM	2GB MB	Minimum: 4GB
		Recommended: 6GB or higher
Free Hard Drive Space	20 GB	100 GB
Video Display	1024 X 768 resolution	
Operating Software	Windows 7 SP2 or later	Windows 2008 R2 or later

The database for the Enterprise version can be SQL Server Commercial or Express 2008 R2 or newer. SQL Server 2015 Express is recommended minimum.

### 1.5 Installation

#### Installation Instructions

TIP: As with any software installation, it is recommended that you back up your data before installing new software.

TIP: If you need to find your database location or you've become disconnected from your data in the Small Practice Edition, you can find the location of your Data in the Database History link on the login screen.

You can also see previous databases if you've become disconnected from your data. (Version 17.1 and newer)

Γhe	eraScribe	
	TheraSizibe - Logis	Database History
7.1 ase 17331.0 vright 2018 ur E. Jongsma PEC Technolog ights reserved.	Vaemane admin Passent OK Caroel	Current Database: C: (Backa)(TheraSorbe5-2013-07-17.mds Backup 2017 08 30(TheraSorbe5.mdb TheraSorbe5.bts)(5.10med.dod)(c.1amt.current on 1075/2010)
14-47C4-9681-45	Open Database File Database File Hotory	

#### Initial Installation for All Editions of the TheraScribe® Client Program

- 1. You can download and install from the link in the email or <u>https://www.therascribe.com/support/downloads/</u> and download current version.
- After the install is complete, launch TheraScribe® from your desktop. A screen will come up asking you to select a database location or to activate your copy of TheraScribe®. If you do not click on the link to activate TheraScribe® and select the database, you will enter Trial mode.
- 3. To enter the Activation Wizard, click on the link to activate Thera*Scribe*®.
- 4. In the Activation Wizard, click Next if you have an Registration Code. Otherwise select No and follow the instructions to obtain one. If you selected Yes and clicked Next, enter your registration code. Your code determines which edition of Thera*Scribe*® you will have.
- 5. Once you enter your reg code, click Next and you will have the option to connect over the Internet to activate TheraScribe®, or to contact a TheraScribe® representative. You will be asked to provide the registration code and a machine ID which will be displayed on the wizard.
- 6. Once you have completed the activation process you will have to restart Thera*Scribe*® to continue.

#### **Trial Editions: Installation on One Computer**

- 1. After initial installation, when Thera*Scribe*® is run again you will come to the screen to select a database location. Click on Create a New Database button to create a new database.
- 2. The default login is "user" with a password of "password".
- 3. Go to the Tools Section and click Providers. Click Password and change the password to prevent unauthorized access to your data. Record your new password in a secure place so you can easily find it in the event you forget it.

#### Small Practice Edition: Installation on a Network of up to 10 Users

- 1. After initial installation, when Thera*Scribe*® is run again you will come to the screen to select a database location. Click on Create a New Database button to create a new database. Or if one has already been created, you can click on Open an Existing Data File to browse for it. If the file is on a network shared drive, the computer must have read/write permissions to that file.
- 2. If you created a new database, the default login is "admin" with a password of "admin". Otherwise, if you connected to an existing database, enter the login and password provided to you and skip the remaining steps.
- 3. Go to the Tools Section and click Providers. Click Change Admin Password and change the admin password to prevent unauthorized access to your data. Record your new password in a secure place so you can easily find it in the event you forget it.
- 4. If you have activated your copy of Thera*Scribe*® you cannot use the full features of Thera*Scribe*® until you create one or more provider entries on the Provider screen and activate them. To do this click Add and enter a First and Last Name, and a login name. Also click Password to enter a login password. Then click Activate. In this process you will have to enter the activation code you used to activate Thera*Scribe*®. Once this is complete you can restart Thera*Scribe*® and login with one of the accounts you created here.

TIP: The Small Practice Edition uses a Microsoft Access® database. Access® generally performs well in network settings with up to 10 simultaneous users. Customers with more than 10 users and an in-house network administrator should purchase the Enterprise Edition of Thera*Scribe*® for optimal system performance.

TIP: To allow applications to share TheraScribe® data, all clients must be mapped to the same directory on the file server where the data file has been copied. All clients must have read/write access to this directory.

#### **Enterprise Edition: Server Installation**

Note: If you have not run the Enterprise Edition Server Installation process or if you do not have an existing SQL Server database then proceed to that first.

If you are using the Enterprise version and do not have a server computer with SQL Server on it, you can go to Microsoft.com and download SQL Server Express -- SQL Express 2015 recommended:

1. Here is a link to download: <u>https://www.microsoft.com/en-us/search?q=download+SQL+Express</u>

- 2. Note: SQL Server MUST be configured for Mixed Mode Authentication .
- 4. Once SQL Server is installed, download and install from the link in the email or <a href="https://www.therascribe.com/support/downloads/">https://www.therascribe.com/support/downloads/</a> and download current version.
- 5. You will need to install and activate Thera*Scribe*® on each client machine using the following steps:

After initial installation, when Thera*Scribe*® is run again, the Thera*Scribe*® login screen will appear. Click on the Change Connection Button.

- 1. If a database has not been configured, click on the Configure button and go to step 3. Otherwise enter the database server name. If the database name or login account was changed from the default settings in the database configuration process, click the Database Login button and enter the login information there. Enter the login and password provided by the person who configured your server and click OK. The install process is complete and you can skip the remaining steps.
- 2. The first screen on the Configuration Wizard gives you the option to create a TheraScribe® database and/or create the login account TheraScribe® uses to connect to the server. When you click Next, you will be asked to enter the server name, a login to the server which has administrator rights and a database name. If you selected the option to create a database, this will be the name of your new database, which cannot be an existing database. If you change the database name from the default value, you will have to set this every time a client machine is configured. If you are just creating the login account, this should refer to an existing TheraScribe® database. Click Next to continue.
- 3. If you selected the option to create a login account, you will be prompted to enter this. These values are set to default values. If you change these values from the default values, every time a client machine is configured, this login information will have to be entered. Click Next to continue.
- 4. Click Next on the Ready to Configure page to start the process.
- 5. Once this is complete, you will be brought back to the login screen. Use a login of "admin" and a password of "admin".
- 6. Go to the Tools Section and click Providers. Click Change Admin Password and change the admin password to prevent unauthorized access to your data. Record your new password in a secure place so you can easily access it in the event you forget it.
- 7. If you have activated your copy of TheraScribe®, you cannot use the full features of TheraScribe® until you create one or more provider entries on the Provider screen and activate them. To do this click Add and enter a First and Last Name, and a login name. Also click Password to enter a login password. Then click Activate. In this process you will have to enter the activation code you used to activate TheraScribe®. Once this is complete you can restart TheraScribe® and login with one of the accounts you created here.

#### Importing PracticePlanner® Add-on Modules

To import data from a new Treatment Planner, Homework Planner, or Progress Notes Planner:

- 1. Download the Planners.zip file from the email and Extract the Planner files -- preferrably to your documents folder.
- 2. Launch the Thera*Scribe*® application from your desktop, and go to the Database screen in the Tools group.

- 3. Click click the "Import Planner Libraries" on the screen.
- 4. Browse for planner where you unzipped the file.
- 5. The title of the new Practice*Planner*® module will be displayed in the relevant dropdown menus throughout the program.

### 2. Feature Overview

Thera*Scribe*® uses a variety of navigational and operational features to help in your use of screens, data entry, selection of patients and Clinical Pathways, use of libraries, and selections through dropdown lists.

### 2.1 Login

The Login screen is the central controlling aspect of the security system of Thera*Scribe*®. For confidentiality purposes, Thera*Scribe*® regulates access to patient records. After entering login name and password, users can select patient records to add or update.

#### First-time Login for TheraScribe® Trial Edition

Note: The account you create for the Trial Edition is a special account that gives you administrator rights (both full provider and administrator). You can do work using this default user name and password or go to the Provider screen and change your user name and password. You can create provider accounts and work with them without activating each provider.

- 1. Type "user" into the Username field of the Login window.
- 2. Type "password" into the Password field.
- 3. Click OK to gain access to Thera Scribe®.

🤐 TheraScribe 5 - Login 🛛 🛛 🔀
Username: user
Password: ••••••
Open Database File OK Cancel

First-time Login for Thera*Scribe* ® Small Practice Edition and Enterprise Edition

Note: The Administrator is able to create and activate provider accounts, but he or she cannot view any patient data and has limited functionality.

- 1. To login as the Administrator, type "admin" into the Enter login Name field.
- 2. Type "admin" as the initial entry password. Click OK to gain access to Thera Scribe  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}$  .
- 3. Click Tools Left-Side Navigation Bar to go to the Edit Providers screen.
- 4. Click Change Admin Password at the bottom right of the screen to enter a new secure password for the admin login name.
- 5. The Administrator should also enter his/her own name and credentials into the provider list by clicking on the name fields and typing in the data. Then click Security Level and use the dropdown list to select Administrator.
- 6. Click Password to assign a password to the provider who will function as Administrator. This series of steps provides security to the system as the Administrator tasks will include including adding and deleting providers as well as changing anyone's password.
- 7. Click Activate to work through the activation process for the Administrator.

#### See Tools/Providers for more details on managing Providers.

😫 TheraScri	be 5 - Login 🛛 🛛 🔀
	E S
Username:	admin
Password:	•••••
Open Data	base File OK Cancel

#### **Assigning Security Levels to Providers**

All providers using the system must be assigned their own login name and password by the Administrator. When a provider signs on to the system through the login window, Thera*Scribe*® allows that provider to gain access to only those patients to whom he/she has been assigned as Primary Provider, Supervisor, or Team Member. See Tools, Providers for more details.

### 2.2 Home Screen

The Home Screen will appear whenever you begin work in TheraScribe®.

It provides you with easy access to the following key information:

- The number of the Thera*Scribe*® version with which you are working
- Maintenance Plan Expiration Date: -- See Tools/Preferences

- Quick Links (Add a New Patient, View My Appointment Scheduler, View Sessions)
- Recently selected episodes
- Upcoming appointments
- Treatment Plan Review Reminders -- See Tools/Settings
- Links to other information (TheraScribe® Newsletter and Website, Email TheraScribe® Technical Support, Download Patient Survey and Other Forms, HIPAA Forms, Suggestion Box, PEC Technologies Website)

If you are using the Trial Edition, the Home Screen provides the Activation link that will enable you to activate full editions of Thera*Scribe*®.

While working in Thera*Scribe*®, you can return quickly to the Home Screen by clicking Home Screen on the Action Bar at the top of the screen.



### 2.3 File Menu

The File Menu is located on the Menu Bar at the top of your Thera Scribe® screen.

- It enables you to exit the program.
- You can also exit by clicking on the red X in the top right corner of your Thera*Scribe*® screen.

🛞 The	eraSc	ribe 5		
File	Go	Tools	Help	

### 2.4 Go Menu

The Go Menu is located on the Menu Bar at the top of your screen to give you another way to navigate quickly through Thera*Scribe*®.

- You will find ready access to the Home Screen, Next Screen, or Previous Screen with which you were working.
- You can also access each of the nine main Navigation Bar screens, with side bars to all group screens.



### 2.5 Help Menu

The Help Menu is located on the Menu Bar at the top of your Thera Scribe® screen.

#### Using the Help File

- 1. Click Help Documentation, press F1, or click the ? in the top right of the screen to access the Help File related to a particular screen. Thera*Scribe*® includes an extensive screen-related Help File.
- 2. The tabs will allow you to access Table of Contents, Index, Search, and Favorites for any topic in the program.

#### **Using Other Help Menu Options**

- Click Technical Support for a direct link to the Help File Technical Support information.
- Click Thera Scribe  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}$  Website to be brought directly to the Thera Scribe  $\ensuremath{\mathbb{R}}$  Website.
- Click About to view the Thera*Scribe*® splash screen, which indicates the edition you are running.

🛞 TheraSc	ribe 5	
File Go	Help	
Home Sele	TheraScribe Website	
Persona	About	ne
om Dem 🍸 Prov	rider	

### 2.6 Navigation Toolbars

#### **Navigation Bar**

Thera*Scribe*® divides the clinical documentation process into several main phases, represented by groups on the Navigation Bar on the left-hand side of the screen:

- 1. Personal Data
- 2. Assessment (intake)
- 3. Treatment Plan
- 4. Progress
- 5. Prognosis/Discharge
- 6. Appointment Scheduler
- 7. Reports (print records)
- 8. Outcomes (data analysis)
- 9. Tools

The first several buttons are ordered to reflect a typical clinical process. However, you may choose the areas that best meet your needs, in any order, by clicking the buttons.

Personal Data
🚱 Demographics
👕 Provider
💼 Insurance
📝 General Notes
Attachments
Episode Custom Fields
an tipaa 🐴
Personal Data
🚱 Assessment
🦉 Treatment Plan
Second Se
Prognosis / Discharge
Appointment Scheduler
Reports
Outcomes
🙋 Tools

#### Shortcut Bar

Located at the top of the screen, the Shortcut Bar provides quick access to the screens that you use the most. The items in the Shortcut Bar can be customized using the Tools, Shortcut Bar screen.



#### Tab Bars

Two screens in the Assessment Group use a Tab Bar. These are the Psychosocial History and Mental Status screens. You can choose between several subsets on each of screen by clicking the appropriate tabs.

Psychosocial History	?
Patient: Adam Stone	
Interviewer Brown, Sue  Date 10/24/2006	~
Person Interviewed Family Member	
Family Developmental Substance Abuse Socio-Economic Psychiatric Medical	
Note childhood family experience, current marital/relationship status, children, issues of conflict and strength of support.	1

### 2.7 Types of Fields

TheraScribe® contains the following types of fields and functions:

• Fields (free-entry text)

Home Phone	
Email Address	

• Buttons (to navigate around program)



• Check Boxes (to select options from long libraries)

Select Problem								
Þ		Anger Management						
		Antisocial Behavior						
		Anxiety						

• Dropdown Lists (to select from brief libraries)

Other Info	
Referred By	Sue Jackson
Marital Status	Married 💌
Race	Cohabitating
Gender	Divorced
	Married
Setting	Separated
Department	Single Widowed
Treatment Start	8/7/2006 💌
Last Review	×
Treatment End	✓

• Dropdown Calendars (to select dates)

Birth Date	<b>3</b> 17	/194	6				~	Age	60
	◄	A	ugu:	st	⊁	•	194	16 🕨	
		S	М	Т	W	Т	F	S	
		28	29	30	31	1	2	3	
		- 4	5	6	- 7	8	9	10	
		11	12	13	14	15	16	17	
		18	19	20	21	22	23	24	
F		25	26	27	28	29	30	31	
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7	
son		Тс	oday			C	lear		

• Pop-Up Library Windows (for extensive libraries)

Select Se	condary Problems	×
Problem	Group Complete Adult 4e	~
Select	Problem	<u>~</u>
	Anger Management	
	Antisocial Behavior	
	Anxiety	
	Attention Deficit Disorder	
	Borderline Personality	
	Chemical Dependence	
	Chemical Dependence - Relapse	
	Childhood Traumas	
	Chronic Pain	
	Cognitive Deficits	
	Dependency	1
	Depression	
	Dissociation	1
	Eating Disorder	
	Educational Deficits	
	Earrily Cooffict	
Searc	h Edit Library OK Cancel	

 Display Fields (where the selections you have chosen from libraries will be displayed)

S	Secondary Problems								
	Problem	Add							
I	Chronic Pain								
	Borderline Personality	Delete							
	Anger Management								
	Antisocial Behavior	Make Primary							
	Anxiety								
	Attention Deficit Disorder								

• Display Tables (to enter data in rows)

Patient: JudyA. Sample									
Date	Start	End	Provider						
8/23/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Provider, Default						
8/14/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default						
8/7/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default						

TIP: Move between fields by hitting the Tab button on the keyboard, or by clicking the mouse cursor on the field.

Virtually all actions within Thera*Scribe*® can be accomplished with a single click on a field, button, or dropdown list. A click anywhere on a library statement will check the box related to that statement.

#### Using Blank Fields

Thera*Scribe*® contains a broad array of blank fields, some of which may not be relevant to your practice. You may skip over these fields to leave them blank. However, the field names will appear on the default clinical report. To omit the field names, sophisticated computer users can create custom report formats, using the functions described in the Reports section.

#### **Editing Narrative Fields**

Thera*Scribe*® contains a number of narrative fields that allow you to enter an unlimited amount of data for patient history, assessment and treatment summaries, and other text using a rich text format.

Psychotherapy Notes									
в	I	Ū	ab∈∣≣⊟	🥲 🎸	Arial	• 8	• <mark>=</mark> = =		

You may also use voice recognition software (e.g. Dragon Speak) to dictate into open text fields.

### 2.8 Using Dropdown Lists

Thera*Scribe*® contains a number of dropdown lists. You can click the down arrow to choose from a list of options or make custom selections by typing your own data into the field (except for Provider, Gender, Data Source, and Treatment Phase).

Your customizations will apply only to the current patient record. To make permanent changes to a dropdown list, use the Libraries screen in the Tools group.

Other Info	
Referred By	Sue Jackson
Marital Status	Married
Race	Cohabitating
Gender	Divorced
	Married
Setting	Separated
Department	Single Widowed
Treatment Start	8/7/2006
Last Review	
Treatment End	

### 2.9 Entering Dates

You can enter dates in TheraScribe $\mathbb{R}$  by typing in the date field (i.e. 08/09/1976) or by using the dropdown calendars. To use the dropdown calendars:

- 1. Click the down arrow to the right of the data field. A calendar will appear.
- 2. Click Today to enter the current date.
- 3. Click Clear to clear the data field.

- 4. Click on the arrows to the right and left of the month and year to change them.
- 5. Click the day of the month you wish to enter.

								MI	А	
Birth Date	3/7	/194	6				~	Age	60	I
	◀	A	ugu	st	⊁	_ ◀	194	46 🕨		
		S	М	Т	W	Т	F	S		
		28	29	30	31	1	2	3		
		- 4	5	6	- 7	8	9	10		
		11	12	13	14	15	16	17		
		18	19	20	21	22	23	24		
F		25	26	27	28	29	30	31		
		1	2	3	4	5	6	7		
:kson		Тс	oday			C	lear			
										~

## 2.10 Selecting, Adding, and Deleting

### Patients

#### Selecting Patients and Switching Between Patients

To select a patient, click Select Patient on the Shortcut Bar near the top of your screen.

• You can select an existing patient record by double clicking on the name or by single clicking on the name to highlight it and then pressing the Select button. It will default to the latest episode of treatment for all patients in active status unless you change this by clicking the check box for Show Only Latest Episode.

TIP: If you wish to select from All Patients rather than Active Patients, use the dropdown list for the Select From field and select All Patients. You will then see all patients marked "Active" or "Inactive" on the Demographics screen in the Personal Data group.

- Once a patient has been selected, the home screen will appear. Use the Navigation Bar to begin work.
- You can switch between patients from anywhere within the program by clicking Select Patient on the Shortcut Bar. You could also click Home

on the Shortcut Bar and choose a patient from the list of Recently Selected Episodes.

Select a Patient or Pat	nway		
ID Number	Name Heys, Bob Peterson, Susan Sample, Judy Stone, Adam	Treatment Start 10/24/2006 6/4/2006 8/7/2006 10/24/2006	Select Cancel
			Add Patient
Select From Active Patier	nts 💌	🔽 Show Only	y Latest Episode
Filter Search Last Name	✔ for	Clear	

#### Searching for a Specific Patient

You can use the Search fields at the bottom of the Select a Patient or Pathway window to search for a specific patient.

- 1. Use the dropdown list for Field to select what you know about the patient: First Name, Last Name, or ID Number.
- 2. In the Value field, type in the data you choose (e.g., the patient's last name).
- 3. Any patient records meeting the search criteria you have entered will appear in the data grid above.
- 4. Select the desired patient.

Filter										
Search L	Last Name	*	for	Smith	Clear					

#### Viewing Patients by Providers

The Select a Patient or Provider screen also allows you to view the patients being treated by a specific provider.

- 1. Use the dropdown list for the Select From field and click on Providers.
- 2. Make a Provider selection using the dropdown list for the Provider field.
- 3. Select the patient from the list that appears in the data grid.

Select a Patie	nt or Pathway				X
ID Number	Name		Treal	tment Start	Select Cancel Delete Add Patient
Filter	roviders 🔹 st Name 💌 fo	 Brown, Sue Brown, Sue Doe, John Smith, Jim White, Diane	<b>&gt;</b>	🔽 Show Onļ	y Latest Episode

#### Adding Patients

You can add a new patient by doing the following:

- 1. Click Add Patient on the Toolbar at the top of your screen.
- 2. A New Patient dialog box will allow you to enter the new patient's name, ID number, and treatment start date.
- 3. If desired, you can also assign a preset Clinical Pathway to the patient. N.B.: Only add Clinical Pathways to NEW patients as ALL Tx Plan data will be replaced and ALL Session data wil be DELETED!!

New Patient	
First Name	Middle Initial
Last Name	
Clinical Pathway	×
Treatment Start	10/24/2006 V ID Number
	OK Cancel

You can also add new patients while using the Select a Patient or Pathway screen.

- 1. Click Add Patient.
- 2. A New Patient dialog box will allow you to enter the new patient's name, ID number, and treatment start date.
- 3. If desired, you can also assign a preset Clinical Pathway to the patient.

#### **Deleting Patients**

On the Select a Patient or Pathway screen, you can also delete a patient, if you have Administrator rights.

- 1. Select a patient and click Delete.
- 2. A dialog box will ask you if you really want to delete the record, because doing so will permanently delete all the information about that patient.
- 3. If you click Yes, the record will be permanently deleted. Click No to return to the Select a Patient screen.

TIP: Instead of deleting a patient, you may want to change the status of the patient to "inactive." To do this, uncheck the Active box on the Demographics screen in the Personal Data group. It is very important, legally, to maintain patient records for several years. Do not consider deleting a record unless you've printed out the complete hard copy report.

### 2.11 Working with Clinical Pathways

Thera*Scribe*® provides you with a powerful tool in its Clinical Pathway function. A Clinical Pathway allows you to designate predetermined problems, definitions, goals, objectives, interventions, and a diagnosis; if desired, it can even include homework assignments for use throughout your time treating a patient. Through insightful use of the Clinical Pathway tool, you can save considerable time in creating treatment plans.

#### **Creating Clinical Pathways**

Note: The Add and Edit Clinical Pathway functions are only available to users with System Administrator security.

- 1. Log in as a user with Administrator rights.
- 2. Click Select Patient on the Action Bar at the top of your screen.
- 3. In the Select a Patient or Pathway window, click on the Choose From field and select Clinical Pathways.
- 4. Click Add Pathway on the right side of the Select a Patient or Pathway data grid.
- 5. A New Clinical Pathway window will appear.
- 6. Enter the name of a new pathway. Click OK.
- 7. Double-click on the new pathway name, or single-click on the pathway name to highlight it, then click Select.
- 8. The Home Screen will indicate, in red text, that you are working in Clinical Pathway Mode. From the Home screen, click the Treatment Plan button.
- 9. On the screens in the Treatment Plan section choose the Problems, Definitions, Goals, Objectives/Interventions, Diagnosis, and Homework you wish to assign to the pathway.
- 10. In the Homework section, choose the homework assignments you wish to assign to the pathway.
- 11. Click the pathway name in the Name field at the upper-left corner of the screen to save your selections for the New Clinical Pathway and select a patient. The newly created pathway is now available for assignment to any patient.
- 12. If you click Delete when a Clinical Pathway is highlighted on the Select a Patient or a Pathway window, you will remove that pathway from Thera*Scribe*®.

🕷 TheraScribe - Clinical Pathway Mode		_ 🗆 X		
File Go Tools Help				
Home Select Patient Manage Pathways Add P	atient			
Treatment Plan	noblem 🖉			
🚈 Problem	Pathway Depression			
B Definitions				
🕅 Goals	Primary Problem	Select		
Unipolar Depression				
Objectives / Interventions	Objectives / Interventions Secondary Problems			
Diagnosis	Problem	Add		
W Homework	Anxiety	Delete		
🧖 Rename Pathway				
	Other Problems (not focus of treatment)			
	Problem	Add		
Treatment Plan		Delete		

#### **Editing Clinical Pathway Templates**

- 1. In the Select Patient or Pathway window, select the Clinical Pathways item from the Choose From dropdown list. This will display the names of all of the Clinical Pathways that have been created by the Administrator.
- 2. Select from previously established Clinical Pathways by double-clicking on the desired pathway, or clicking once to highlight the pathway, then clicking Select.

- 3. Click Treatment Plan on Navigation Bar.
- 4. Follow the instructions for the Treatment Plan screens to add, delete, or edit preselected treatment components.
- 5. When you are finished, click Select Patient to save the edited pathway.

#### **Renaming Clinical Pathways**

You may decide to rename a Clinical Pathway to better reflect its content or purpose. To do so, simply follow these steps:

- 1. If you are already working within the pathway, go to Rename Pathway screen in the Treatment Plan group.
- 2. Enter the new name in the dialog box and click OK.
- 3. If you are working with a patient and wish to rename a Clinical Pathway, click Select Patient on the Shortcut Bar near the top of your screen and the Select a Patient or Pathway window will appear.
- 4. Find the Select From field near the bottom of the window and use the dropdown list to select Clinical Pathways.
- 5. Select the Pathway you wish to rename from the data grid.
- 6. On the Navigation Bar, go to the Rename Pathway screen in the Treatment Plan group.
- 7. Enter the new name in the dialog box and click OK.

#### Assigning Preset Clinical Pathways

- Assign an existing Clinical Pathway to a new patient record by clicking on the Add Patient button.
   NOTE: If a patient already has a Treatment Plan and Sessions,
  - assigning a Clincal Pathway will overwrite ALL existing patient Treatment Plan and Session data!!
- 2. Select a pre-set pathway from the Clinical Pathway dropdown list in the New Patient window.
- 3. Once a pathway has been selected, it is applied to the patient. You can customize the treatment plan template for the selected patient by editing within the Treatment Plan section of the program.
- 4. A Clinical Pathway can also be added to an existing patient's record through the Treatment Plan section on the Problem screen.
- 5. By clicking on the Assign Thera*Scribe*® Clinical Pathway button, you can assign a pathway to a specific patient.
- 6. When the selection is complete, Press OK to return to the Problem screen to customize the Pathway for the specific patient.

s	Select a Patient or Pathway				
	Name Anger Management				Select Cancel
					Delete
					Add Pathway
	Select From 🛛 Clinical Pathways 💽				
	Filter Active Patients				
	Search L Providers	Smith	Clear		

### 2.12 Selecting from and Editing Libraries

#### **Selecting Libraries and Selecting Content**

From a wide variety of libraries included in TheraScribe®, you may select and enter statements which you find valuable and informative to include in a patient's clinical record.

There are two types of libraries:

- 1. General Libraries
- 2. Practice*Planner*® (Treatment Planner or Progress Note Planner) modules

General Libraries available for your use include:

- Approaches
- Diagnoses
- Discharge Criteria
- Insurance Carriers
- Medications
- Modality
- Dropdown Lists
- Menus
- Strengths

• Weaknesses

Treatment Planner Libraries include:

- Problems
- Definitions/Symptoms
- Goals
- Objectives/Interventions
- Diagnosis

Progress Notes Planner Libraries include:

- Presentations
- Interventions

Note: Practice*Planner*® Libraries are only accessible for those add-on modules you have purchased. Call toll-free: 1-866-888-5158 to order Practice*Planner*® Libraries.

To make library selections:

- 1. Click Add, adjacent to each library throughout the program, to display library contents.
- 2. Click the check box beside the library elements you wish to select for each patient.
- 3. When you are finished selecting from a library, click OK.

Select Secondary Problems						
Р	roblem I	Group Complete Adult 4e	~			
_						
	Select	Problem	^			
	✓	Anger Management				
	<b>~</b>	Antisocial Behavior				
		Anxiety				
		Attention Deficit Disorder				
		Borderline Personality				
		Chemical Dependence	-			
		Chemical Dependence - Relapse				
		Childhood Traumas				
		Chronic Pain				
		Cognitive Deficits				
	<b>~</b>	Dependency				
I		Depression				
		Dissociation				
		Eating Disorder				
		Educational Deficits				
	Search Edit Library OK Cancel					

#### **Editing Libraries**

Users who have been assigned a security level of Advanced or Administrator may edit libraries from within the various sections of the program or from within the Administrator section.

- 1. Click Edit Library in the left-hand corner of the library window.
- 2. When the library screen pops open, click the Add button to the right of the library to add a new entry to the library. For Treatment Planner add-on modules, the program will automatically enter a number to the left of new Definitions, Goals, and Objectives/Interventions.
- 3. If you Add a new Problem to a Treatment Planner module, you will need to progress through the Definitions, Goals, Objectives, and Interventions and Diagnosis libraries to add those components to the Problem.
- 4. In addition to adding new content to the libraries, you may Edit existing choices within the library by highlighting the item you wish to edit and entering the new text in its place.
- 5. You may delete any item from the library by clicking on the item to highlight it and then pressing the Delete button. Use this function judiciously, as it will permanently remove the item from the database, rendering it unavailable for future patient records.
- 6. There are links within and between some Treatment Planner and Progress Notes Planner items. To remove built-in content from the add-on modules, you must adhere to the following deletion sequence:
- Treatment Planner libraries: Deleting a Problem will result in deleting all of the Definitions, Goals, Objectives, Interventions, and Diagnosis associated with that problem.
- Progress Notes Planner libraries: Deleting any Definitions or Interventions will result in an inability to access the Progress Note Presentation or Progress Note Intervention statements associated with the deleted Definitions or Interventions.

TIP: Expand or reduce the number of lines visible for library items by scrolling up or down in the Lines box.

Select Secondary Problems				
Problem	Group Complete Adult 4e	~		
Select	Problem	^		
	Anger Management			
	Antisocial Behavior			
	Anxiety			
	Attention Deficit Disorder			
	Borderline Personality			
	Chemical Dependence	-		
	Chemical Dependence - Relapse			
	Childhood Traumas			
	Chronic Pain			
	Cognitive Deficits			
	Dependency			
	Depression	1		
	Dissociation	1		
	Eating Disorder	1		
	Educational Deficits			
Espilu Cooffict				
Search Edit Library OK Cancel				

Edit Library				
Treatment Planner	Complete Adult 4e			<
Library	Problems			~
Problem		~	Add	
<ul> <li>Anger Managem</li> </ul>				
Antisocial Behav			Delete	
Anxiety				_
Attention Deficit	Disorder			
Borderline Perso	nality	=		
Chemical Depen	dence	-		
Chemical Depen	dence - Relapse			
Childhood Traun	las			
Chronic Pain	Chronic Pain			
Cognitive Deficit	S			
Dependency	Dependency			
Depression				
Dissociation				
Eating Disorder				
Educational Defi	cits			
· · ·	Family Conflict			
	Female Sexual Dysfunction			
	Financial Stress			
· · ·	Grief/Loss Unresolved			
	Impulse Control Disorder			•
Intimate Relationship Conflicts			¥	
			Close	

### 2.13 Screen Customization

You are the best determiner of efficient layout, field usage, and key data. The Small Practice and Enterprise editions of Thera*Scribe*® offer powerful new customization capabilities in the area of screen lay-out for all episode-related fields.

You have several options for customizing the layout of a particular screen.

#### Changing the Layout of a Screen

- 1. Click Tools on the Menu Bar at the top of your screen.
- 2. Click Edit Layout.
- 3. A Form Layout Customization window will appear.
- 4. To rearrange the layout of the screen, click and drag any field to the preferred position. (For example, on the Demographics screen, you may want to have Marital Status as the first field under Other Items. Click on Marital Status, which will then highlight in blue, drag it above the Referred By field, and drop into place.
- 5. To see all the items for a particular screen at a glance, click Layout Tree View. The highlighted field or section in the Layout Tree View will also be highlighted on the gray screen, enabling you to locate the given field or section easily. You can then click and drag to the preferred position.
- 6. Right click on any field to access the following options:

- Hide customization form: return to normal screen view
- Reset Layout: reset screen to original TheraScribe®
- Rename: type in a different name for the field
- Hide Text: hide the text for the field, leaving only the data
- Text Position: use a dropdown list to indicate Top, Bottom, Left, or Right, designating the position of the text in relationship to the field for the given item
- Hide Item: add the item to the hidden items list for this screen
- Group (if on a group heading): create a new grouping of fields
- Ungroup (in on a group heading): remove the group designation and text heading from the given fields
- Create EmptySpace Item: create an empty space field which can be resized as needed
- Size Constraints: change the size of a given field (Reset to Default, Free Sizing, Lock Size, Lock Width, Lock Height)

🛞 TheraScribe 5				
File	Go	Tools Help		
Edit Layout				
Home Select Patient Add Patient				
Personal Data				
🚳 Demographics				
🍸 Provider				

🚱 Demographics				
Patient: JudyA.Sample				
Client Info				
First Name Judy	Last Name Sample			
ID Number 1	4 Hide Customization Form			
ID Number 1	🔄 Reset Layout			
Address	>> Rename			
Address 1 111 Main St.	🏋 Hide Text			
	🗊 Text Position 🔹 🕨			
Address 2	💋 Hide Item			
City Anywhere	💽 Group 🛛 🕅			
	Create EmptySpace Item			
_Misc	📺 Size Constraints 🔹 🕨			
Home Phone (555)555	Sue			

#### Hiding Items on a Screen

- 1. Click Tools on the Menu Bar at the top of your screen.
- 2. Click Edit Layout.
- 3. A Form Layout Customization window will appear.
- 4. The Hidden Items tab will be highlighted, indicating the items that are currently hidden from view on the designated screen.
- 5. To hide an item, simply click the item on the gray layout and drag it into the Hidden Items listing. (For example, on the Demographics screen, you may find that you never use the Military Rank field. You can easily remove it from the Demographics Screen by clicking and dragging it into the Hidden Items list.)
- 6. To hide more items, click and drag.
- 7. If you want to reset the layout at any time, click Reset.
- 8. A dialog box will appear, asking you to confirm your desire to set the screen to its original layout.
- 9. Click Yes to reset, No to keep your changes.

#### TIP: You can also hide items by right clicking and then clicking Hide Item.
Form Layout Customization	×
Fields Save Cancel Reset 🖛 🧖	
Hidden Items Layout Tree View	_
<ul> <li>Had Previous Treatment</li> <li>Other Info</li> <li>Referred By</li> <li>Marital Status</li> <li>Race</li> <li>Gender</li> <li>Setting</li> <li>Department</li> <li>Treatment Start</li> <li>Last Review</li> <li>Treatment End</li> <li>Other Treatment Episodes</li> <li>IayoutControlltem10</li> </ul>	
IayoutControlltem4	

#### **Using the Fields Button**

You can add fields to screens in Thera*Scribe*® by selecting them from any of the episode- or session-related screens or by creating your own custom fields. To add fields:

- 1. Click Tools on the Menu Bar at the top of your screen.
- 2. Click Edit Layout.
- 3. A Form Layout Customization window will appear.
- 4. Click Fields to access the Layout Fields window. In this window, you will find a listing of all the session or episode fields included on other Thera*Scribe*® screens.
- Check the boxes of fields you would like to add to a given screen. Custom Fields can be added to your options here by first going to the Custom Fields screen in the Tools group and adding them there.
- 6. Click OK to add them to the screen or Cancel to return to the screen without making changes.

#### Saving and Resetting a Screen

- 1. To save changes to a screen, click Save.
- 2. To cancel changes, click Cancel.
- 3. To reset the screen to its original Thera Scribe® layout, click Reset.
- 4. To undo or redo a given change, click the arrows in the top right corner of the Form Layout Customization window.

# 2.14 Exiting the System

The data you have entered will be automatically saved as you move from screen to screen and group to group. When you are done entering data, click the X in the upper-right corner of the screen to Exit the program. Even if you stop midway through creating a treatment plan or making other changes, the data that you entered will be saved.



# 3. Application Screens

Thera*Scribe*® provides nine Navigation Bar groups which allow you to enter and manage all of your clinical documentation.

These include:

- Personal Data
- Assessment
- Treatment Plan
- Progress
- Prognosis/Discharge
- Appointment Scheduler
- Reports
- Outcomes
- Tools

# 3.1 Personal Data

The Personal Data group screens help you to manage all the basic information you gather regarding your patient. These areas include demographic data (e.g., birth date, address, phone numbers), provider and insurance coverage information, general clinical notes, file attachments (e.g., spreadsheets, image files), your own custom data fields, and HIPAA-related fields for tracking disclosure authorizations and requested amendments.



# 3.1.1 Demographics

The Demographic screen includes the data you entered in the New Patient window (Last Name, First Name, Middle Initial, and ID Number). You can edit any of that data here.

• You can also enter other information in the appropriate fields: Social Security number, patient's address, phone numbers, employer, and more.

TIP: Remember, you can leave a field blank if the information does not apply to your work or practice.

- Several dates are represented on the Demographic screen. When you enter a Birth date, the Age of the patient will automatically fill in. The Treatment Start date will indicate the date entered in the New Patient window. To change this date, click the drop-down calendar and select a different date. The Last Review field should indicate the most recent date of treatment plan review, and the Treatment End field should reflect the date when treatment of the patient ended.
- The name you enter for Psychiatrist will become the name of the Prescribing Physician indicated on the Approaches screen in the Treatment Plan group. If you do not enter the name of a psychiatrist but do enter a Primary Care Physician, the program will default to this name as the Prescribing Physician in Approaches.
- You can indicate if the patient is on Active or Inactive status by clicking the check box for "Is an Active Patient". Your designation here will determine how his or her name will appear on the Select a Patient or a Pathway screen. If you choose "Inactive," the name will appear only if you select "All Patients".
- If this patient has been treated before, click the check box for "This Patient was Previously Treated".
- Thera*Scribe*® allows you to maintain records of other Treatment Episodes for a patient treated previously. You can store several independent treatment episodes, complete with dates and treatment plan data, for each patient. If a patient later reenters treatment, simply select the patient's name from the patient list, click "New Episode" on the Demographics screen, and proceed with your work. When you enter a new Start Date for the patient, the

demographic data from previous episodes will automatically copy into the new episode. Previous treatment plan data will not be copied, however, and you can start afresh. Having the option of referring to other Treatment Episodes while focusing on the current needs of your patient will provide valuable insights into treatment approaches.

Personal Data	Semographics	?
🕥 Demographics	Patient: Judy S. Sample	
🍸 Provider		
Insurance	First Name Judy Last Name Sample MI 5	
📝 General Notes	ID Number C SSN Birth Date 10/6/1983 🔮 Age 24	
Attachments	- Address	
Episode Custom Fields	Address 1 123 Main St.	
🐴 HIPAA	Address 2	
	City Detroit State / Province MI Postal Code 48484	

• If you wish to export personal data regarding a patient to your Contacts list in Microsoft Outlook, click "Copy to Outlook" on the bottom of the screen. The patient's First name, Last name, Address 1, Address 2, City, State, and Postal Code will be exported to Outlook, and any future changes made to the patient's information will be updated in Outlook. To change this setting, use the Preferences screen in the Tools group.

Other Treatment Episo	les
Start	End
Copy to Outlook	

## 3.1.2 Provider

The Provider screen in the Personal Data group displays key information about the primary provider and, if necessary, the supervisor, of treatment for each patient.

Note: This screen does not appear for TheraScribe® Essential version.

- You can quickly complete this section for a provider and/or supervisor already entered into the system by clicking the Name dropdown list. After you select the appropriate name, other credential information will automatically be displayed.
- The Administrator may enter new names and credentials to be included in these dropdown lists by going to the Providers screen in the Tools group.

- You may want to assign a patient to a treatment team or therapy group. Click the Treatment Team/Group dropdown list to select the name of the team/group appropriate to the patient's needs.
- Assigning a patient to a primary provider, supervisor, or treatment team/group allows all of the providers listed to access and update the patient record. However, only the Administrator may create teams/groups or edit the members of an existing treatment team/group. To do so, use the Edit Teams/Groups screen in the Tools group.

TIP: Only activated providers can be selected here.

TIP: You can copy progress notes to all patients within a Team/Group. For details on the Progress Notes Copy function see the Progress, Progress Notes screen.

🎁 Provid	ler	(	?
Patient: JudyA	. Sample		
-Primary Provide	r	Treatment Team/Group	
Name	Provider, Default	Clinical Staff	~
Title		Team Member	
License (State)		Provider, Default	
Degree			
Supervisor			
Name	Provider, Default		
Title			
License (State)			
Degree			

### 3.1.3 Insurance

The Insurance screen in the Personal Data group allows you to select the patient's insurance carrier from the library and apply it to his/her treatment plan. Knowing key insurance information, especially regarding the number of Authorized Sessions and Sessions Used, is very important to the efficient management of your practice.

To select insurance carrier(s), click the Add button next to the Insurance Carriers data grid. Click on one or more check boxes in the Select Insurance Carriers window to select the insurance carrier(s) for the patient, and click OK. Enter the Phone number and Gatekeeper name and click the Active check box.

- If the patient's insurance carrier is not listed on the checklist, click Edit Library in the bottom left corner of the library window to add new insurance carriers to the program. (The Edit Library button is visible and available only to users with Advanced or Administrator security levels.)
- You can track authorized session information by insurance carrier with the Authorized Sessions data grid. First click an insurance carrier name in the top grid and then click Add for the Authorized Sessions data grid. The Authorization Date and Start Date fields will default to the current date. You can edit these default dates by using the dropdown calendar. Click in the # of Sessions to fill in number of sessions authorized, enter the authorization End Date, and type in the authorization #, if necessary.
- You can easily track Total Sessions Authorized and Sessions Used by looking at the information at the bottom of the Insurance screen. As you enter each progress note, the Sessions Used tally will increase. Thera*Scribe*® automatically calculates the number of Remaining Sessions for you.

TIP: The system Administrator can set warnings on the Default Setting screen in the Tools Group to alert users when the number of authorized sessions is running low or time of authorization is nearing an end date.

TheraScribe										_ = :
File Go Tools Help										
Home Select Patient Manage Pathways Add P	Patient									
Personal Data	F	Insurance								
🔞 Demographics	Patie	nt Patient1 Counselor								
9 Provider	Incu	rance Carriers								
😭 Insurance	1150	Name	Phone	Gatekeeper	Insurance ID	Group #	Policy Owner Na	Policy Owner DOB	Active	Add
General Notes	•	Priority Health							1	Delete
Attachments										Delete
62										
Episode Custom Fields										
	Aut	norized Sessions								
		Auth Date	# Sessions		Start Date	End Da		Authorization #		Add
🧏 Personal Data		12/2/2020	•	10	11/30/2020	2/6/20	)21	g-12456		Delete
S Assessment										
🏂 Treatment Plan										
Sector Progress										
Prognosis / Discharge	_ s	essions for Priority Healtl	Total S	essions for Active (	7					
	. т	otal Sessions Authorized 10	Total Ses	sions Authorized 10	1					
Appointment Scheduler	s	essions Used	Sessions	Used 0	]					
Reports	R	emaining Sessions 10	Remainin	g Sessions 10	]					
Y 0	s	essions Not Authorized 0	Sessions	Not Authorized 0	]					

## 3.1.4 General Notes

The General Notes screen in the Personal Data group allows you to keep notes to supplement and support clinical information gathered on the other program screens. We recommend that entry of information on this screen be limited to nonsensitive material that can be viewed by a Maintenance level user.

TIP: Access to this screen can be kept from Maintenance level users through a check box on the HIPAA screen in the Tools section.

- You can type in an unlimited amount of notes in this rich text field. The tool bar directly above the field enables you to quickly and easily use a variety of word processing functions, including font, point size, color of text, bold text, italics, spell check, underlining, strike through, and justifying text.
- If you would like to include these notes in a treatment plan report, include General Notes on the selection list for Clinical Record Reports.

📝 General Notes 🧿	
Patient: JudyA. Sample	
General Notes	
B I U abe   Ξ 🤢 🍄 Arial 🔹 8 🔹 📑 ≣	
Judy is making good progress.	
Caution: HIPAA regulations stipulates that protected health information (PHI) be treated in a confidential manner and that release of this information requires proper client authorization. Psychotherapy Notes information should be entered into the Progress section of TheraScribe where it can be accessed by only the	

# 3.1.5 Attachments

Different forms of patient information can become important in understanding and treating your patients. Thera*Scribe*® allows you to attach files to a patient's clinical record. These files may include Word files from your patient or other providers. Files may also include scanned documents such as completed psychosocial history forms, children's drawings, or work samples. Image files such as photographs of the patient or other persons in his or her life may also be important to attach.

The Attachments screen allows you to attach new files and view or launch previously attached files. If you open a file within Thera*Scribe*®, it will be read-only. If you make changes to the document once it has been opened, save the document under a new name.

### Attaching a File

To attach a file to a patient's clinical record:

- 1. Click Add and browse through the directories of the computer to find the name of the file to attach.
- 2. Click Open in the Open File window to attach the file. This action will copy the file to the Thera*Scribe*® database.
- 3. Click Description to type in the brief summary of the file attached.

### Viewing an Attached File

To view an attached file, click the file description. Click Open File to view the file as a read-only document.

### Editing an Attached File

To edit an attached file, click the file description. Click Open File to view the file. After editing the file as you desire, click Save File As and save it to your hard drive. Reattach the file following the Add file process previously described.

### Deleting an Attached File

To delete an attached file, click the Description of the file that you wish to delete from the Thera*Scribe*® database. Click Delete.

Attachments			?
Patient: Judy A. Sample			
Description	File Type	File Name	File S Add Delete Open File Save As
Caution: HIPAA regulations stipulates that and that release of this information require be entered into the Progress section of Th	es proper client aut	horization. Psychother	apy Notes information should

# 3.1.6 Episode Custom Fields

The Episode Custom Fields screen allows you to collect custom data not included elsewhere in Thera*Scribe*®. You can take advantage of Thera*Scribe*®'s flexibility by making customizations for the Personal Data group that will capture data unique to your patient base.

The custom fields must be set up by the Administrator in the Custom Fields screen in the Tools group. Fields may be set up to capture text, dates, currency, and other types of data. The Field Names of the custom fields created by your system administrator are listed in the left-hand side of the screen. Blank data fields to capture the custom data are listed to the right of the custom field name in the Value column.

To enter custom data:

- 1. Click the Value field into which you want to enter data. Click Edit, or double-click on the blank value field.
- 2. A window will open, allowing entry of data through typing on the keyboard or using dropdown lists.
- 3. Click OK when you have finished entering your data.

Advanced users who wish to integrate the fields into appropriate sections of a Clinical Record Report may do so by customizing a report to that end (see Creating Custom Reports in the Reports section).

Episode Cus	tom Fields	?
Patient: JudyA. Sample		
Minimum Sessions Required	5.000	
Projected Start Date	10/24/2006	~

## 3.1.7 HIPAA

Maintaining HIPAA standards has become an important part of your work with patients. Thera*Scribe*® offers valuable ways for you to protect your patients and your practice.

The HIPAA screen in the Personal Data group provides an easy management tool.

- Use the checkboxes to indicate the status of the Patient Privacy Notice. You can note each of the following, as needed: Patient Was Provided PHI Privacy Notice, Patient Signed PHI Privacy Acknowledgement, and/or Patient Has Not Signed But Receipt of Form Was Witnessed.
- Disclosure Authorizations and Requested Amendments can also be recorded on this HIPAA screen. Click Add to the right of either Disclosure Authorizations or Requested Amendments, and a window will prompt you to fill in the necessary data. Use the dropdown lists when available, or type in custom data. Edit and Delete are also options for these data grids, if you decide to edit or delete an existing record.
- To view a log of providers who have accessed this patient's record, click View Log. Only a user assigned the Administrator level of security and a patient's Provider may see the Log of those who have accessed the patient's record. The View Log will give you data about who opened this patient's record, as well as the date and time that it was accessed. The Comments field contains information that indicates that a progress note has been copied into this patient record from another patient's record by a specified provider. The date and time of this copying is displayed as well.

🎦 HIPA	٩								?
Patient: Judy A	A. Sample								
Patient Sigr	s provided PHI Privacy ned PHI Privacy Ackno : Not Signed but Recei	wledgment			Patient Record Access				
Disclosure Autho	Purpose		Information Disclosed	To Whom	Authorization On File	Agency	Address		
8/7/2006			All Protected Health Inform.			Fastoo CMH	Hadress	Add	_
								Edit	
<								>	
lequested Amer									
Request Date				Person Requesting	Person Approving/Den		Deny Date	Add	
8/7/2006	Progress			Judy Sample	Jongsma, Arthur E (Ph	D) 8/7/2006		Edit	:

# 3.2 Assessment

The Assessment group screens are designed to help you record key information as you assess your patient's history, strengths and weaknesses, results of assessments given, and mental status. Thera*Scribe*® gives you clear and manageable structure for this important data as you prepare to make treatment decisions for a patient.

Assessment					
	Psychosocial History				
Δ	Strengths / Weaknesses				
3	Assessments Given				
ŝ	Mental Status				
	Recovery				
	Summary				
	Biopsychosocial History				

# 3.2.1 Psychosocial History

The Psychosocial History screen provides an opportunity for you to record narrative summary data in the six areas required by review agencies such as JCAHO, COA, and CARF. Click the tab for each of the following to begin your work:

- 1. Family
- 2. Developmental
- 3. Substance Abuse
- 4. Socioeconomic
- 5. Psychiatric
- 6. Medical

TIP: Helpful content suggestions are provided for each of these areas along the top of the narrative field. By using these, you will ensure that your text covers the areas required by most agencies and reviewers.

To fill in the other necessary data, which will carry through for all the tab areas:

- 1. Select the name of the person collecting the psychosocial history data by clicking Interviewer dropdown menu and clicking the appropriate name.
- 2. Record the date that you collected the data by clicking the dropdown calendar.

3. Use the dropdown list to select the Person Interviewed (e.g., family member, parent, patient, spouse, teacher)

TIP: A Psychosocial History form designed to capture the data needed to compose narrative histories is provided in Microsoft Word® format on Wiley's website. Click on "Psychosocial History Form" link on the Home Screen to launch and print the form.

Psychosocial History						
Patient: JudyA. Sample						
Interviewer Provider, Default V Date 8/7/2006						
Person Interviewed Patient						
Family Developmental Substance Abuse Socio-Economic Psychiatric Medical						
Note childhood family experience, current marital/relationship status, children, issues of conflict and strength of support.						
B I U abe 1 Ξ 🤫 🍄 Arial 🔹 8 🔹 📰 🗮						
Judy indicates that her father was an anxious man who worried about everything. Judy was close to him while she lived at home. Judy has been married to Bob for 40 years and they have two daughters who are married and live close to Judy. She has a good relationship with her husband and her daughters. Judy enjoys working in her garden but would like to entertain her friends more if she was not so preoccupied with worry.						

# 3.2.2 Biopsychosocial History

### **Biopsychosocial History**

The Biopsychosocial History screen allows the practitioner to catalog relevant current, historical and personal data to prepare a treatment plan.

### Main Tabbed Sections:

- 1. Presenting Problems
- 2. Current Symptoms
- 3. Emotional/Psychiatric
- 4. Family
- 5. Medical
- 6. Substance Use
- 7. Developmental
- 8. Socio-Economic
- 9. Sources of Data

Relevant Details:

1. Presenting Problems:

a. Assign Clinical Pathway: Click button and select desired Pathway. Only add to New Patients or patients w/o existing sessions.

# If a patient already has a Treatment Plan, assigning a clincal pathway will overwrite ALL existing patient Treatment Plan and Session data!!

- If there are no Clinical Pathways available, see "Working with Clinical Pathways" in the Help file.

Biopsychosocial History	?
Patient: Judy Sample	
Presenting Problems Current Symptoms Emotional/Psychiatric Family Medical Substance Use Developmental Socio-Economic Assign Clinical Pathway Primary Problem Secondary Problems Problem	Select Add Delete Make Primary
Other Problems (not focus of treatment)	
Problem	Add Delete

b. To add a Primary Problem, click the Select button, pick a problem and click OK to accept the choice.

 $\mbox{-}$  To edit or add a problem, click Edit Library button, make changes and Close dialog.

Select a	Primary Problem	×
Problem	Group Complete Adult 4e	~
Select	t Problem	^
	Anger Management	
	Antisocial Behavior	
	Anxiety	Ξ
	Attention Deficit Disorder	
	Borderline Personality	
	Chemical Dependence	
	Chemical Dependence - Relapse	
	Childhood Traumas	
	Chronic Pain	
	Cognitive Deficits	
	Dependency	
	Depression	
	Dissociation	
	Eating Disorder	
	Educational Deficits	
	Esseile Cooffict	<u>~</u>
Sear	ch Edit Library OK Cancel	

c. To add Secondary or Other Problems, click Add button and add as many as appropriate.

- To make a Secondary Problem the Primary Problem, click the Make Primary button and the current Primary Problem will be replaced by the new problem. The previous primary problem will become another secondary problem.

Sel	Select Secondary Problems							
F	roblem 0	aroup	Complete Adult 4e					
		-						
	Select	Proble	em					
Þ		Anger	Management					
		Antiso	cial Behavior					
		Anxiet	CY CONTRACTOR OF CONTRACTOR					
		Attent	tion Deficit Disorder					
		Borde	rline Personality					
		Chemi	cal Dependence					
		Chemi	cal Dependence - Relapse					
		Childh	ood Traumas					
		Chron	ic Pain					
		Cognit	tive Deficits					
		Deper	Idency					
		Depre	ssion					
		Dissoc	iation					
		Eating	Disorder					
		Educa	tional Deficits					
		Eposilu	Conflict					
	Search	n	E dit Library	OK				

### 2. Current 2, 2. Current Symptoms:

Click Add to see list of possible symptoms. To modify or add symptoms, click Edit Library.

Biopsychosocial History								
Patient: Judy Sample								
Presenting Problems Current Symptom	s Emotional/Psychiatric	Family Medical	Substance Use	Developmental	Socio-Economic	Sources of Data		
CURRENT SYMPTOM CHECKLIST (F	CURRENT SYMPTOM CHECKLIST (Rate intensity of symptoms currently present)							
<ul> <li>Mild = Impacts quality of life, but no significant impairment of day-to-day functioning</li> <li>Moderate = Significant impact on quality of life and/or day-to-day functioning</li> <li>Severe = Profound impact on quality of life and/or day-to-day functioning</li> </ul>								
Symptom		Impact				Add		
						Delete		

3. Fill in information on remaining Tabs as appropriate and needed.

4. Note: there are 4 items on the Bio form that are referenced on other screens. Changing them here will change the information globally.

- 1. Marital Status
- 2. Doctor
- 3. Psychiatrist

4. Medication Grid on the Emotional/Psychiatric tab

Be sure to scroll down to see all of the options on each tab. Data is saved as it is entered.

## 3.2.3 Strengths/Weaknesses

The Strengths/Weaknesses screen in the Assessment group provides a selection of words or phrases that allow you to describe a patient's strengths and weaknesses.

- By clicking the respective libraries, you can quickly access a comprehensive list to help you in your assessment.
- To choose a strength or weakness, click on the check box next to the descriptive words and click OK to save your choices. Click Cancel to exit the window without saving your selections.
- After any item is selected and displayed on the Strengths/Weaknesses screen it may be edited for the present patient's treatment plan by clicking on the item. These patient-specific customizations are not saved in the library for use with other patients.
- By using Thera*Scribe*®'s editing capabilities, the Administrator or other users with Advanced security levels can use his or her expertise to make permanent edits or additions to the Strengths and Weaknesses libraries. To do so, click Edit Library in the pop-up window and make the desired changes. These new or edited choices will then be available for use with all future patients.

Strengths / Weaknesses	?
Patient: JudyA. Sample	
Strengths	
Description	Add
Stable Work History	
Positive Support Network	Delete
Motivated for Change	
Weaknesses	
Description	Add
Poor Health	
Indecisive	Delete

# 3.2.4 Assessments Given

The Assessments Given screen in the Assessments group allows you to keep an accurate record of all psychological tests or interviews administered to the

patient. Assessments are a fundamental component in forming an effective treatment plan for your patient.

Thera*Scribe*® allows you to select a list of instruments or interviews given, or enter test scores that can be compared in the Outcomes group screens.

TIP: Assessment reports and scanned test results or clinical protocols can be attached to the clinical record using the Attachments screen in the Personal Data group.

🥞 Assess	ments Give	n						?
Patient: JudyA.	Sample							
Instruments								
Date Tested	Instrument				Score	Data Source	🔢 Treatment Phase 📝	Add
🕨 8/7/2006 🛛 💌	Clinical Interviev	V				Patient		
8/7/2006	Psychosocial His	tory				Patient		Delete
8/7/2006	SCL-90-R: Globa	l Severity Index			22.00	Patient	Pre-Treatment	•
Testing Details for		Arial	• 8	• 🔳	≣≣			
Interpretation Note	s							
B I U abo	1 🗄 😗 🍣	Arial	• 8	• 🔳	≣≣			

#### Selecting an Instrument and Entering Test Scores

- 1. To select an instrument/interview, click Add to the right of the Instruments data grid.
- 2. This will open a Select Assessment Instruments window containing interview or test instrument names sorted by Instrument Group.
- 3. There are four types of Instrument Groups built into the Instrument library.
  - Interviews: providing a list of names, no scores (e.g., home evaluation, medication review)
  - Simple Instruments: providing a single score (e.g., Beck Depression Inventory, Trailmaking Test)
  - Other Instrument: providing names, no quantitative results (e.g., Alcohol Use Inventory, Booklet Category Test)
  - Multi-Scale Instruments: providing scores by subscale (MMPI-2® and SCL-90-R®)

- 4. Click the Instrument Group dropdown list to select an instrument category. If you select a multi-scale instrument, a window will provide you with the subscale choices.
- 5. Check the names of the instruments or subscales that you wish to record for the patient. Click OK when you have completed your selection.
- 6. The names of the instruments or subscales selected will be displayed on the Assessments Given screen.
- 7. Click the Score field to enter numerical data that you wish to save in the patient's record.
- 8. Click the Data Source field to select the source of data (system defaults to Patient Self-Report).
- 9. Click Treatment Phase to indicate when instrument was given.

TIP: Scores from the Assessment instruments can be graphed in the Outcomes group.

#### **Entering Test-Specific Notes**

You may want to enter testing details about specific assessments you administered to your patient. To do this:

- 1. Click the instrument about which you wish to enter notes.
- 2. Click the narrative field for Testing Details at the bottom of the Assessments Given screen.
- 3. You may enter an unlimited amount of notes in this rich-text field.
- 4. Repeat for other instruments as needed.

#### **Entering General Notes**

You may also want to enter notes about the assessment process in general. To do this:

- 1. Click the narrative field for Interpretation Notes at the bottom of the Assessments Given screen.
- 2. Enter an unlimited amount of notes in this rich-text field.

#### **Editing the Instrument Library: Basic Instruments**

Click Edit Instruments at the bottom-left corner of the Select Assessment Instruments library window to access the Assessment Instruments Library.

- 1. Add Interviews, Other Instruments, and Simple Instruments by highlighting the type of Instrument you wish to add in the Instrument Group box.
- 2. Click Add to the right of the Interview Type/Instrument data grid.
- 3. Click in the Description field to type in the name of the interview type or instrument.
- 4. You may also click in the Abbreviation field to type in the initials of the test. This is optional.
- 5. Click OK to add the instrument.

#### Editing Multi-scale Instruments

To add a Multi-scale Test to the Assessment Instruments Library click Add Multiscale Test to the right of the Instrument Group data grid.

- 1. Type in the name of the multiscale test in the Description field.
- 2. Click in the Abbreviation field to type in a brief name of the test.
- 3. Click the Add button to the right of the Subscale data grid.
- 4. Click in the Description field to type in the name of the subscale.
- 5. Click in the Abbreviation field to type in a short name of the subscale.
- 6. Click Add again to type in the name of another subscale and its abbreviation.
- 7. Repeat this process until all the subscales of the test have been entered. Click OK.

Sessments Given								
Patient: JudyA.	Patient: JudyA. Sample							
Instruments								
Date Tested	Instrument	Score	Data Source	🗌 Treatment Phase 📝	Add			
🕨 8/7/2006 🛛 🔽	Clinical Interview		Patient					
8/7/2006	Psychosocial History		Patient		Delete			
8/7/2006	SCL-90-R: Global Severity Index	22.00	Patient	Pre-Treatment	✓			
Testing Details for		<b>E</b> <u>3</u>						
Interpretation Not	es							
B I U abo	🛛 🗄 🤫 Arial 🔹 8 🔹 📑	≡ ≡						

# 3.2.5 Mental Status

The Mental Status screen contains several tabs providing options for making General Observations, describing your patient's Thought Form/Content, and making a Risk Assessment for your patient. Because you may want to make several Mental Status examinations throughout the treatment period, Thera*Scribe*® allows you to enter multiple evaluations. Each evaluation also includes an Impression Summary tab.

As you consider your patient's Mental Status, you will be doing so in all three areas each time: General Observations, Thought Form/Content, and Risk Assessment. You will enter data for all three to provide a complete picture, instead of updating data for only one tab.

- 1. To record a new mental status examination result, click Add.
- 2. If necessary, click on the Date field and use the dropdown calendar to change the default date.

TIP: As you consider Mental Status in conjunction with your prognosis and discharge criteria, the Navigation Bar allows you to move easily between the Prognosis/Discharge screens and Mental Status screens.

### **Making General Observations**

The General Observation tab allows you to indicate your overall clinical impression of the patient's mental status using a series of dropdown library lists for three areas:

- Presentation (e.g., Appearance, Mood, Attitude, Affect)
- Mental Functioning (e.g., Simple Calculations, Serial Sevens, Immediate and Remote Memory)
- Higher Order Abilities (Judgement, Insight, and Intelligence)

To enter General Observations:

- 1. Click Add. The program defaults to descriptors for a well-adjusted, fully functioning person.
- 2. To change the default descriptors, click the dropdown lists for the fields you wish to change.
- 3. Because you may have personal observations that differ from the dropdown library lists, you can type in custom descriptors by clicking on any field.
- 4. Descriptors may be added to or changed for future use on the Libraries screen in the Tools group.

### **Describing Thought Form/Content**

The Thought Form/Content tab offers a quick method of describing the patient's thought form and content through a series of checklists. Three areas of evaluation include:

- Thought Process (e.g., Logical, Illogical, Blocking, Obsessive)
- Delusional Ideation (e.g., None Evident, Persecutory, Grandiosity)
- Hallucinations (e.g., None Evident, Auditory, Visual, Olfactory)

To enter data about your patient's Thought Form/Content:

- Click Add. The program defaults to the first check box for normal functioning in these areas.
- If the patient has evidence of pathology in any of the three areas, check the boxes for the applicable pathology-oriented descriptors.

#### Making a Risk Assessment

The Risk Assessment tab allows you to describe the patient's risk of committing Suicide, Violence, Child Abuse, Partner Abuse, or Elder Abuse.

To enter data regarding your patient's Risk Assessment:

- 1. Click Add. The program defaults to no risk for any of these dangerous behaviors.
- 2. Click on the down arrows to select any increased risk of the patient engaging in these activities, with choices being none, slight, moderate, significant, extreme.
- 3. Because tracking these behaviors is crucial to monitoring their significance, you can click the Last Date field to indicate the last reported incident of the risk behavior. Type in the date or use the dropdown calendar to choose the date.
- 4. A narrative field with rich text capabilities is available for each risk area so that you can enter any details regarding risk behavior or measures that have been taken to prevent further risk behavior in the future.

#### Forming an Impression Summary

The Impression Summary tab gives you an opportunity to record your overall impressions of the patient's mental status. By using the rich text field to enter an unlimited amount of data, you can provide a valuable summary for quick, future reference as you proceed with your treatment plan.

🚖 Mental	Status				?		
Patient: JudyA.	Sample						
Select the Date of Evaluation Da 8/7/2006	te A	idd Iete					
General Observa			Mental Functioning				
Appearance	Well-Groomed	~	Simple Calculations	Accurate 💌	=		
Mood	Anxious	~	Serial Sevens	Accurate 💙			
Attitude	Cooperative	~	Immediate Memory	Intact 💙			
Affect	Appropriate	~	Remote Memory	Intact 💌			
Speech	Pressured	~	General Knowledge	Accurate 💙			
Motor Activity	Tense	~	Proverb Interpretation	Accurate 💌			
Orientation	Orientation Fully Oriented Similarities / Differences Accurate						
Higher Order Abilities							
Judgement Ir	Judgement Intact						
Insight Ir	itact	*					
Intelligence H	igh	*			•		

# 3.2.6 Recovery

The Recovery screen in the Assessment group offers a valuable tool for patient addiction assessment. ASAM has published the Second Edition Revised of its Patient Placement Criteria (ASAM PPC-2R), the most widely used and comprehensive national guidelines for placement, continued stay and discharge of patients with alcohol and other drug problems. With the Recovery screen, Thera*Scribe*® allows you to indicate several important things about your patient:

- Placement in the Six Dimensions of Severity
- Level of Care required with your comments
- State of Change Assessment (Problem, Date, and State of Change) with your comments

#### Make a New Assessment

1. Click Add to begin recording a new Recovery Assessment.

- 2. The date will default to the current date; use the dropdown calendar to change the date.
- 3. You can rate each of the Six Dimensions of Severity by clicking the dropdown list and selecting Low, Medium, or High.
- Use the dropdown list to select a Level of Care (Early Intervention, Outpatient Treatment, Intensive Outpatient/Partial Hospitalization, Residential/Inpatient Treatment, Medically Managed Intensive Inpatient Treatment)
- 5. The rich text Comments field allows you to make narrative observations about your assessment.

#### Making a State of Change Assessment

- 1. Click Add.
- 2. Enter Problem Assessed, Date Assessed, and State of Change using the dropdown lists.
- 3. Use the rich-text Comments field to make narrative observations.

Recovery			?
Patient: JudyA.Sample			
ASAM Patient Placement Criteri Date Assessed  8/21/2006	Add Delete	]	
-Six Dimensions - Severity	durand Datase Kal	Rate of the second second	
Acute Intoxication and/or With		Medium 💌	
Biomedical Conditions & Compl	cations	Low	
Emotional / Behavioral or Cogr	itive Conditions & Complications	s High 💌	
Readiness to Change		Medium 🖌 🖌	
Relapse, Continued Use or Co	ntinued Problem Potential	Low	
Recovery / Living Environment		High 🖌	
Level of Care Selected Level IV		Inpatient Treatment	~
B I ∐ ab∈   ⊟ 🤫 '	Arial 🔹	8 ▼	
-Stage of Change Assessment -			
Problem Assessed		Stage of Change	Add
Anxiety     Chronic Pain		reparation re-contemplation	Delete
	-9772000 F	re concemplation	
Comment			

# 3.2.7 Summary

The Summary screen provides the option for entering a narrative summary of unlimited length in rich text format, describing the assessment process and related information as a whole. You may choose to leave the field blank or to enter an overall testing report or summary of results.

Summary		2
Patient: Judy A. Sa	ple	
Assessment Summary		
B Z U abe	\Xi 🤫 🍄 Arial	8 • 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

# 3.3 Treatment Plan

The Treatment Plan screens provide a master framework designed to guide you through the process of creating an effective treatment plan for your patient. Arranged sequentially, as you will probably approach your work, each screen addresses a specific component of the treatment plan. These include:

- 1. Problem
- 2. Definitions
- 3. Goals
- 4. Objectives/Interventions
- 5. Modality
- 6. Approach
- 7. Diagnosis
- 8. Response
- 9. Homework

The Thera*Scribe*® add-on module libraries provide you with a wide array of important options, depending on patient needs. To use the Treatment Plan components, you will need to install at least one of the many Treatment Planner modules available.



### Adding to or Editing Treatment Plan Libraries

All of the Treatment Plan screens have identical processes for adding, editing, and deleting selections from libraries.

Once you have selected statements from the Treatment Plan libraries, Thera*Scribe*® gives you the flexibility of editing them for the specific patient record by clicking on the statement in the display window and then typing in your changes of text.

TIP: In order to add new treatment plan elements to a specific patient, users with Basic level security will need to select a treatment plan component they do not wish to use, then type over the undesired component in the display box. Users with Advanced or Administrator level security can also use the type-over method to make additions to a specific patient's treatment plan, or they may make permanent changes or additions to the Treatment Plan libraries by using the Libraries screen in the Tools or by using the Edit Libraries button.

### **Using Clinical Pathways**

In the course of your work, you may often find that you are treating patients with similar presenting problems. If this is true, Clinical Pathways may be of definite interest to you. By using a Clinical Pathway, you can assign problem templates with your preferred Definitions, Goals, Objectives, Interventions, Diagnoses, and Homework to use time after time.

As you work with individual patients, you can use the Clinical Pathway as a basic treatment plan and fine-tune it to meet varying needs.

To bring treatment plan data in a Clinical Pathway over to your patient, click the Assign Clinical Pathway button on the Problems screen.

# 3.3.1 Problem

The Problems screen in the Treatment Plan Group allows you to designate presenting problems for the patient.

You may commonly make a dual diagnosis. However, most third-party payors require a primary DSM-5® code for remittance. Therefore, a Primary problem must be designated.

Secondary problems are other problems of importance that will be addressed in the treatment plan.

The Other category may be used to note problems that have been discovered through the psychosocial assessment but will not be addressed in treatment at this time.

### Selecting Problems from Treatment Planner Libraries

As you identify the patient's problems, the Treatment Planner libraries become very useful, providing comprehensive lists for many categories of presenting problems.

- 1. To choose a Primary Problem, click the Select button to bring up the Select Problem window, displaying a list of problems.
- 2. Click the Problem Group down arrow to display a dropdown list of treatment planner library modules that have been purchased and imported into Thera*Scribe*®.
- 3. Click on the Treatment Planner Library module (e.g., Adult, Adolescent, Addiction) that is appropriate for the current patient.
- 4. From the list of problems available in the chosen treatment planner module, check the Primary Problem and Click OK (only one Primary Problem may be selected).
- 5. To select one or more secondary problems, click the Add button to the right of the Secondary Problems field. The same library of problems will again be displayed, and you may check one or more secondary problems. Click an item again to unselect it. When you are satisfied with your choices, click OK.
- 6. To select Other Problems, click the Add button. Use this field to acknowledge problems you see in the patient that you will not be specifically addressing in the current treatment plan. Click OK to continue.
- 7. Click Definitions on the left-side Navigation Bar to proceed to the next section, which will provide behavioral definitions for each of the problems you have designated.

TIP: Each of us works differently. Continue to design the Treatment Plan in a sequence that best works for you. After you have selected presenting problems from the Problems screen, you may proceed through the other screens (e.g., Definitions, Goals, Objectives/Interventions), one by one for the problem selected. That problem will automatically remain at the top of your screen for ease of use until you use the dropdown list again to select a different problem.

Or, you can focus on each step of the Treatment Plan itself, first finding Definitions for each Problem, then setting Goals for each problem, and so on. To take this approach, simply use the dropdown list to switch between problems as you work.

TIP: Thera*Scribe*® provides you with a notable new option on the Problem screen. If you decide to change your primary diagnoses during the course of your work with a patient, the current Primary Problem will be included in the Secondary Problem list. If you decide to make a designated Secondary Problem the Primary Problem, you can simply click Make Primary and the old Primary Problem will automatically switch to the Secondary Problem field. In either case, all data will be saved.

### Selecting a New Primary Problem

You may also want to select a new problem to designate as Primary by doing the following:

- 1. Add the problem to the Secondary Problem list.
- 2. Then click on Make Primary to move it to the Primary Problem field. The former Primary Problem will simultaneously move to the Secondary Problem list, with its associated data saved.

### Assign a Clinical Pathway

One can also Assign a Clinical Pathway on this screen.

If a patient already has a Treatment Plan and Sessions, assigning a Clincal Pathway will overwrite ALL existing patient Treatment Plan and Session data!!

#### **Tx Plan Review/Archive**

This option provides a way to conduct and document a Tx Plan review before making changes to the Plan. See second screenshot.

🕷 TheraScribe		_ 🗆 ×
File Go Tools Help		
Home Select Patient Manage Pathways	• ent	
Treatment Plan	🔑 Problem	
Definitions	Patient Judy Sample2 Assign Clinical Pathway Tx	Plan Review/Archive
🏋 Goals 🗸 🗸	Primary Problem	FIGHTREVIEW/ALCHIVE
🤰 Personal Data	Attention-Deficit/Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) Secondary Problems	Select
Ssessment	Problem  Anxiety	Add
🧏 Treatment Plan		Delete
Sep Progress	Other Problems (not focus of treatment) Problem	Add
Prognosis / Discharge		Delete
Appointment Scheduler		
🗏 🏒 🕸		

# 3.3.2 Definitions

The Definitions screen provides meaning and clarity as it allows you to describe the problems selected in the Problems screen. Because individual patients present problems in different ways, you need the flexibility of a wide array of descriptions that the Thera*Scribe*® libraries provide.

- 1. Click the dropdown list to see the list of problems you have decided to focus on with your patient.
- 2. Click the problem you wish to define.
- 3. When you click Add, a Behavioral Definitions library window will appear, with a list of behavioral definitions for the target problem.
- 4. By using the up and down arrows by the Lines field, you can increase or decrease the amount of lines available for each definition.
- 5. Click the items you would like to select from the library. Click an item again to unselect it.
- 6. When you are finished, click OK at the bottom of the window.
- 7. At this point, you can continue by selecting another problem from the dropdown list. Or, you can click Objectives/Interventions in the Treatment Plan group on the left-side Navigation Bar to proceed to the next section of the plan.
- 8. One can also edit the specific Definitions to customize them for each patient.

Sefinitions	?
Patient: JudyA. Sample	
Behavioral Defnitions for Anxiety	~
Behavioral Definition	Add
Excessive and/or unrealistic worry that is difficult to control occurring more days than not	
Motor tension (e.g., restlessness, tiredness, shakiness, muscle tension).	Delete
Autonomic hyperactivity (e.g., palpitations, shortness of breath, dry mouth, trouble	
Hypervigilance (e.g., feeling constantly on edge, experiencing concentration difficulties,	

## 3.3.3 Goals

The Goals screen allows you to set goals for your patient, having identified and defined his or her problem areas.

- 1. Click the dropdown list to see the list of problems you have decided to focus on with your patient.
- 2. Select the problem for which you intend to set some goals.
- 3. When you click Add, a Goals library window will appear, with a list of goals for the target problem.
- 4. By using the up and down arrows by the Lines field, you can increase or decrease the amount of lines available for each goal description.
- 5. Click the items you would like to select from the library. Click an item again to unselect it.
- 6. When you are finished, click OK at the bottom of the window.
- 7. At this point, you can continue by selecting another problem from the dropdown list. Or, you can click Goals in the Treatment Plan group on the left-side Navigation Bar to proceed to the next section of your plan.

💥 Goals	0
Patient: JudyA. Sample	
Long Term Goals for Anxiety	~
Goal	Add
Reduce overall frequency, intensity, and duration of the anxiety so that daily functioning is not impaired.	Delete

# 3.3.4 Objectives/Interventions

To reach their treatment goals, your patients must take smaller steps toward achieving the good. You need to ask: "What do I want this patient to do?" These actions are called Objectives. Objectives are expressed in behaviorally

specific terms, identifying behaviors which can be observed and, whenever possible, quantified or measured.

You, then, will try to enable your patient to achieve the objectives with a variety of Interventions.

Note: Newer Planner modules will include Evidence-Based Treatment (EBT) designations for some objectives.

#### Selecting Objectives for Problems

You will use the following steps to select Objectives from the Objectives/Interventions screen libraries.

- 1. Click the dropdown list to see the list of problems you have decided to focus on with your patient.
- 2. Select the problem for which you intend to determine Objectives.
- 3. When you click Add to the right of the Objective data grid, a Select Objective library window will appear, with a list of objectives for that specific problem.
- 4. By using the up and down arrows by the Lines field, you can increase or decrease the amount of lines available for each Objective description.
- 5. Click the check boxes by the items you would like to select from the library. Click an item again to unselect it.
- 6. When you are finished, click OK at the bottom of the window.
- 7. You can also enter the Target Date (for achieving the objective), the Entry Date (at which the patient began treatment), and Sessions (predicted necessary to achieve the objective). By clicking the check box for Critical, you are indicating that a given objective is critical to the discharge of the patient from treatment.
- 8. At this point, you can continue by selecting another problem from the dropdown list and repeating steps 3-7. Or, you can move to the Interventions section of the screen.

#### **Selecting Interventions for Objectives**

As you consider what interventions to use for achieving each objective, Thera*Scribe*® can provide valuable help. It links objectives with the interventions most likely to help the patient achieve those objectives. You can create these important links by following these steps:

- 1. In the display field at the top of the screen showing the objectives you selected, click and highlight an objective for which you wish to select interventions.
- 2. Click the Add button beside the Interventions display field on the bottom half of the screen.
- 3. A selection of the interventions most commonly used for the highlighted objective will appear in a library window.

- 4. The interventions that appear are those most likely to be used to treat the highlighted objective. To select from this short list, click the check boxes for the interventions you wish to use, and click OK.
- 5. The interventions shown are part of a more extensive list of possible interventions for the problem. If you wish to choose from all of the possible interventions for the target problem, click the check box for Show All Interventions for this Problem at the bottom of the library window.
- 6. When you are finished selecting interventions for the highlighted objective, click OK.
- 7. The Entry Date will default to the current date. To change the date, use the dropdown calendar.
- 8. You have the option to enter number of sessions during which the intervention will be implemented in the Sessions column of the Interventions data grid. You then use the down arrow to select the provider responsible for delivery of the intervention. (It will default to the provider who is logged on.)
- 9. Click on the next objective at the top of the tab screen, and repeat steps 2 through 8.
- 10. Certain Interventions which display a "movie reel" icon have videos implementing that intervention -- see below. Click Video to view.

TIP: The data in the Objectives/Interventions screen defaults to show only the interventions selected for the highlighted objective. To view all of the interventions selected for a patient, check the Display all Interventions for Selected Problem box on the main Objectives/Intervention screen.

🦻 Objectives / Interventions					?
Patient: JudyA.Sample					
Objectives for Anxiety					~
Objective	Target Date	Entry Date	Sessions	Critical	Add
<ul> <li>Describe current and past experiences with the worry and</li> <li>Verbalize an understanding of the cognitive, physiological, and</li> <li>Learn and implement calming skills to reduce overall anxiety and</li> <li>Verbalize an understanding of the role that cognitive biases play in</li> <li>Identify, challenge, and replace biased, fearful self-talk with</li> <li>Undergo gradual repeated imaginal exposure to the feared negative</li> <li>Maintain involvement in work,</li> </ul>		8/7/2006			Delete
Verbalize an understanding of the cognitive, physiological, and		8/7/2006			
Learn and implement calming skills to reduce overall anxiety and		8/7/2006			
Verbalize an understanding of the role that cognitive biases play in		8/7/2006			
Identify, challenge, and replace biased, fearful self-talk with		8/7/2006			
Undergo gradual repeated imaginal exposure to the feared negative		8/7/2006			
Maintain involvement in work, family, and social activities.		8/7/2006			Lines 2 🗘
Interventions Display all Interventions for the Selected Problem					
Intervention	Entry Date	Sessions	Provider		Add
Assess the focus, excessiveness, and uncontrollability of the client's	8/7/2006				Delete







# 3.3.5 Modality

The Modality screen is used to specify the treatment modalities and frequency of each type of therapeutic contact. Some of the choices for modalities are general, such as Individual or Family Therapy, Group Therapy, Occupational Psychotherapy, or Medication Management Psychotherapy. Other choices are more specific and tied to CPT codes.

You can also designate the level of care that will be used and make general narrative notes regarding each modality.

### **Selecting Modalities**

To select modalities:

- 1. Click Add to the right of the Modality grid. A Select Modalities window will appear.
- 2. Click the check boxes for the modalities you wish to choose.
- 3. Click or use the tab button on your keyboard to move through and complete the Frequency, Interval, and responsible Provider fields for each selected modality, using dropdown lists to help you. The CPT code will fill in automatically if it was specifically designated in the library.
4. Individual Modalities/CPT Codes can be edited for individual Patients by all users.

## Selecting Recommended Level of Care

As the level of care for a patient may change throughout the treatment episode, Thera*Scribe*® allows you to recommend different levels of care by date.

- 1. To enter a level of care, click Add to the right of the Recommended Level of Care data grid.
- 2. A new row will appear, defaulting to the current date. Select a different date, if needed, by using the dropdown calendar.
- 3. Select a recommended care level from the dropdown list or type in a custom level of care.
- 4. Three check boxes in this data grid allow you to give more information about the selected Level of Care. These are: Least Restrictive Alternative, Patient Agrees (with level of care assignment), and Level Available. They will default to the "on" status. If necessary, you may change them by clicking on the check box.

### **Entering Modality Notes**

The Modality Note narrative field at the bottom of the Modality screen allows you to type in a general narrative note in rich text format. You can elaborate on the details of any or all of the treatment modalities that have been selected.

For example, you describe the topic and purpose of a focus group, note the times and dates that specific group will be held, or provide reasons for the designated level of care or changes in that care.

8 Modality	?
Patient: JudyA. Sample	
Modalities	
Modality CPT   Interval   Frequ   Provider	Add
▶ Indiv. OP Psychotherapy-45" no Med 90806 1 Weekly	
	Delete
Recommended Level of Care	]
Date Recommended Care Level Least Restrictive Patient Level Ava	Add
▶ 8/7/2006 ∨ Outpatient <	Delete
	Delete
	]
Modality Note	
<b>B</b> <i>I</i> <u>U</u> abes : : ::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	

## Adding additional Modality/CPT codes from Modality screen:

Administrative and Advanced level users can modify/edit Modalities/CPT codes for the program.

reatment Plan	1		Modality     Patient Judy Sample2     Modalites	S+.pår Clinicar vat.	Plan.jpg ImportPlaUpdate 16 SP Maint		
🏌 Goals 🏏 Objectives / Inte	ervention	5	Modelity CP_ Int_ Pre. Provider Add		Wonderditare	0	
Modality				Definition	CPT Code	Ad Ad	
	Select N	Aodalities		Diagnostic Evaluation (No Medical)	90791	-	
Approach	Select	CPT Code	Modality	Diagnostic Evaluation (With Medical)	90792	Dea	
Diagnosis		90791	Diagnostic Evaluation (No Medical)	Individual Therapy 30 min.	90832		
		90792		Individual Therapy 45 min.	90834		
Response		90832		Individual Therapy 60 min.	90837		
Homework		90834	The deside of the second sec	Interactive Complexity for Diag. Eval. or Indiv. Ther. or Gr			
		90837	Induidual Thanany 60 min	Crisis Psychotherapy 60 Min.	0839		
Personal Data		+90785	Interactive Complexity for Diag. Eval. or Indiv. Ther. or Grp. Ther.	Crisis Psychotherapy additional 30 min.	+90840		
		90839	Crisis Psychotherapy 60 Min.	Family Psychotherapy (Pt. not Present)	90846		
Assessment		+90840	Crisis Psychotherapy additional 30 min.	Family Psychotherapy (Pt. Present)	90847		
		90846	rainy rejulique apy (re increasing	Family Group Psychotherapy	90849		
Treatment Pla		90847		Family Group Psychother app Group psychotherany (other than of a multiple-family group)			
		90849 90853		Group psychother any (other than of a multiple-ramity group) New CPT Code			
Progress		90823	Group psychotherapy (other than or a multiple-family group)	New CPT rede	12345		
Prognosis / Dis							
Reports			Edit Library				

## 3.3.6 Approach

The Approach screen in the Treatment Plan group allows you to choose therapeutic approaches that you will take with your patient.

Options given include: Behavioral Techniques, Biofeedback/Relaxation Training, Cognitive Restructuring, Confrontive, Insight Oriented, Solution Oriented, Supportive Maintenance, and Symptom Focused Education.

If medications are prescribed, dosages, frequency, and other medication details may be tracked on the Approach screen, since these may play a key role in your approach to treating your patient.

### **Selecting Treatment Approaches**

To select an Approach:

- 1. Click Add to the right of the Approaches data grid.
- 2. The Select Treatment Approaches library window will appear.
- 3. Click one or more check boxes to select desired treatment approaches. Click OK.
- 4. You may enter comments and observations about the various approaches and their impact on your patient by using the Approach Note narrative field. Rich text format is available.

### Selecting Medications

To add new Medications Prescribed by the primary clinician or a treating physician:

- 1. Click Add to the right of the Medications Prescribed data grid.
- 2. The Select Medications window will show the medications listed in the Medication Library.
- 3. Medications are sorted by class, as follows: Anti-ADD/ADHDs, Anti-Anxieties, Anti-Depressants, Anti-Parkinsonians, Anti-Psychotics, Hypnotics/Sedatives, and Mood Stabilizers. Use the dropdown list to select a general class of medication.
- 4. Click on the check box to select a specific medication or medications from within the general classes.
- 5. Click OK to display the medications in the data grid on the Approaches screen.
- 6. Click the Start Date, End Date, Dosage, Frequency, and Prescribed by to the right of each medication name to enter these details.

TIP: The Prescribed by field will default to the name the Psychiatrist entered on the Demographics screen. If no Psychiatrist is listed, it will default to the Primary Care Physician. Defaults can be overridden by typing in a new name.

### **Entering Medication Response Notes**

Narrative details regarding your patient's response to each medication can be typed under Notes for Medications, using a rich-text format.

- 1. Click the medication you wish to describe in the Medications Prescribed list to highlight it.
- 2. Enter comments about the patient's response to that specific medication in the Medications Note narrative field.
- 3. Click a different medication in the Medications Prescribed box to open a new narrative field for each medication.

🛃 Approa	ach					?
Patient: JudyA.	Sample					
Approaches Description Cognitive Restri Behavioral Tech	-					Add Delete
Approach Note	e   🗄 🤫 🍄 Arial	8				
Name	Dosage	Start Date	End Date	Prescribed by	Frequency	Add
▶ Xanax	5mg.	8/7/2006		Dr.Jones	1x/day	Delete
Medication Note fo						
<u><b>B</b></u> <i>I</i> <u>U</u> ab-	e   🗄 🥲 🍄 Arial	8	∙ <mark>≣</mark> ≣≣			

## 3.3.7 Diagnosis

# The DSM-5 Diagnosis screen allows you to assign DSM-5®/ICD-10® diagnoses/codes for your patient.

Based upon the Primary Problem selected in the Problem screen, TheraScribe® suggests clinical disorders, personality disorders, or disability disorders diagnoses for your consideration.

Moving beyond these diagnoses, you can also click to enter or select:

• Specifiers that include Level of Insight, Correlated Disorders, Contributing Issues, Severity of Impairment, Pathogenic Care Issues, and/or Other Diagnosis Specifiers

- Physical Health Issues that Complicate the Clinical Picture
- Stressors Present (e.g., Economic, Family Conflict, Education Deficit)
- Current Level of Functioning Levels (GAF score based on a scale of 1-100)
- Stress Severity Ratings (None, Mild, Moderate, Severe, or Extreme)

### Add Diagnoses:

Click Add next to the Diagnosis data grid. The Select Diagnoses library window will appear.

If you only see DSM-IV/ICD-9 diagnoses/codes, click the Switch to DSM-5 checkbox at bottom of screen.

11.		
	Switch to DSM-5	Diagnosis History Report

If the appropriate diagnosis for your patient is not displayed, click the check box labeled Show Complete ICD-10/DSM-5 Library.

X	) The	eraScribe															-	n x
	File	Go Tools Help																
t H	ome	Select Patient Mana	y age Pathw	ays Add	Patie	nt												
	Trea	itment Plan					Diag	nosis										
Dijectives / Interventions						COUNT	_	_	_									
B Modality Primary Problem Anger									Click Add t	o bring up Select Dia	nosis Screen .			^				
	2	Approach					agnosis						CIICK AUG L	o bring up select bia	gilosis screen			1
	20	Diagnosis					Code		Deer	- Here						<u> </u>		
	2	Response		~		+				ription ar I Disord	er					Ad		
	9 Personal Data										Dele	ete						
1	S Assessment																	
Treatment Plan				isorders	Contribu	iting Issues	Severity of Impairmen	t Pathogenic Care Issues	Other Diagnosis Speci	fiers								
				n Select I	Diagnoses	;						×						
4	7	Progress									Descriptior		Find					
	X	Prognosis / Discharge	2			Co	omment			Select	t Code F60.2	Diagnosis	ersonality Disorder					^
(		Appointment Schedul	er								F31.xx	Bipolar I D	sorder					
4					١.						F31.81 F60.3	Bipolar II D	isorder Personality Disorder					-1
		Reports				pl.		- Ith Too	ues That C		F91.x	Conduct D						-11
					1	-					Z69.82			es for Perpetrator of Nonspou	isal Adult Abuse			
				Y Ø		<u></u>	Switch t	to DSM-IV	Dia		Z69.12	Encounter	for Mental Health Servic	es for Perpetrator of Spouse	or Partner Violence, Physi	cal		
											F63.81	Intermitter	t Explosive Disorder					
		Response Homework		2. If th	e dia	agno	osis app	propriate	e for you		F60.81	Narcissistic	Personality Disorder					
v 11	Proc			3. Click	one	orr	more t	he chec	k boxes		Z03.89	No Diagno						
1		Session Details		4. Click	ок	to d	lisplay	the sele	ected dia		F60.0		ersonality Disorder					
		Progress Notes Planner							for the A		F07.0		Change Due to Another	Medical Condition				_
		Objective Rating						-	Disorders		F43.10		atic Stress Disorder					
		Psychotherapy Notes SOAP Note						1			F60.9	Unspecifie	d Personality Disorder					
		Session Custom Fields							clicking									
		Group Session Amendments							inctioning surance		If yo	u don't se	e the code or dia	gnosis the you're loo	king for click this o	heck box.	•	
		nosis/Discharge	~	9. Desc	ripti	ve S	Stress :	Severity	/ Ratings	Sho	ow Comple	te ICD-10/DS	4-5 Library			OK	Cancel	

You may click in the Sort and Find boxes to bring up the specific diagnosis (Description or Code) you have typed into the Find box.

Or you can search for specific codes for generic codes like F31.xx.

Click one or more the check boxes for the appropriate diagnosis/diagnoses for your patient.

Click OK to display the selected diagnosis/diagnoses

### TheraScribe Help

Patient D		ACCOUNT							
Primary Probl	em Ange	er							
Diagona	_	_							
— Diagnosi	5	/ chan	pand a gen	eric ICD co	de, click Sho	w Complete lil	orary,		
Cod	e 🖌	Des	scription	uown to c	oue and typ	e in the code.			
F31	.xx	Bip	olar I Disorder						
Г	Colort D	Jiagnoses							
	Select	hagnoses				One can t	hen select th	e	
– Specifie	Sort	Code	→ Fir	nd F31		specific IC	D code/diagn	osis	
- specifie	Select	Code 🖌	Diagnosis						
Level of		F31.0	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode hypomanic			-
Invelo		F31.11			r most recent epis				
Level of		F31.12	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode manic, Moderat	e		
		F31.13	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode manic, Severe			_
		F31.2	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode manic, With ps	chotic features		
Comme		F31.31	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode depressed, Mild	ł		
		F31.32	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode depressed, Mo	derate		
		F31.4	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode depressed, Sev	/ere		
		F31.5	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode depressed, Wit	h psychotic feature	es	
Dhusian		F31.73	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode hypomanic, In	partial remission		
- Physica		F31.73	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode manic, In partia	al remission		
Switc		F31.74	Bipolar I disor	der, Current o	r most recent epis	sode hypomanic, In	full remission		
		F31.74	-			sode manic, In full re			
		F31.75				sode depressed, In p			
		F31.76	-		r most recent epis	sode depressed, In f	full remission		
		F31.81	Bipolar II diso	rder					

Click on any or all of the tabs in the Specifier section to rate or define the Specifier that adds to the diagnostic picture.

Type in the text boxes to add narrative information about each Specifier if you choose to use this Specifier option.

Correlated Disorders allows addition of other non-primary diagnoses.

	Code	Description					Add
	F31.xx	Bipolar I Disorde	er				Delete
	ifiers clof Insight C	orrelated Disorders	Contributing Issues	Severity of Impairment	Pathogenic Care Issues	Other Diagnosis Specifiers	5
ev	el of Insight Rega	rding Presenting Probl	lem(s)				-
on	nment						*
٧s	sical Health Issu	ies That Complicat	e the Clinical Picture	<u>a</u>			
nn	nent						* *
re	ssors Present -						
	Description						Add

### Legacy DSM-IV/ICD-9 Diagnoses/Codes:

- Axis III physical problems (Medical conditions that impact care)
- Axis IV stressors (e.g., Economic, Family Conflict, Education Deficit)
- Axis V Functioning Levels (GAF score based on a scale of 1-100)
- Stress Severity Ratings (None, Mild, Moderate, Severe, or Extreme)
- 1. Click Add next to the Axis I Diagnosis data grid. The Select Axis I Diagnoses library window will appear.
- 2. If the diagnosis appropriate for your patient is not displayed, click the check box labeled Show Complete Axis I Library. You may click the dropdown list to select ICD-9 diagnoses.
- 3. Click one or more the check boxes for the appropriate diagnosis/diagnoses for your patient.
- 4. Click OK to display the selected diagnosis/diagnoses.
- 5. Repeat steps 1 through 4 for the Axis II data grid.
- 6. Click the Axis III Physical Disorders field to type in any medical conditions that impact the patient's mental or emotional well-being.
- 7. Enter Axis IV Stressors by clicking Add next to the Stressors data grid. Check all appropriate stressors, and click OK.
- 8. Current and Prior Axis V Functioning Levels can be entered by using the appropriate dropdown lists and clicking the rating of your choice. Monitoring current and prior GAF scores will help you to evaluate your patient's status and may provide needed data for

insurance and Social Security records. These ratings may be deleted and left blank if the user wants to change to no rating at a later time.

9. Descriptive Stress Severity Ratings may be selected in the Stress Severity box.

🐹 Diagn	osis	?
Patient: JudyA	. Sample	
Primary Problem	Anxiety	
Axis I Diagnosis		
Legal Code	Description	Add
▶ 300.02	Generalized Anxiety Disorder	Delete
Axis II Diagnosis		
Legal Code	Description	Add
▶ V71.09	No Diagnosis	Delete
Axis III Physical Axis IV Stressors	Disorders Chronic Back Pain	1 00000 1
Description		Add
▶ Health		Delete
Axis V Function Current 51-60	ing Level (GAF Score) Prior 81-90 Stress Severity Rating Mod	
Diagnosis	s History Report	

## 3.3.8 Response

The Response screen provides two rich text narrative fields for recording your assessment of responses to the Treatment Plan. Click in either field to type.

- In the Patient Response field, you can keep anecdotal records of your patient's input and reactions to his or her treatment plan, with your comments when appropriate.
- In the Significant Other's Response field, you describe the reaction of others, like a spouse, partner, parent, guardian, or mentor of your patient. Because the significant other interacts with your patient in intimate and unique ways, recording his or her reactions to the treatment plan and its impact on your patient may provide valuable insights to help you in your work.

## TheraScribe Help

Response				?
Patient: JudyA.Sample				
Judy A. Sample's Response to Trea	tment Plan			
<b>B</b> <i>I</i> <u>U</u> abe   ⊟ 🕄 ^85℃	Arial	• 8 •	≣≣≣	
Significant Other's Response to Tre	atment Plan			
B I ∐ ab∈   Ξ 🤫 🎸	Arial	• 8 •		

## 3.3.9 Homework

The Homework screen provides invaluable help to you as the clinician. You want to keep your patients engaged in the treatment process between sessions. To do so, you need to provide concrete activities that give guidance in meeting objectives and require accountability to the treatment process.

Thera*Scribe*® offers a set of Homework Planner add-on modules. The Homework Planners consist of prewritten exercises that give you the ability to plan effective homework and stimulating guides for discussion with the click of the mouse.

Homework libraries are available for the following patient groups:

- Adult (two available)
- Adolescent (two available)
- Child
- Chemical Dependence / Addiction
- Couples
- Divorce (relates to couples treatment)
- Employee Assistance
- Family
- Grief (relates to adult treatment)
- Group Therapy
- Parenting Skills

• School Counseling

Homework assignments are treated as interventions. Therefore, Thera*Scribe*® automatically links the specific problems and objectives you identified for your patient on the other Treatment Planner screens to the options offered by the Homework Planner libraries.

Note: Additional Homework libraries may become available periodically.

## **Selecting Homework Assignments**

- 1. The problems selected for the patient on the Problems screen are displayed in the Homework for dropdown list at the top of the Homework screen.
- 2. Click the down arrow to display all of the problems previously selected, and choose one of them for which you wish to assign homework.
- 3. The Objectives that have been previously selected for that problem will be displayed.
- 4. Select any one of the objectives for association with a particular homework assignment by clicking on the objective.
- 5. Once an objective is selected, Click Add to the right of the Homework data grid. The Select Homework library window will appear.
- 6. The Select Homework library will default to display the homework titles for the problem focus. The dropdown list also allows you to select the entire listing of homework titles from the Homework Planner associated with the Treatment Planner you are using for this patient. Note: If no selections appear in the window, use the dropdown list to select the entire listing.
- 7. Considering the particular objective you have in mind, click the check boxes to select the titles of homework that you think will best help your patient meet the objective. To assist you in your selection, the goals for each assignment will appear when the cursor rolls over the title of the assignment. More than one homework assignment may be selected. Click OK when you have completed your selections.
- 8. The titles of the homework assignments you selected will be listed as interventions delivered for the related objective in the patient's Clinical Record report.

Treatment Plan	📝 Homework					
差 Problem	Patient Test Patient2					
Definitions	Homework for Anxiety					
🏋 Goals	Objectives					
Objectives / Interventions	Objective				Target Date	
S Modality	Verbalize an understandin	g of the cognitive, physiological, and beha	woral components of anxiety and its treatment.			
You c Approach Homeworks for a spec	cific planner	iework		×		
Diagnosis	Filter by E	ntire Adolescent 5e Homework Planner		×		Lines 2 🛱
🐍 Response	Homework	Select	Title			
Homework	Title	Select	A Few Things About Me	Prov	ider	Add
			A Sense of Belonging	-		Aug
			Action Minus Thought Equals Painful Consequences	_		
			Activities of Daily Living Program	_		Launch
Nersonal Data			Airing Your Grievances	_		COUNCIL
<b>A</b>			Anger Checklist			
S Assessment	Goals of Exer		Anger Control			
178	Goals of Exer		Another Place to Live			
S Treatment Plan			Assessing the Family - Present and Future			~
			Attitudes About Homework			
Progress			Attitudes About Medication or Medical Treatment			
		<b>Z</b>	Bad Thoughts Lead to Depressed Feelings			$\sim$
Prognosis / Discharge			Becoming Assertive			
	Suggestions		Beginning a Search for Birth Parents			
Appointment Scheduler			Body Image			~
-						
Reports			ОК С	ancel		
						$\sim$

TIP: In the Homework Assignment library window, assignments most closely tied to the problem you selected on the main Homework screen are indicated as Primary. Additional assignments from the Homework Planner module are also listed, but not as Primary.

- 9. After you select an exercise, TheraScribe® provides more helpful information at the bottom of the screen. The Goals of Exercise field lists several goals that this homework assignment may help your patient to achieve. Having these clearly described enables you to assess the appropriateness of the given assignment and allows you to present the homework in the most effective way. The Suggestions field provides several questions that can help your patient to process the homework, both at the time it is assigned and after it has been completed.
- 10. If Microsoft Word® is installed on your computer, you may view a homework assignment on the screen by clicking Launch to the right of the Homework data grid. The homework assignment will be displayed on the screen. It can be edited, if necessary. Then you can print it and send it home with your patient.
- 11. Repeat steps 2 through 10 to assign homework for other problems and objectives.

Homev	work for Anxiety			
Object	tives			
Obje	ctive		Target Date	
Verba	alize an understanding of the cognitive, physiological, and behavioral components of anxiety and its treatm	nent.		
				Lines
Homey				
	Title	Date Assigned	Provider	
	Bad Thoughts Lead to Depressed Feelings	1/11/2021	Provider, Jerome	A
1	bau moughts ceau to bepressed reelings	1/11/2021	Provider, Jerome	De
1.	of Exercise Verbalze an understanding of the relationship between distorted thinking and negative emotions. Learn key concepts regarding types of distorted thinking.			Lau
3.	Develop healthy cognitive patterns and beliefs about self and the world that lead to alleviation and help Identify and replace depressive thinking that supports depression.	prevent the relapse of depression symplectic symplec	ptoms.	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			
	estions			
Sunne	concepts of cognitive therapy can be difficult to explain to a client in the abstract. This assignment defines	and gives adolescent life examples for e	ach of the common types of distorted he steppingstone for educating the di	d thinking. The conten

## 3.4 Progress

The Progress group screens help you to monitor a key component in your patient's treatment plan: progress. Thera*Scribe*® provides a data grid to display Session Details, a Progress Notes Planner to enter notes, an Objective Rating screen to track objectives, and three other areas to track Psychotherapy Notes, SOAP notes and Amendments to the Progress Notes.

Prog	gress
1	Session Details
Ŀ	Progress Notes Planner
0	Objective Rating
Ê	PsychotherapyNotes
Z	Soap
1	Amendments
	Session Custom Fields
*	Group Session

## Using the Locking Feature for Progress Notes

A locking feature is available to provide security and privacy for your patients. To enable or disable this feature, go to the System Settings screen in the Tools group.

TIP: You may choose between three versions of the locking feature:

- Lock when leaving Progress Notes screen.
- Lock when leaving patient file selected.
- No Locking.
- Manual Locking: (added in Ver. 19.1) -- Sessions can be locked by Primary Provider, Session Provider and Supervisor of Supervised Provider who cannot lock notes.

Note: Be advised! Depending of your choice of locking feature, when you leave the screen or the patient you will lock the data and will not be allowed to change it.

Manual locking gives more flexibility but still requires one to make an amendment to "edit" locked notes.

If the progress note locking feature is enabled:

- The Lock Date field will fill automatically with the date that a progress note is created. If they are locked, notes cannot be edited or deleted after they are initially entered.
- To make changes to a note, you will need to use the Amendments screen in the Progress group. This will allow you to add a change to a progress note. This change, or amendment, will also be locked and dated.
- The Session Details data grid is visible to all providers who have security access to the patient's record.
- The progress note data (Progress Notes Planner, Objective Rating, Psychotherapy Notes, and Amendments) on the bottom half of the screen is only visible to the patient's Primary Provider and the Team Member who created a progress note. The Team Member can only see a note that he or she has created, while the Primary Provider can see all progress notes. This feature can be enabled or disabled within the Tools group of the program on the System Settings screen.

- 1	Progress Notes
F	Progress Note Locking Options
ſ	O No Locking
	Cock when leaving Progress Note Screen
	O Lock when leaving Patient
	Manual Locking (by Non Supervised Provider or Supervisor)

## 3.4.1 Session Details

The Session Details screen in the Progress group provides a clear overview of the time you have spent with the patient. The data grid appearing at the top of this screen will appear for your reference at the top of each of the screens in the Progress group. Information on the Session Details screen includes:

- Date of the session
- Start and End times
- Length of session
- A check box to indicate whether the session was Billable
- Session Number (Note: A session will not be counted in the session number field if it is not checked as billable.)
- Provider
- Modality used
- Progress Rating
- Insurance information

## **Entering Session Details**

Contacts are sorted in inverted order, with the most recent session listed at the top of the Session Details field. This allows you to access your most recent data quickly and easily.

To enter a session:

- 1. Click Add to the right of the Session Details data grid.
- 2. Thera*Scribe*® will automatically enter a new Session Number and the current date into the Date field. If necessary, the default date can be changed by using the dropdown calendar.
- 3. Enter the Start time and End time in the appropriate boxes. Start and End times for subsequent contacts will default to those times that were used for the previous entry. If necessary, the default times can be altered by clicking on the fields.
- 4. Based upon the times entered in the Start and End fields, the Length of the session will be automatically calculated.
- 5. The Billable contact field will default to the "on" position. Contacts which won't be charged (e.g., phone contact) must be unchecked. Otherwise, they will be subtracted from the number of authorized sessions remaining.
- 6. The Provider field will default to the current user's name. You can override this default by clicking in the field and choosing a different provider from the dropdown list.
- Select a Modality from the dropdown menu. Once a Modality is selected, future sessions will default to that modality unless you choose to select a different one.

- 8. The Progress Rating field will default to "Some Progress." You can make a different selection (Significant Regression, Regression, No Change, or Completed) by clicking on the field and choosing from the dropdown list.
- 9. If the Progress Note locking feature is enabled, the Lock Date field will fill automatically with the date that a Progress Note is created and locked into the database.
- 10. Use the dropdown list to enter the name of the Insurance into the data grid.
- 11. Based upon whether the contact is marked as Billable, Thera*Scribe*® will calculate Authorized Sessions Remaining. This is based on the number of authorized sessions entered in the Insurance tab of the Personal Data.

TIP: As you approach the limit on the number of authorized sessions or date range, a warning message will be displayed on the Progress screen reminding you to check authorization parameters. The warning message also appears when the patient's name is selected.

The system administrator may establish when this warning appears. To do so, he or she can make selections on the Default Settings screen in the Tools group, based on number of sessions or days remaining.

🛃 Sessi	Session Details 🕜							
Patient: JudyA.Sample								
10/24/2006 9 8/23/2006 9 8/14/2006 9	00 AM 9 00 AM 9 00 AM 1	ind :30 AM :30 AM 0:00 AM 0:00 AM	Provider Doe, John Provider, Defa Provider, Defa Provider, Defa	ault				Add Delete Copy
Session Date 1 Session #	0/24/2006	Is Bi	Stai	rt Time Duratio	9:00 AM n 30 mir		End Time	9:30 AM 📚
Provider	Doe, John		~	Modalit	у	Individual Psy	chotherapy	<b>*</b>
Progress Rating	No Change		~					
Insurance		Remainir	ng Sessions					
Aetna		2						

## 3.4.2 Progress Notes Planner

The Progress Notes screen gives you the opportunity to record progress notes, both prewritten and narrative.

### TheraScribe Help

The prewritten notes are possible through the use of Thera*Scribe*®'s add-on Progress Notes Planner libraries, which correspond to the Treatment Planners of the same name.

Progress Notes libraries include: Addiction, Adolescent, Adult, Child, Couples, Family Therapy, and Severe and Persistent Mental Illness.

New Progress Notes add-on libraries are frequently becoming available. You can visit <u>http://www.therascribe.com/</u> or contact PEC Technologies at 1-616-776-1745 x4 for information on the latest Progress Notes add-on libraries.

### Creating A Progress Note

TIP: Progress toward objectives may be updated on the Objectives Rating screen regardless of which progress note method you choose to use.

### **Using the Progress Notes Planner Libraries**

To quickly create a progress note using the Progress Notes Planner libraries:

- 1. Click Add, to the right of the Problems Focused On data grid. A library selection window will appear, listing all of the primary or secondary problems selected for the patient in the Treatment Plan section.
- 2. Click on one or more check boxes next to the problem or problems that have been the focus of your current therapy session with the patient. Click OK.
- 3. Click Add next to the Presentations data grid. The library selection window will show a dropdown list, briefly describing the Definitions that you previously selected for the target problem.
- 4. Choose a definition (symptom) that was evident in the session.

TIP: The default presentations displayed are those most likely to present themselves in your patient, based on the behavioral Definitions you selected in the Treatment Plan section. You can choose from a broader array of possible presentations for the problem by clicking the Show All Symptoms/Definitions box.

To select Intervention description statements:

- 1. Click Add button next to the Interventions data grid. At the top of the library window, you will see one of the anticipated Interventions selected for the target problem in the patient's treatment plan.
- 2. Use the dropdown list to Select an Intervention.
- 3. Then click the checkboxes to select the notes that reflect the intervention used with the patient.
- 4. If you desire to review all of the intervention statements associated with the targeted problem, click the Show All Interventions for this Problem check box at the bottom of the Select an Intervention window.
- 5. Only the Primary Provider may see all notes; any Team Member may see the notes that he or she created.

## **Copying Progress Notes/Group Notes**

Thera*Scribe*® allows you to create a progress note for one patient, then copy the progress note and session details to other patient records. Doing so might be particularly useful for updating the records of patients participating in psychoeducational/didactic sessions or other therapy groups; this easy and helpful tool can be a valuable timesaver.

- 1. Choose any group member, and follow the steps for entering Session Detail information.
- 2. Use the Progress Notes Planner screen or Psychotherapy Notes screen to create session notes.
- 3. Click the Copy button to the right of the Session Details data grid.
- 4. A Select Patients to Copy Progress Data To window will appear, allowing you to select the patient to whom the note should be copied.
- 5. The window will list all patients associated with the current user of Thera*Scribe*® that meet both of the following criteria:
  - Have a primary or secondary problem in common with the progress note just created.
  - Have been assigned to you as a Provider, Supervisor, or Team Member.
- 6. Click on the check boxes next to the patients' names into whose record you would like to copy the progress note and session data. Click OK.
- 7. Copying a Progress Note to another patient's record will cause an entry to be made to the Log of Patient Record Access for the given patient. That log is available for reference as a data grid on the HIPAA screen in the Personal Data group. A Comment will be placed in the log that indicates that a note has been copied by a specified provider into this record along with a date and time of copying.

	?			
Patient: Ju	dy A. Sample	,		
Date	Start	End	Provider	Add
10/24/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Doe, John	
8/23/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Provider, Default	Delete
8/14/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default	
8/7/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default	Сору
<ul><li>Problem</li><li>Anxiety</li></ul>				Add Delete
	s for Anxiety			
Presenta	tion			Add
Presenta	tion	nptoms of pre	occupation with worry that something dire will happen.	Add

## 3.4.3 Objective Rating

The Objective Rating screen allows you to rate your patient's progress toward achieving the objectives you set out on the Objectives/Interventions screen of the Treatment Plan. As on the other Progress group screens, the Session data grid will appear at the top of your screen, providing an reference point for key information.

TIP: Being able to review quickly your patient's Objective Ratings over time will give you a helpful tool for assessing the effectiveness of the Treatment Plan. View prior progress ratings by clicking on different dates within the Session data grid.

## **Entering Ratings**

- 1. By default, you will see all objectives selected for the patient. You may choose to limit the view to objectives associated with a certain problem. To do so, use the dropdown list in the middle of the screen to select a Problem.
- 2. You may assign a rating for each displayed objective by clicking in the Rating box behind the appropriate objective. Use the dropdown list to choose a rating: Significant Regression, Regression, No Change, Some Progress, or Completed.
- 3. You may use the Objective Ratings screen in a way that best serves your needs and work habits. Progress toward objectives may be rated sporadically, or after each session with your patient.

atient: Ju	dy A. Sample	•			
Date	Start	End	Provider		Add
0/24/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Doe, John		
/23/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Provider, Default		Delete
/14/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default		
Ja Jacobia		10:00 AM	Dense (allow, Den Caral)		Contract
	9:00 AM		Provider, Default		Сору
	)	10:00 AM	Provider, Default	Rating	
roblem (all Objective Complete	) e : a thorough m		ew by a physician who is a specialist in dea	-	
Complete with chro Describe	) a thorough m nic pain or hea current and p.	edication revi adache conditi ast experience	ew by a physician who is a specialist in dea	-	
Complete with chro Describe complete	) a thorough m nic pain or hea current and p- with their imp	edication revi adache conditi ast experience act on functio	ew by a physician who is a specialist in dea ons. es with the worry and anxiety symptoms,	-	

## 3.4.4 Psychotherapy Notes

The Psychotherapy Notes screen in the Progress group provides a narrative notes field in which you can comment on your patient's progress for each session. You may wish to elaborate on records chosen in the Progress Notes Planner or simply make your own observations regarding the themes, symptoms, and interventions that were part of a session. Using a rich text format, you can enter an unlimited amount of information.

## **Entering Psychotherapy Notes:**

- 1. Refer to the Sessions data grid at the top of your screen and click on the Session for which you would like to enter notes.
- 2. Click in the Psychotherapy Notes field and type your notes.
- 3. Choose a new session to enter other notes or continue work on a different screen.

Psychotherapy Notes							?	
Patient: Jud	ly A. Sample	e						
Date	Start	End	Provider					Add
10/24/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Doe, John					
8/23/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Provider, Default					Delete
8/14/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default					
8/7/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default					Сору
Psychotherap	by Notes							_
<u> B / U</u>	ab∈∣≣	🔋 💝 🛛 Aria	l 🚽 (	8	·≣≣	=		
Patient makir	ng progress.							

## 3.4.5 SOAP

Professionals in the medical and psychological fields often use SOAP notes while working with patients or clients. They are an easy-to-understand process of capturing the critical points during an interaction.

SOAP notes are structured and ordered so that only vital and pertinent information is included.

Initially developed by Larry Weed fifty years ago, these notes provide a "*framework* for evaluating information [and a] cognitive framework for clinical reasoning," (Gossman, Lew, & Ghassemzadeh, 2020).

## **Components of SOAP Note**

- **Subjective.** The subjective part details the observation of a health care provider to a patient. This could also be the observations that are verbally expressed by the patient.
- **Objective.** All measurable data such as vital signs, pulse rate, temperature, etc. are written here. It means that all the data that you can hear, see, smell, feel, and taste are objective observations. If there are any changes regarding of the patient's data, it will also be written here.
- **Assessment.** The assessment is where the diagnoses of the patient are addressed and interpreted. The assessment should explain well the reason behind the decision to clarify the diagnoses expressed by the health care providers.
- **Plan.** The plan refers to the treatment that the patient may need or is advised by the therapist. The changes in the intervention are also written here.

🕱 The	eraScribe						>
File	Go Help						
<b>N</b> Home	Select Patient						
Prog	gress	2	Soap				
	SessionDetails	Patient	Al Coholic				
1	Progress Notes Planner	Date	Group	Start	End	Provider	Add
0	Objective Rating	9/6/201	-	12:00 AM	12:00 AM	Provider, Administator	
E	Psychotherapy Notes	9/6/201	l4 No	12:00 AM	12:00 AM	Provider, Administator	Delete
	Soap						Сору
	Session Custom Fields						
1	Group Session	Subject	ive				
<b>–</b>		в	7 <u>U</u> abe  ≣	🔋 💝 Arial		• 10 • <b>≣</b> ≣ ≣	
5		Objectiv B 2		😮 🍣 Arial		• 10 • <b>重</b> 喜 酒	
<u></u>	Assessment						
1	Treatment Plan	Assess					
	Progress	B	7 <u>U</u> abe  ≣⊟	🤫 💝 Arial		· 10 · Ē Ē Ē	
<b>→</b> ⊼	Prognosis / Discharge						
<u></u>	Appointment Scheduler	Plan B	7 <u>U</u> abe∣≣≣	🤫 🍄 Arial		• 10 • <b>≡ ≡ ≡</b>	
	Reports	I					
	<b>⊻</b> @						

## 3.4.6 Session Custom Fields

The Session Custom Fields screen in the Progress group displays specific custom fields created to record other data about sessions.

The custom fields must be set up by the Administrator in the Custom Fields screen in the Tools group. Fields may be set up to capture text, dates, currency, and other types of data. The Field Names of the custom fields created by your system administrator are listed in the left-hand side of the screen. Blank data fields to capture the custom data are listed to the right of the custom field name in the Value column.

To enter custom data:

- 1. Click the Value field into which you want to enter data. Click Edit, or double-click on the blank value field.
- 2. A window will open, allowing entry of data through typing on the keyboard or using dropdown lists.
- 3. Click OK when you have finished entering your data.

Advanced users who wish to integrate the fields into appropriate sections of a Clinical Record Report may do so by customizing a report to that end (see Creating Custom Reports in the Reports section).

Session Custom Fields							
Patient: JudyA. Sample							
Date	Start	End	Provider		Add		
10/24/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Doe, John				
8/23/2006	9:00 AM	9:30 AM	Provider, Default		Delete		
8/14/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default				
8/7/2006	9:00 AM	10:00 AM	Provider, Default		Сору		
Charge \$10	10						
charge pro							

## 3.4.7 Group Session

## Add Clients to Progress Group Session

- 1. Under Progress select Group Session
- 2. Either select existing Session or Add a new session
- 3. Locate the Other Patients in the Group Session section and click Add
- 4. Use filters at the bottom of screen to generate list of episodes to select from
- 5. Select Episode/Clients to add
- 6. Click Add to add clients to group session

Select E	pisodes to include	in the Group Session			
	ID Number 54871 13006 13987	Name Gosenburg, Michael Sample, Judy Samuelson, Belinda		Treatment Start 7/15/2011 9/6/2006 1/6/2000	Add Cancel
Select F Filter Searc		for	Clear	🗹 Show Onļ	y Latest Episode

## Add Providers to Progress Group Session

- 1. Under Progress select Group Session (if not already on that screen)
- 2. Either select existing Session or Add a new Session (if not already selected)
- 3. Locate the Other Providers in the Group Session section

4. Click Add button (select provider and click delete to remove Provider from session)

Select Providers	×
<ul> <li>Brown, Sue M (Ph.D.)</li> <li>McAurthur, Sara B (Ph.D.)</li> <li>Thompson, Brian L (Ph.D.)</li> </ul>	
OK Cance	1

- 5. Select Providers to add from Provider list
- 6. Click Add to accept or Cancel to reject selections

## 3.4.8 Amendments

This option is only available if a locking option is enabled. See Tools/System Settings for more detail.

The Amendments screen in the Progress group provides an important record of changes you may need to make in your patient's clinical record. If amendments are made, you can document them here for the protection of both you and your patient.

If the locking feature has been enabled on the HIPAA screen in the Tools section, then progress notes will be locked when the user leaves the screen or switches to another patient record. Changes to notes may be made only through the Amendments screen.

### Making Amendments to a Patient's Record

- 1. Using the Sessions data grid at the top of your screen, select the session for which you need to add an amendment.
- 2. Click Add to the right of the Amendments data grid.
- 3. An Amendments Entry window will appear, allowing you to type in the amendment in a rich text format.
- 4. When you are ready to save your entry, click OK.
- 5. You will be prompted to confirm your entry with the following statement and question: "Once saved, amendments cannot be edited. Are you sure you want to continue?"
- 6. Click Yes to save the amendment. Click No to return to the Amendments Entry window. You can then make changes to your notes or click Cancel.
- 7. Once saved, you will have a permanent record of the amendment on file, with the Date Entered also noted.

📝 Am	endment	s			0		
Patient: Jud	ly A. Sample	e					
Date 10/24/2006 8/23/2006 8/14/2006 8/7/2006	Start 9:00 AM 9:00 AM 9:00 AM 9:00 AM	End 9:30 AM 9:30 AM 10:00 AM 10:00 AM	Provider Doe, John Provider, Default Provider, Default Provider, Default	Lock Date 10/30/2006	Add Delete Copy		
Amendments Date Entere		ment			Add		
Date Entered Amendment Add							

## 3.5 Prognosis/Discharge

The Prognosis/Discharge group screens provide an overview of the treatment picture. With the ability to review several key statistics at a glance, you can define projected levels of achievement and the time in which you hope to accomplish

them with your patient. You can also plan for important components of your patient's life following the time spent in treatment with you.



## 3.5.1 Prognosis Details

The Prognosis Details screen allows you to record the projected treatment outcome.

- Objectives may be marked as critical on the Objectives/Interventions screen in the Treatment Plan group. The Percent of Critical Objectives Required for Discharge indicates the percent of those critical objectives that must be resolved before you can consider discharging the patient from your care. Use the dropdown list to select the percentage.
- 2. You can enter the Projected Date of Treatment End, as well as Projected Number of Sessions Before Treatment End, by clicking on their respective fields to type in data or by selecting from the dropdown lists.
- 3. Select an overall Prognosis Rating of the Successful Achievement of Goals from the dropdown list, which includes these ratings: Excellent, Good, Fair, Guarded, Poor. You may also type your own description of the prognosis into the field.
- 4. Looking beyond the key statistics, you can also enter a narrative rationale for your prognosis. Your insights here can be a valuable guide for yourself and your patient as you move forward with the treatment plan.

📌 Prognosis Details	0
Patient: JudyA. Sample	
Percent of Critical Objectives Required for Discharge	70%
Projected Number of Sessions Before Treatment End	8 🗢
Projected Date of Treatment End	10/7/2006
Prognosis Rating of Successful Achievement of Goals	Good
Rationale for Prognosis Rating	
B I U abe 🗄 🤫 Arial	• 8 • <mark>三</mark> 三 三
Judy is strongly motivated to work on her iss	sues and she has a good support network.

## 3.5.2 Discharge Details

The Discharge Details screen allows you to select criteria that must be met before your patient can be discharged from treatment.

This screen also enables you to provide an overview of important details regarding your patient's life after discharge. You might ask: Is he competent to manage self-care and financial resources? What kind of follow-up care would best meet her needs? How will vocational plans fit in with life after treatment? The answers to these and other questions can be summarized on the Discharge Details screen.

## Creating a Plan for Aftercare and Discharge

- 1. Click Add to the right of the Discharge Criteria data grid. Check appropriate criteria from the Select Discharge Criteria window, based on your knowledge of your patient's needs and the Treatment Plan as a whole.
- 2. Use the dropdown lists to select relevant choices for Competency to Manage Self-Care and Competency to Manage Financial Resources (Competent, Competent: Needs Training, Incompetent: Can Benefit from Training, Incompetent)
- 3. For Follow-Up Care, you can use the dropdown list to select from the following: Community Mental Health Center, Court Services, Social Services, Substance Abuse Rehabilitation, Outpatient Rehabilitation.
- 4. When you make a referral, type the name of that person or agency in the Referral Made field.
- 5. For Placement Recommendations, your patient may need any of the following: Self Care, Own Family, Nursing Home, Community Residential Rehabilitation Services, Domicilary/Boarding Home, or Foster Care.
- 6. Use the dropdown list to select a Vocational Plan from the following: Return to part-time job, Return to full-time job, Seek part-time job, Seek full-time job, Sheltered Workshop.
- 7. Enter the patient's Actual Treatment End Date using the dropdown calendar.
- 8. A narrative text field is available for recording a detailed Aftercare Plan/Discharge Summary for the patient. You can enter an unlimited amount of information in this rich text field.

## TheraScribe Help

Discharge Details	?
Patient: JudyA. Sample	
Discharge Criteria Description Mood, behavior and thought stabilized sufficiently to independently carry out basic self-care.	Add
Verbalizes names of supportive resources who can be contacted if feeling suicidal/homicidal. Hallucinations or delusions controlled enough to not interfere with basic self-care.	Delete
Competency to Manage Self-Care       Competent         Competency to Manage Financial Resources       Competent         Follow-up Care       Outpatient Therapy         Referral Made to       Image: Care image:	
Aftercare Plan / Discharge Summary	
B I U abe 1 ⋮ 3 ♥ Arial • 8 • ■ ■ ■	

## 3.6 Appointment Scheduler

The Thera*Scribe*® 5.0 Appointment Scheduler screen provides an invaluable tool for you as an individual clinician and as part of a larger practice. Having an easy, efficient way to manage your schedule is key to helping you work at your full potential as a provider, and an important factor in meeting the needs of your patients.

The Thera*Scribe*® Appointment Scheduler can track your schedule, allowing you to enter patient appointments, meetings, and other commitments. As you quickly scan a day, week, or month at a glance, you can also:

- Gauge your workload and make appropriate adjustments
- Make treatment plan decisions for individual patients (e.g., frequency of sessions)
- Coordinate work with groups of patients and outside providers

In a practice with multiple providers, you can also track the schedules of colleagues. The Thera*Scribe*® Appointment Scheduler gives you a general overview of their schedules as well, enabling you to:

- Arrange for practice meetings and consultations during open time slots
- See and track sessions for patients for whom you are also responsible

TIP: If you are the primary provider, supervisor, or treatment team member for a given patient, you will have access to his or her appointment schedule with other providers. Otherwise, a patient appointment will simply appear as a general note on the general calendar.

The Thera*Scribe*® Appointment Scheduler can also be used by a person responsible for scheduling appointments at your organization. This person would be designated as a Maintenance User.

<b>i</b> A	Appointment Sch	neduler		?				
	Brown, Sue	Doe, John	Smith, Jim	White, Diane 🔥				
	Tuesday, Oct 24	Tuesday, Oct 24	Tuesday, Oct 24	Tuesday, Oct 24				
8 <sup>AM</sup>								
900		Session with Judy						
1000								
1100				=				
<b>12</b> PM								
100								
200								
300								
4º				×				
<								
Pri	Print Preview 🎁 Add Session 🌟 Add Other Event 🍸 Select Providers							

### Selecting a Date

You can select a specific date by using the small monthly calendar located in the upper left corner of the Appointment Scheduler screen.

- 1. Click the date you wish to view, and a listing of that day's times and events will appear.
- 2. Click Today to be brought immediately to the current day.

3. If you would like to view a different month or year, click the left and right arrows on either side of the month and year.



### Printing a Copy of Your Appointment Schedule

- 1. Click Print Preview on the Action Bar at the bottom of the Appointment Scheduler screen to access a view of the calendar from which you can print.
- 2. Report Type: Select how you'd like to view your data -- by day, week, month, work week, similar to the options at the bottom of the Appointment Scheduler screen.
- 3. Date Range: Select start date and end date for Report. All dates will print regardless of whether there are appointments.
- 4. When selections have been made, click Apply to refresh the data on the report.
- 5. Use the Print Toolbar to make any formatting changes you desire and then also to print a copy of the calendar for your reference.
- 6. In addition to printing, one can search, zoom in, change background color, save as PDF and email.

🔡 Calendar Re	port				
Report Type: Da	y View	Start date: 1/1/2012	✓ End date: 1/6/2012 ✓	Apply	Close
- A   A	१७ ० । ०	、 100% 🔻 🔍 🛛 🗸 🕨	N   🗎 🔌 🔯   🖬 • 🖂 •   😂	÷	
					<u>^</u>
			January 2012	February 2012	
	0.1	T 2012	S M T W T F S	S M T W T F S	
	01.	January 2012	1 2 3 4 5 <b>6</b> 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14	1234 567891011	
	Sunda	īv	15 16 17 18 19 20 21	12 13 14 15 16 17 18	
	Starter	-	22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	19 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29	
			27 30 31	20 27 20 27	
			Sunday, January 01		
			Jongsma, Arthur E (Ph.D.)		
	7ам				
	800				
	0				
	900				
	1000				
	1100				
					~
<	1	1			
Page 1 of 6				100% -	- <b>-</b>

### Selecting Active Start Time and End Time

- 1. To select the Active Start Time and Active End Time for your day, go to the System Settings screen in the Tools group.
- 2. Use the dropdown lists to select the desired times.

🔯 System Settings	
Prompt user to enter a Disclosure Request when printing or exporting Only the Primary Provider and Session Provider can view Progress Notes Detail	Automatic User Time-out
Progress Note Locking Options	Minutes Before Timeout Occurs 5 📚
No Locking	Scheduler Options
O Lock when leaving Progress Note Screen	Active Start Time 7:00 AM
Lock when leaving Patient	Active End Time 5:00 PM

## 3.6.1 Sessions

Adding a Session

- 1. Click Add Session on the Action Bar at the bottom of the Appointment Scheduler screen to schedule a new session with a patient.
- 2. You will be brought to the New Session window. Use the dropdown calendars and lists to enter Date, Start and End Times, Patient Name, Provider, and Modality. Use the check box to indicate Billable time.
- 3. One can also search for a client by simply beginning to type the client name in the Patient dropdown. (Version 20.1 and newer)
- 4. Click Appointment Scheduler on the Navigation Bar to return to the Scheduler screen, where the new session will appear.
- 5. Version 20.1 introduces adding a note to appointments which will appear on the calendar.

New Sessio	n						×
Session Da	te 1/14/2021	Ŧ	Start Time	8:00 AM	▼ End Tim	e 8:30 AM	Ŧ
Patient	Coholic, Al						Ŧ
Provider	Provider, Admi	nistator					Ŧ
	CPT Code	Modality				Add	
Modalities						Delete	
Is Billable Note	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>						
BZ	<u>U</u> abe∣:≘	🤫 💝 Arial	I	- 10	• <b>E</b>	≣≣	
New Not	e						
-	Go to	Recur	rence		OK	Cance	el

### **Create Recurring Session**

NOTE: Recurring sessions are a convenience and because of all the interrelationships with providers and clients, once a recurring session is created, edits and deletions are limited -- see below.

- 1. To create a recurring session, either select a session to edit by double clicking or right clicking and selecting edit OR click Add Session.
- 2. Appointment Recurrence screen will appear.

3. Click Recurrence button (see above) and Appointment Recurrence screen is displayed

C Appointment Recurrence		×
Recurrence pattern Daily Weekly Monthly Yearly	1 🗢 day(s) weekday	
Range of recurrence		
Start: 1/6/2012		
	◯ End after: 1 🗢 occurrences	
	⊙ End by: 1/6/2012 ▼	
OK Cancel	Remove Recurrence	

- 4. Select pattern of recurrence
- 5. Select Range of recurrence: either # of occurences or date of last occurence.
- 6. Select OK to accept recurrence or Cancel to reject changes.

-- Note that on Appointment Scheduler screen, recurring sessions are preceded by a circle of 2 curved arrows.

8. Once a session recurrence has been set up, the following editing parameters are in effect:

- 1. Locked sessions cannot be edited or deleted.
- 2. For future individual sessions, user will be given option to delete either just the current session or this session and all future occurences of this session.
- 3. Any changes to recurring sessions already past will ONLY apply to the currently selected session.
- 4. Once created, a session recurrence cannot be edited -- for example, a user cannot change a recurrence from weekly to monthly w/o deleting all occurrences of a session first. However, one can create a new recurrence from an existing session that would leave the current recurrence in place. E.g.: a client could be member of a recurring session that meets once every Monday. From a specific session, one could then create a recurrence that meets once every month on Monday for this client. The previously existing recurring session would remain unchanged and still be scheduled every Monday.

- 5. When deleting future sessions, all sessions from today's date -- regardless of which session is currently selected -- will be deleted.
- 9. Additional considerations for Group Sessions
  - 1. For future group sessions, user will be given the option of deleting the session for the current patient or deleting the session for all members of the group session.
  - 2. If user changes times on a future recurring group session, user will be given option of changing times for all users in the session or just removing the currently selected user from the group session and effectively creating a new individual session for the currently selected patient. The user can then flesh out details of the new individual session.

## 3.6.2 Other Events

## Adding Other Events

- 1. Click Add Other Event on the Action Bar at the bottom of the Appointment Scheduler screen to schedule other appointments unrelated to patient care.
- 2. A New Event window will allow you enter data regarding personal appointments (e.g., lunch with a spouse), professional appointments (e.g., conferences and seminars), and practice-related appointments (e.g., staff development meetings).
- 3. Use the dropdown lists to select Start Date and Time and End Date and Time, or type in the dates and times.
- 4. Enter the Subject and click All Day Event if that applies.
- 5. Use the rich text box at the bottom to enter any narrative notes you wish to include about the appointment.
- 6. Click OK to add the appointment to your calendar or Cancel to return to the Appointment Scheduler screen without making the changes.

### TheraScribe Help

New Event for	Brown, Sue				
Start Date/Time	1/16/2012	9:00 AM			
End Date/Time	1/16/2012	9:30 AM 👻			
All Day Even	t				
Subject					
Note					
B I U abe 등 😳 🍄 Arial 🔹 8 ▾ 📰 🚍 🚍					
	Recurrence	OK Cancel			

### **Create Recurring Other Event**

- 1. To add a recurring event (on the New Event Screen, above) click the Recurrence button which brings up Appointment Recurrence screen.
- 2. Select Pattern of Recurrence, weekly, monthly, etc.
- 3. Select Range of recurrence: Start date and either # of occurences or date of last occurrence
- 4. Select OK to accept recurrence or Cancel to reject changes.
- 5. Note that on Appointment Scheduler screen, recurring events are designated by a pre-pended icon of a circle of 2 curved arrows.

🔁 Appointment Rec	currence	×
Recurrence pattern Daily Weekly Monthly Yearly	<ul> <li>Every 1 ago day(s)</li> <li>Every weekday</li> </ul>	
Range of recurrence Start: 1/6/2012		
	<ul> <li>○ End after: 1   occurrences</li> <li>⊙ End by: 1/6/2012  </li> </ul>	
	Cancel Remove Recurrence	

1. To remove occurences of a recurring event, navigate to the Appointment Recurrence screen (above) and click Remove Recurrence and all instances of Other Event will be removed except the current one.

## 3.6.3 Add Providers to Appointments

## Selecting Which Providers to Include on Appointment Scheduler Screen

 Click Providers on the Action Bar at the bottom of the Appointment Scheduler screen to select the providers whose schedules you would like to see included on this screen. You might choose to select providers with whom you share patients, providers with openings to whom you can refer new patients, or all providers to be included in a given staff meeting. Thera*Scribe*®'s flexible nature provides you with a variety of easily accessible options.

Select Providers	×
<ul> <li>Brown, Sue</li> <li>Doe, John</li> <li>Smith, Jim</li> <li>White, Diane</li> </ul>	
OK Cancel	)

### Selecting Different Views for the Appointment Scheduler Screen

- 1. Use the Action Bar at the bottom of the Appointment Scheduler screen to select a Day, Week, Month, or Work Week view.
- 2. Select your choice by clicking on Day, Week, Month, or Work Week. If an option is not displayed, click the down arrow to the right of the Action Bar to see hidden options.
- 3. Click a new choice to change the view again.

TIP: The more providers or days displayed at one time, the smaller the amount of space available for displaying information regarding the appointments of each. So, use this selection function to choose the display that best meets your needs at the moment.

TIP: In the Day View, you can select the calendar time interval by right clicking on the time display on the left.

Print Preview	Add Session	📩 Add Other Event 🛛 🧻	Select Providers	Day	😽 Week	📆 Month	🚼 Work Week
		141				31	3

## 3.7 Reports

The Reports group screens in Thera*Scribe*® offer an array of built-in clinical records. You can choose the record that best meets your needs. The choices include:
- Richly formatted clinical record
- Lightly formatted clinical record
- Richly formatted concise clinical record
- Lightly formatted concise clinical record
- Session Data
- Biopsychosocial History

You may use the Clinical Record Report screen to print or export clinical reports in their entirety. You may also select which sections of the built-in clinical record reports you wish to print or export to a word processor.

The Administrative Reports screen includes seven built-in administrative reports:

- Patient list
- Address Labels
- Provider Case Load
- Diagnosis History
- Provider Diagnosis Breakdown
- Time in Treatment
- Clinical Documentation Timeline

#### Reports

Clinical Record Reports

Administrative Reports

#### **Importing and Exporting Reports**

You may decide to work with the Thera*Scribe*® developer or another technical specialist to create a custom report format for your patients. If you do, follow these steps to import and export reports to and from your system.

- 1. Go to the Clinical Record Reports screen or Administrative Reports screen, as appropriate for your custom report type.
- 2. To import a report, click Add.
- 3. In the New Report dialog box, select Blank Report. Click OK.
- 4. Click Properties. The Report Properties dialog box will appear.
- 5. Click Import.
- 6. The Select a Thera*Scribe*® Report Template Document dialog box will appear.

7. Type in a title for the report to be imported in the Name field or select it with your mouse. Click Open to import the report.

#### Exporting Reports

- 1. To export a report for modification by a third party, go to the Clinical Record Reports screen or Administrative Reports screen, as appropriate for your custom report type.
- 2. Click to highlight the report you wish to export.
- 3. Click Properties.
- 4. In the Report Properties dialog box, click Export.
- 5. In the Thera*Scribe*® Report Document Template Export window, type in a File Name for the report.
- 6. Choose the location to which you plan to export the report.
- 7. Click Save.

### 3.7.1 Clinical Record Reports

#### **Choosing a Clinical Record Report Format**

On the Clinical Record Reports screen, you can select the type of built-in clinical record report you wish to generate.

- 1. Select a report from the Report data grid by clicking on it.
- The Richly Formatted Clinical Record contains an attractively designed report listing all of the fields in Thera*Scribe*®.
- The Richly Formatted Concise Clinical Record features the most commonly used fields in Thera*Scribe*®.
- The Lightly Formatted versions of each report are ideal for launching as RTF (rich text format) files for editing within any word processor.
- The Session Data report allows for the printing of the patient's Name, Date of Report, and several pieces of objective information regarding the treatment session: Session Number, Date of Session, Start and End Time, Duration of the Session, CPT code linked to the session, treatment Modality used for the session, Provider, and overall Progress Rating entered for the session.

The Session Date Filter is available for this report, allowing you to select a date or a range of dates that the report will cover. In the Sessions Date Filter fields, use the dropdown calendars to select the appropriate dates for the information you plan to view.

Sessio	on Date Filter					
From	10/2/2006	*	to	10/30/2006	~	🗹 All Dates

• Biopsychosocial History Report: produces a summary of data from the Biopsychosocial History Assessment screen. See below for selecting/changing properties.

#### **Viewing Selected Report Sections**

You can customize your report by using the checklist at the bottom of the screen. Choices include: Personal Data, Authorized Data, Assessment, Diagnosis, Treatment Techniques, Presenting Problems, Treatment Plan, Response to Plan, Progress Notes, Objective Ratings, Prognosis, Discharge, Provider Credentials, and General Notes.

- 1. By default, the (all) box and all report sections will be checked.
- 2. If you want to specify only certain report sections, click an item that is already selected to deselect it.
- 3. Each time you print/preview a report, the selections/unselections made will be remembered the next time that report is selected.

View Report Sections		
🗹 (all)	🗹 Response to Plan	Requested Amendments
🗹 Personal Data	🗹 Session Details	Disclosure Authorizations
🗹 Authorized Data	🗹 - Progress Notes	🗹 General Notes
Assessment	🗹 - Psychotherapy Notes	
🗹 Diagnosis	🗹 Objective Ratings	
🗹 Treatment Techniques	🗹 Prognosis	
V Presenting Problems	🗹 Discharge	
🗹 Treatment Plan	🗹 Provider Credentials	

4. In **Ver. 20.1** one can hide reports that are not used.

Reports	🙀 Clinical Record Reports	
Clinical Record Reports	Patient Test Patient2	
Administrative Reports	Report Lighty Formatted Select Report, click Properties & tick the Hilde Report checkbox	Preview
	Richly Formatted Concise	Properties
Personal Data	Clinical Soap Report -SQL Episode Scial/Security, Episode Binloar/Episode Gender, Episode Race, Episode Martal/Status, Episode Mitray-Bander, Episode Mitray-Pank, Clinical SOAP Episode TreatmentEnd/Date, Episode Jat Rever Wate, Episode Mitray-Pank,	Add
Assessment	Patent Is-Active. Episode High Terstown Treatment, Episode Department, Episode Settin, Episode Argunatist, Episode Amplicatist, Episode Employer, Episode ReferalSacte: Episode MaternResponse. Episode Generances, Episode PatenrResponse.	
Treatment Plan	Session Date Filter Epipode Session for Session Auth.	
Sector Progress	View Report Sections	

#### **Previewing and Printing Reports**

The Preview function allows you to see all the data you have collected and stored on various Thera*Scribe*® screens in a report form. The clinical report template you have chosen will determine the amount of data and the form in which it is presented. The clinical report will be generated for the patient name indicated near the top of your screen. Note: In the Trial Edition, the preview of the report is read-only and cannot be edited or printed.

- 1. Click Preview to preview the report as a document in your word processor. You can make changes and edit the report as you desire.
- 2. Print the report if desired.

TIP: This report and any changes you make to this document can be saved in your word processor by using the save function. However, these changes will not be made on the related Thera*Scribe*® screens.

3. Close your word processor to return to the Clinical Record screen.

Note: Changes that you make to clinical record reports in your word-processor version will not be stored in Thera*Scribe*®. To permanently alter report formats and contents, use the custom reports function described later in this section.

	l.doc (R	ead-Only	/) - Micr	osoft Wo	ord									
Eile Edit View	Insert	F <u>o</u> rmat	<u>T</u> ools	T <u>a</u> ble <u>W</u>	Vindow <u>ł</u>	<u>H</u> elp					Τγ	/pe a que:	stion fo	r help 🛛 🗸
i 🗋 💕 🔙 🖪	8 8	실   🍣	X   🗸	ի 🖺	19	- @ -	- 😫 🍃		III 🛷	🔍 🖓	100%	•   🏨	Read	<u>   A</u> -
<b>-------------</b>	• 1 • •		2 · · ·		3 <b>_</b> 1 1 1	$\mathbf{E}^{(1)} \in$	· 4. · · ·	L · · ·	£ · · ·	E S S	•€••	e E e e	· 2 ·	· · & · 7
_					Clini	ical I	Record							
Na	ime: <b>Ju</b>	dy A. Sa	mple		Provide	r: Def	fault Provi	ider			)ate: <b>10</b> /3	30/2006		
Personal	Data													
					Di-Al-		074046	-						
	D: 1	dain St					8/7/1946 60	-	reatmen viously T			•		
		Main St.				Date: 1 Age: 1 1der: 1	60	Prev	reatmen viously T . Care Pf	reated?	: No			
Addres	D: 1				Ger	Age: nder: Race:	60 Female Caucasian	Prev	viously T . Care Pl Ei	reated? nysician mployer	: No : DrSm	iith		
Addres Cit State/Provinc	D: 1 s: 111 M y: Anyv e: MI	vhere			Ger F Aarital St	Age: nder: Race: atus:	60 Female Caucasian Married	Prev	viously T . Care Pl Ei Referra	reated? nysician mployer I Source	: No : DrSm : : Sue Ja	iith		
Addres	D: 1 s: 111 M s: Anyw se: MI le: 1111	vhere I			Ger	Age: nder: Race: atus: Rank:	60 Female Caucasian Married NA	Prev	viously T . Care Pl Ei Referra	reated? nysician mployer I Source chiatris	: No : DrSm : : Sue Ja	ith ckson		

#### **Creating Custom Reports**

Users with Administrator-level security may create customized clinical or administrative report templates by adapting the built-in reports using their word processing program. If you are a novice computer user, we urge you to leave the report customization function aside until you gain complete familiarity with Thera*Scribe*®. You may then want to try your hand at a variety of customizations suggested in this section.

Note: Creating custom reports can be time-consuming and challenging for less technical users. Report customization services are available from the Thera*Scribe*® developer, PEC Technologies, LLC. Contact PEC to inquire about customization services, at their website: <a href="https://www.pectechnologies.com/therascribe">www.pectechnologies.com/therascribe</a>, via email: <a href="https://www.pectechnologies.com/therascribe">therascribe@pectechnologies.com/therascribe</a>, via email: <a href="https://www.pectechnologies.com/therascribe">therascribe@pectechnologies.com</a> or phone: (616) 776-1745. Costs for report customization vary depending upon the extent of the alterations needed. You can also consult the TheraScribe® website at <a href="https://www.therascribe.com">www.therascribe.com</a>.

You may decide that you want to add your personal touch or improve a report template to better meet the needs of your patients and practice. To customize one of the Thera*Scribe*® versions of the Clinical Record Report, you must first make a copy of the report you wish to change.

To make a copy:

- 1. Click Add on the Clinical Records Reports screen.
- 2. Select Copy Existing Report and use the dropdown list to select the report you wish to change.
- 3. Click OK.

To customize a report:

- 1. Select a copied report.
- 2. Click Properties.
- 3. Using the Data Source dropdown, one can create highly customized and specific reports. Pick a data source and a corresponding SQL statement is displayed. N.B.: Only edit the SQL statement directly if you know the SQL language.
- 4. Click Edit. The report will be opened in your word processor, where you can then make changes.



5. Click Save to save changes.

#### Importing Report Templates from a Word Processor

Sometimes you may want to import a new report template from another source (e.g. something you have purchased from a professional developer or a new layout

you received at a conference). You can easily bring this new template into Thera*Scribe*® by using the Clinical Reports screen.

- 1. Click Add on the Clinical Record Reports screen.
- 2. Select Blank Report, as you will want to create a spot on the Reports data grid in which to import your new record.
- 3. Click Properties.
- 4. A Report Properties dialog box will appear. Click Import.
- 5. In the Thera*Scribe*® Report Template Document Import window that appears, select the report from your word processor.
- 6. You will be asked to confirm: "Are you sure you want to overwrite the template of the selected report?" Click Yes to import the new report. Click No to return to the Report Properties dialog box.

New R	leport	×
۲	Blank Report	
	Copy Existing Report	
	Lightly Formatted	
	OK Cancel	
		_

#### **Exporting Report Templates to a Word Processor**

- 1. Select a report and click Properties on the Clinical Record Reports screen.
- 2. A Report Properties window will appear, in which you can select a Data Source and then click Export.
- 3. In the Thera*Scribe*® Report Template Document Export window that appears, save the report to your word processor by giving the file a name and choosing a location in which to save it.
- 4. To return to Thera*Scribe*® close your word processor.

Name Lightly Formatted								
Data Source Episode 🗸 🖌 🗸 🗸 🗸								
SQL Statement								
SELECT Episode.EpisodeID, Episode.FirstName + '' + Iif(IsNull(Episode.MiddleInitial), ", Episode.MiddleInitial + '.') + Episode.LastName AS PatientName, Provider_2.ProviderName AS ProviderName, Episode.IDNumber, Episode.Address1, Episode.Address2, Episode.City, Episode.State, Episode.Zip, Episode.HomePhone, Episode.WorkPhone, Episode.SocialSecurity, Episode.BirthDay, Episode.Gender, Episode.Race, Episode.MaritalStatus, Episode.TreatmentStartDate, Episode.TreatmentEndDate, Episode.LastReviewDate, Episode.MilitaryRank, Patient.IsActive, Episode.HadPreviousTreatment, Episode.Department, Episode.Setting, Episode.ReferalSource, Episode.ModalityNote, Episode.ApproachNote, Episode.GeneralNotes, Episode.PatientResponse,								
Edit Delete Import Export								
Close								

## 3.7.2 Administrative Reports

The Administrative Reports screen in the Reports group of Thera*Scribe*® contains 7 main built-in administrative reports:

- Patient List gives the names and treatment start dates of patients. Lists can be generated showing all patients in the database, or those meeting specific criteria (e.g., female patients, active patients, patients tied to a specific provider).
- Address Labels generates a list of addresses suitable for printing directly onto laser-printer labels.
- The Provider Case Load report shows the current case load by provider. For each provider it shows the number of Active Cases, Opened Cases, and Closed Cases. The Active Cases are calculated by counting episodes where the specified date range overlaps the treatment start date or the treatment end date. Opened Cases are calculated by counting episodes where the treatment start date falls within the specified date range. Closed Cases are calculated by counting episodes where the treatment end date falls within the specified date range.
- Diagnosis History provides a summary of the selected patient's diagnosis history, including Treatment Start Date, Axis, Legal Code, and Description.

- Provider Diagnosis Breakdown provides a list of all diagnoses by gender for all Providers over a specified period of time.
- Time in Treatment provides a list of all providers with breakdowns of time in treatment by gender for 3 months, 6 months and 12 months or more.
- Clinical Documentation Timeline provides a summary of clients' treatment experience by provider.

Name       Preview         Patient List       Address Labels         Provider Case Load       Properties         Diagnosis History       Provider Diagnosis Breakdown         Time in Treatment       Add         Clinical Documentation Timeline       Image: Clinical Documentation Timeline	Administrative Reports	?
Address Labels       Provider Case Load       Properties         Diagnosis History       Provider Diagnosis Breakdown       Add         Time in Treatment       Add		Preview
Provider Case Load     Properties       Diagnosis History     Provider Diagnosis Breakdown       Time in Treatment     Add		
Diagnosis History     Properties       Provider Diagnosis Breakdown     Add       Time in Treatment     Add		
Diagnosis History Provider Diagnosis Breakdown Time in Treatment Add		Properties
Time in Treatment		
	Provider Diagnosis Breakdown	Add
Clinical Documentation Timeline	Time in Treatment	
	Clinical Documentation Timeline	
Patient Group Current Episode 🛛 🕑 Edit Groups	Patient Group Current Episode 🛛 🖌 Edit Groups	

#### **Generating Patient Lists and Address Labels**

- 1. Click to highlight the type of administrative report you wish to generate.
- 2. Both the Mailing Labels List and the Patient List default to printing all patient records in TheraScribe®.
- 3. To narrow the selection of patients to include on the address list or patient list, use the Patient Group dropdown list, where you can select certain patient groups.
- 4. Create new patient groups by clicking Edit Groups. The Patient Group window will appear.
- 5. Use the fields in this window to assign a new Group name in the first data grid and search criteria in the center data grid. (Consult the Analyze/Compare Groups of Patients section in the Outcomes section for a detailed explanation of how to create groups of patients.)

- 6. Click View Data to generate a list of patients meeting the selected criteria.
- 7. Click Close to return to the Administrative Reports screen.
- 8. Click Preview to preview the report.
- 9. Use the Report Toolbar at the top of the screen to access a variety of tools including: print, page setup, background, multiple pages, zoom, export, and send email.
- 10. Click on the Navigation Bar to return to the main Administrative Reports screen.





Patient Groups				X
Filter Name ▶ Patient List Female Patients	;			Add Delete
Conjunction	Field Name SecondaryProblems	Operator is not blank	Value	Add Delete
Filtered Episode Da	ata			
View Data				Close

#### **Generating Provider Case Load Reports**

- 1. Click to highlight Provider Case Load.
- 2. Click Preview and use the dropdown calendars to enter the Activity Start Date and Activity End Date in the Report Parameter window.
- 3. The Provider Case Load will display Active Cases, Open Cases, and Closed Cases.
- 4. Use the Report Toolbar at the top of the screen to access a variety of tools including: print, page setup, background, multiple pages, zoom, export, and send email.
- 5. Click on the Navigation Bar to return to the main Administrative Reports screen.

Administrative Reports			?
🕅 📑 🗄 🏹 🖑 🔍 🔍 100%		)   🕆 🐴 🔯   🗋 -	· → • • •
Provider Case Load R	eport From	10/30/2006 to 10/3	:0/2006
Provider Name	Active Cases	Opened Cases	Closed Cases
Sue Brown	0	0	0
John Doe	3	0	0
Default Provider	1	0	0
Jim Smith	0	0	0
Diane White	0	0	0
Totals:	4	0	0

Report Parameters	
Activity Start Date	10/30/2006 🕑
Activity End Date	10/30/2006 🛛 🖌
	DK Cancel

#### **Generating a Diagnosis History Report**

- 1. Click to highlight Diagnosis History.
- 2. Click Preview to view the report, which will include Patient Name, Treatment Start Date, Axis, Legal Code, Description, Date Added, and Date Deleted.
- 3. Use the Report Toolbar at the top of the screen to access a variety of tools including: print, page setup, background, multiple pages, zoom, export, and send email.
- 4. Click on the Navigation Bar to return to the main Administrative Reports screen.

🕵 Administ	rative Rep	orts				
88 8 8 9	🖑 🔍 🔍	100% 🔹 🔍 🗔	a da de   🕆 🐴 🔯   🖬	• 🗹 • 🗳	-	
Diagno	sis History	Report				
Patient:	Judy A. S	ample	Treatment Start Date:	8/7/2006		
<b>Axis</b> Axis	<b>Code</b> 1 300.03	<b>Description</b> 2 Generalized	Anxiety Disorder		Date Added	Date Deleted
Axis	1 V71.0	9 No Diagnos	is		8/23/2006	8/23/2006
Axis	2 \71.0	9 No Diagnos	is			

#### **Creating a Custom Administrative Report**

Creating customized administrative reports is somewhat less complicated than crafting custom clinical records:

- 1. On the Administrative Reports screen, click Add. A New Report dialog box will appear.
- 2. Type in a Name for the new report.
- 3. If you choose to start with a blank report, check the box adjacent to "Blank Report," and press OK to return to the administrative tab.
- 4. Select the report you just named, and click the Edit button to create the report.
- 5. You may copy and edit previously created custom reports by clicking the Copy Custom Report option and selecting a report to alter by using the dropdown menu. To return to the Administrative Reports tab, press OK. To alter the report (e.g., change font, add or delete fields), select the newly named report and press Edit.

Advanced TIP: Administrative Reports with the option set to Custom SQL can be configured to prompt for parameter values by using parameter values in the SQL statement. Parameters should start with the @ character and contain only letters and numbers. This is an example of an SQL statement with a parameter:

SELECT\*FROM Episode WHERE TreatementStartDate < @FilterDate

If a parameter names "CurrentEpisodeID" is used, then it will not be prompted for and the EpisodeID of the current episode will be used.

New R	leport	
	Blank Report Copy Existing Report	
	Patient List 💌	
	Patient List Address Labels Provider Case Load Diagnosis History	ncel



# 3.8 Outcomes

The Outcomes group screens allow you to access the Thera*Scribe*® database in order to analyze outcomes for a given patient. You may want to compare your patient to others while developing a treatment plan. You may also choose to assess your patient's progress in comparison to others as you hone your approaches or look ahead to future decisions.

The Outcomes group also enables you to look at groups of patients. As you proceed with treatment, you can analyze functional improvement or deterioration for a patient or group of patients meeting certain criteria that you have specified (e.g., active patients with depression treated by Dr. John Doe versus active patients with depression treated by Ms. Mary Smith).

A variety of measures are available for use in your analysis. These include: Progress Ratings, Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF) scores, Test Results, and Risk Assessment Results.

Outcomes				
$\square$	Selection Criteria			
ø	Results			

# 3.8.1 Selection Criteria

#### Selecting Specific Patients for Analysis/Comparison

- 1. Click Add Episodes to make selections for analysis.
- 2. The Select Episodes for Outcomes window will appear, allowing you to select a patient or multiple patients using the check boxes.
- 3. To see more than the most recent episode for each patient, click the check box by Show Only Latest Episode.
- 4. To select from All Patients, Providers, or Clinical Pathways, use the dropdown list.
- 5. If you choose "Provider," select the name of the provider from the dropdown that appears.
- 6. To Search for a specific person, use the dropdown list to choose the Field (Last Name, First Name, ID Number) and then click to enter a value in the text box.
- 7. When you are satisfied with your selections, click Select. To exit the window without making selections, click Cancel.

TIP: To save the given selection of patients for future reference, click Save Criteria. A dialog box will prompt you to Enter the Criteria Name.

TIP: If you have already set up Outcome Criteria in your previous work (descriptions of a certain selection of individuals and/or groups), you may click Open Criteria to view a list of these. Clicking the desired entry will then allow you to move quickly to your analysis.

Select E	pisodes for Outcom	les			×
	ID Number	Name Heys, Bob Peterson, Susan Sample, Judy Stone, Adam		Treatment Start 10/24/2006 6/4/2006 8/7/2006 10/24/2006	Select
Select Fi Filter Search		for	Clear	🗹 Show Onl	y Latest Episode

#### Selecting Specific Groups for Analysis/Comparison

- 1. Sometimes you will want to include specific groups in your analysis, either in comparison to one another or in conjunction with your analysis of an individual.
- 2. Click Add Groups to make your selections.
- 3. Use the check boxes in the Select Patient Groups window to designate the applicable groups.
- 4. Click OK to return to the Selection Criteria screen with your selections. Click Cancel to exit the window without making changes.

Select Patient Groups	
Select Name  Select Name  Patient List  Female Patients	
	OK Cancel

#### Analyzing and Comparing Data

You can analyze a variety of data types:

- Progress ratings
- Days in treatment
- Global assessment of functioning ratings (GAF for Current, Prior, and Current vs. Prior)
- Risk assessment ratings
- Test results (for one patient at multiple points in time)
- Test results across multiple patients
- 1. Use the dropdown list for Type of Data and click to select the type you desire.
- 2. Depending upon the Type of Data you choose to analyze, you may be prompted to select a Statistic Calculated (e.g., median or mean) or Points of Comparison (e.g., pre, post, and follow-up; multiple points in treatment) from dropdown menus.
- 3. If you choose test results, use the dropdown menus to select Instrument Group and Subscale, as needed.
- 4. Click Create Results to retrieve the data you selected for the patients chosen.

Type of Data	Session Progress Rating	~
Points of Comparison	Multiple Points in Treatment	~
Create Results		

#### Adding New Groups

- 1. If you wish to create a new group, defined with specific criteria by which you can conduct your analysis, click Edit Groups.
- 2. The Patients Group window will allow you to define your new group.
- 3. Click Add to the right of the Filter Name grid to provide a new line on which to type in the group name.
- 4. Once the name is entered, click Add to the right of the center data grid and continue by specifying several key elements:
- Conjunction ("AND" is the default, meaning patients who meet the criteria you are about to define as well as those in the previous row; "OR" can be chosen, meaning patients who meet this set of criteria or the one above, but not necessarily both)

TIP: If you want to focus your search, use the AND. If you want to broaden the field for which your criteria will apply, use the conjunction OR.

- Field Names (e.g., Approaches, Family History, Gender, Prognosis Rating, and many more)
- Operators (e.g., equal to, less than)
- Values (e.g., specific results to search for on the selected row, such as "female" if Gender was selected)

When you have finished selecting search criteria:

- 1. Click View Data button at the bottom of the window. Patients meeting the selected criteria will be displayed in the filtered Episode Data grid. Each line will supply a comprehensive overview of data about a given patient.
- 2. Click Create Results to move to the Results screen and view the analysis of your data.

TIP: If you want to print out a list of the patients who meet the sort criteria you have defined, go to the Reports/Administrative Reports screen and select Patient List from the Report Layout box. Select the desired Patient Group from the dropdown list and click Preview to view the report. Click the printer icon at the top left of the screen to print the list.

# 3.8.2 Results

The Results screen in the Outcomes group allows you to view and print graphic results for the patients and groups you select on the Selection Criteria screen. Thera*Scribe*® provides two helpful ways to see the results, by Graph and Table.

After choosing the selection criteria, you will automatically see a graph on the Results screen. The data will be represented by either a line graph or a bar graph, depending on the type of data.

- 1. Click the Table tab near the top of the screen to see a tabular representation of the same data. Use the tabs to move between Table and Graph screens.
- 2. If you would like to print the table or graph, click Print.

TIP: If you frequently search for outcomes based on the same type of data (e.g., GAF scores), you may save your criteria by clicking Save Criteria on the Selection Criteria screen. In the Save Outcome Criteria window, give the criteria a name, and indicate where it should be saved. Click Save. To retrieve and rerun those criteria, click the Open Criteria button, select the criteria file name, and click Open.



Results					0
Graph Table					
Name Sample, Judy A (	1	2	3	4	Add Delete Update Graph

# 3.9 Tools

The Tools group screens provide a comprehensive, efficient way for you to manage customizations throughout Thera*Scribe*®, thereby allowing you to maximize the benefits of the program for your practice.

Some of the many functions available in the Tools group include:

- Making changes to the listing of Providers and key data about each
- Editing Treatment Teams and Groups
- Creating Custom Fields throughout Thera*Scribe*® to tailor the screens for your unique needs
- Setting Defaults for certain screens where you often enter the same data
- Customizing your Shortcut Bar
- Planning custom Treatment Plans for quick and easy future use
- Preparing custom Progress Notes for recurring problems in your patients
- Editing Dropdown Lists and Other Libraries not related to Practice*Planner*® modules
- Managing the import and export of content from your Database
- Prescribing System Settings related to privacy issues.
- Setting preferences related to the Home Page and Appointment Scheduler.

The Tools group screens are intended to be used by the Thera*Scribe*® Administrator. It is accessible only to users who are assigned Administrator or Advanced level security on the Providers screen in this group. The users assigned the Maintenance level of security may be allowed access to the Database screen in this section only if this access is enabled on the System Settings screen.

<ul> <li>Providers</li> <li>Teams / Groups</li> <li>Custom Fields</li> <li>Default Settings</li> </ul>	Tool	S
Custom Fields Default Settings	-	Providers
Default Settings	4	Teams / Groups
	•	Custom Fields
		Default Settings
Kortcut Bar	<b>&gt;</b>	Shortcut Bar
🚺 Treatment Planners	2	Treatment Planners
🏄 Progress Note Planners	1	Progress Note Planners
ibraries	5	Libraries
📒 Database	9	Database
🎻 System Settings	Ż	System Settings

### 3.9.1 Providers

The Providers screen in the Tools group allows you to enter the names of providers who will be adding data to Thera*Scribe*® for their patients.

Only an Administrator may add new providers to the program, or edit the data pertaining to existing providers.

Last Name	First Name	MI	Degree	License	Title	Security Level	Activated	Login Name	A Add
Brown	Sue					Administrator		sb	
Doe	John					Basic		jd	Delete
Provider	Default					Basic		test	
Smith	Jim					Basic		js	Password
White	Diane					Basic		dw	Activate

#### Adding New Providers

- 1. To add a new provider click Add. This will create a new line in the data grid.
- 2. Click on each field in the data grid to type in the new provider's Last Name, First Name, Middle Initial, Degree, License number, and the State that issued the license, and Title (or profession).

#### **Setting User Security Levels**

Click in the Security Level field in the Provider data grid to select one of four security levels:

- The Administrator level allows the user to have complete control over all functions of Thera*Scribe*®.
- The Advanced user setting should be used for providers to whom you wish to give the ability to permanently alter libraries.
- The Basic user is prevented from altering Thera*Scribe*® libraries.
- The Maintenance level user is able to access only the Demographics, Provider, and Insurance screens in the Personal Data group. In addition, this user may be given access to the General Notes, Attachments, and Custom Fields screens in the Personal Data group and the Database screen in the Tools group. This access is enabled on the HIPAA screen in the Tools group.

See the following for a list of the functions users with each of the security levels can access.

Functions	Administrator	Advanced	Basic	Maintenance
Edit provider data	All	Self	Self	Self
Change provider passwords	All	Self	Self	Self
Can select any patient	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$
See data for all patients	$\checkmark$			
See data for Supervisee patients + patients for whom provider is Team Member	V	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	
View names of patients in sessions on the Appointment Scheduler	All	Only for patients the user can select	Only for patients the user can select	All
View the Access Log history	All	Only if the primary provider	Only if the primary provider	
Create or Edit Clinical Pathways	V			
Delete Episodes	$\checkmark$			
Edit libraries	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		
Create or Edit teams / groups	$\checkmark$			
Create custom fields	$\checkmark$			
Enter default settings	$\checkmark$			
Set Authorized Session warnings	$\checkmark$			
Import Planner libraries	$\checkmark$			
Export or Import clinical records	$\checkmark$			
Create or Edit custom reports	$\checkmark$			
Create or Edit patient groups	$\checkmark$			
Activate a provider	$\checkmark$			

#### Setting Login Names and Provider Status

In the Provider data grid, click in the Login Name field and type in a 4- to 15character name that the user will use to sign in to the program.

- 1. Indicate whether the provider is Active or Inactive. The check box will default to the active position for newly added providers.
- 2. If a provider leaves the practice, the status should be rendered inactive by unchecking the box.

Being marked Inactive will remove the provider's name from the Providers data grid as well as the Provider dropdown lists throughout the program. Check Show All Providers to include inactive providers in the Providers data grid and dropdown lists.

TIP: If a provider leaves the practice, his/her patients can be reassigned to a new provider. After the name and credentials of a new provider are entered by the Administrator through the Providers screen, the patient may be reassigned to a different provider through the patient's Personal Data/Provider screen. Click the dropdown list for Primary Provider and select the name of the new provider. After all of the exiting provider's active patients have been reassigned in this way, mark the exiting provider as Inactive in the Tools/Edit Provider screen.

#### **Creating and Changing Passwords**

- 1. In the Provider data grid, click the name of the provider whose password is to be added or changed.
- 2. Click Password to the right of the data grid. A Change Provider Password window will appear.
- 3. Type in the new password and a confirmation of it.

Set Password for Brown, Sue				
New Decement				
New Password	••••			
Confirm Password	••••			
	OK Cancel	ר		
		_		

#### **Changing the Administrator Password**

- 1. The system administrator may change his/her password by clicking Change Admin Password at the bottom right corner of the screen. A Change Admin Password window will appear.
- 2. Type in the new password and a confirmation of it.

#### Activating a New Provider in TheraScribe® 5.0

- 1. Click Activate to the right of the Provider data grid to open the Thera Scribe  $\$  5.0 Activation Wizard.
- 2. You will be prompted with the question: "Have you purchased a license for Thera*Scribe*® 5.0?" Click Yes or No and then click Next.
- 3. If you click Yes, the Activation Wizard will prompt you to enter the registration code.
- 4. If you click No, the Activation Wizard will provide you with the phone number and website information for purchasing a Thera*Scribe*® 5.0 license. Click OK to return to the Provider screen.

Activation Wizard	
2	Provider Activation Activation for Provider, Default
	Have you purchased a license for TheraScribe 5? • Yes • No
	< Back Next > Cancel

#### **Changing Provider Activation**

If you wish to change a provider's name or transfer activation to another provider:

1. Click the button at the bottom of the Provider screen: Modify Activation.

- 2. The Change Provider Activation Wizard will be opened. Click to select one of two choices: Rename an Existing Provider or Transfer Activation to Another Provider.
- 3. If you choose Rename an Existing Provider, click Next, select a provider from the dropdown list, and enter the new information. Click Next and you will be prompted to enter your Registration Code to complete the process.

Change Provider Activation	
<b>Rename a Provider</b> Select a provider to rename and the provider's new	v name
Select a previously activated Provider Brown, Sue M. Change to: First Name Middle Initial Last Name	
	< Back Next > Cancel

- 1. If you choose Transfer Activation, click Next, and use the dropdown lists to make the changes. Click Next and you will be prompted to enter your Registration Code (received when TheraScribe 5 was purchased).
- 2. Click Next, then OK and activation transfer should be complete.

Change Provider Activation	
Enter Registration Code	<b>C</b>
Please enter Registration Code you received when you purchased TheraScribe 5:	
< Back Next > 0	Cancel

# Allow storing a signature with a Provider that appears on the Clinical Record reports

- 1. Select Provider to whom signature is to be attached.
- 2. Click Signature button to right of Provider window.
- 3. A blank signature window will appear.
- 4. There 2 ways to acquire a signature:

a. From a file: Click Browse... to find a file on your computer or network. Select the image file, click OK and the image will appear in the signature box.

b. From a signature device: Click Capture... and sign signature device\*. The signature should also appear in the Signature window. If you wish to retry the signature, click the clear button and try again. Once the signature is acceptable, click OK.

Signature for Sue Brown	
J. J.	
Browse Capture Clear OK	Cancel

5. Click OK to accept the signature which will be saved to the selected provider for later use.

\*The software has been tested with Topaz Systems Model #T-LBK460-HSB-R.

## 3.9.2 Teams/Groups

The Teams/Groups screen in the Tools group allows the Administrator to do two important tasks:

- Set Therapy Group names (e.g., Depression)
- Create Treatment Teams (multiple providers with access to see and update a patient record)

TIP: You can assign your patients to specific Treatment Teams or Therapy Groups on the Provider screen in the Personal Data group. Similarly, once a treatment team or therapy group has been set up (e.g., given a name and had providers assigned to it) in the Tools section, that team or group may be chosen for a specific patient on the Provider screen.

When working in the Progress group, you may want to copy Progress Notes, Objective Ratings, Psychotherapy Notes, or Amendments to other patient records. If you have assigned a patient to a treatment team or therapy group, his or her name will be among those displayed in the Select Patients window when you click Copy. This provides a quick and easy way to apply records of group work to several patients at once.

#### Adding Group Names and Provider Teams/Groups

If you are designating a new group:

- 1. Click Add to the right of the Description data grid.
- 2. Enter the name of the new group.

- 3. Click Add to the right of the Team/Group Members data grid.
- 4. In the Select Team Members window, use the check boxes to select all the providers who will be servicing the Group named above. These may be leaders of the therapy group or members of the treatment team.
- 5. Click OK or Cancel to return to the Teams/Groups screen.

TIP: An Administrator may add names of providers to a treatment team or therapy group leadership at any time by selecting them in the Team/Group Members data grid. Click Add to the right of the Providers data grid to add names. Click Delete to remove names.

A Teams / Groups	?
Description Clinical Staff	Add Delete
Team / Group Members	
Provider	Add
Provider, Default	Delete

## 3.9.3 Custom Fields

The Custom Fields screen in the Tools group allows for the creation of an unlimited number of customized fields in which you can collect data that may be unique to the needs of your practice. The fields that are created within this screen are available for input on the Custom Fields screen in the Personal Data group.

#### Creating a Custom Field

- 1. Select the Field Class (Episode or Session) using the dropdown list.
- 2. To create a custom field, click Add to the right of the data grid. A blank row will appear in the data grid.
- 3. Click in the Name column and type in the label for the custom field.
- 4. Click in the Type column and select the type of data to be entered in the field.

The following table provides you with more information about the types of data.

Type of Data	Function Provided
Choice	Creates dropdown lists in which you can include your choice of selections.
Currency	Displays numbers in dollars/cents
Date	Creates a dropdown calendar
Date/Time	Indicates both date and time
Number	Requires the user to enter a whole number
Text	Creates narrative text field of unlimited length
Time	Displays hours/ minutes
Yes/No	Prompts the user to select "yes" / "no"

- 5. Click in the Category column and select a desired category, then Description. This allows you to organize your custom fields (i.e. billing, personal info).
- 6. Click Category to the right of the grid to add a new category.

Field Class					
				Y	Categories
Order   Na	ame	Туре	Category	Description	Add
▶ 1 Mir	inimum Sessi	Number	Default		
2 Pro	ojected Star	Date	Default		Delete

# 3.9.4 Default Settings

The Default Settings screen in the Tools group allows the Administrator to enter default values for a variety of fields within Thera*Scribe*®. If you find yourself entering data that is often repeated from one new patient to another, you can save work and time by using these default values, instead of retyping the data each time.

Some of the areas in which you can take advantage of default settings include:

- Personal Data (e.g., Gender, Treatment Setting, State of residence)
- Treatment Plan (e.g., Modality, Frequency, Approach)
- Insurance Authorization Warning Limit (Sessions or Days Remaining)
- Default Narrative Field Font (Font and Size)
- Discharge (e.g., Follow-Up Care, Placement Recommendation, Vocational Plan)

When you are ready to enter default values:

- 1. Click in the field of your choice and either choose from a dropdown list, if available, or type in your own text.
- 2. Selections you make on the Default Settings screen will then automatically appear when a clinical record is created for a new patient.

TIP: As a provider, you may override defaults at any time by making a new selection from a dropdown list or typing in your own text.

Default Settings				
Personal Data Default Values	Treatment Plan Default Values			
Psychiatrist	Modality			
Gender	Frequency			
Treatment Setting	Interval			
Department	Recommended Level of Care			
Treatment Team / Group	Approach			
Insurance Carrier	Ten waren Authevisation Waveling Limit: Wave if loss than			
City	Insurance Authorization Warning Limit: Warn if less than Sessions Remaining			
State Days Remaining				
Assessment Default Values	Default Narrative Field Font			
Person Interviewed	Font Arial Size 8			
Discharge Default Values				
Percent of Critical Objectives Required for Dis	ischarge			
Competency to Manage Self-Care				
Competency to Manage Financial Resources				
Follow-up Care				
Referral Made To				
Placement Recommendation	×			

# 3.9.5 Shortcut Bar

The Shortcut Bar window allows you to customize your Shortcut Bar, located near the top of your Thera*Scribe*® screen. If you choose this Tools group window, you may choose to add any of nearly fifty shortcut buttons to your Shortcut Bar, As you select the buttons that link you to your most commonly used screens and functions, you will make your work processes easier and more efficient.

To make changes to your Shortcut Bar:

- 1. Make a selection from the list of Available Shortcuts by clicking on it.
- 2. Click Add to the right of this list to add it to your Shortcut Bar. Click Remove to remove it from your Shortcut Bar.
- 3. Use the Move Up or Move Down buttons to arrange the list of Selected Shortcuts in an order that works best for you.
- 4. Click Apply to make the changes or simply exit the screen. Click Cancel to cancel any changes made.

🛞 The	raSc	ribe 5	
File	Go	Help	
		9	+
Home	Sel	ect Patient	Add Patient

# 3.9.6 Libraries

The Libraries screen in the Tools group allows users with Administrator-level or Advanced-level security to permanently change the contents of the libraries not related to the add-on Practice*Planner*® library modules. This can be done by editing, adding, or deleting options from the libraries. Some of these libraries are used in dropdown lists.

#### **Editing Libraries**

Library categories that may be permanently edited by Administrators from this screen include:

- Recovery Dimensions (Severity, Level of Care, Stage of Change)
- 2. Assessment (Data Source, Assessments, Person Interviewed, Risk Level, Strengths, Treatment Phase, Weaknesses)
- 3. Demographics (Gender, Marital Status, Race, Setting)
- Discharge (Competencies, Discharge Care, Follow-up Care, Percent Objectives, Placement Recommendation, Prognosis Rating)
- 5. HIPAA Items (Amendment Reason for Denial, Data Section, Disclosure Purpose, Information Disclosed)
- 6. Mental Status (Affect, Appearance, Attitude, General Knowledge, Immediate Memory, Insight, Intelligence)
- 7. Other (Insurance, Medication Type, Medications, Modalities, Progress Rating)
- 8. Treatment Plan (Approaches, Axis V, Complete Axis I and II Libraries, ICD-9 Diagnoses, Modality Interval, Recommended Level of Care)
- 1. Use the down arrow to select from Library you wish to edit.
- 2. Click Add button to add a new row to the library.
- 3. To Delete content from the library, click on the row you wish to delete, and click Delete.

Note: Changes made to libraries are permanent. For that reason, use caution in deleting content from the built-in libraries or add-on Practice*Planner*® libraries.

📔 Librar	ies		?
Tategory Asses	sment 💌		
tem Asses	sment Data Source		
Value	Display Text	Order	Add
• 1	Family Member	1	
2	Parent/Guardian	2	Delete
5	Patient	3	
4	Provider	4	
3	Significant Other	5	
6	Spouse/Partner	6	
7	Teacher(s)	7	

# 3.9.7 Treatment Planners

The Treatment Planners screen in the Tools group allows users with Administrator level or Advanced level security to permanently change the contents of the library items. This screen allows you to enter custom treatment planner options, delete or edit built-in options, and add or change links between objectives and interventions.

#### **Editing Planner Libraries**

- 1. Use the Treatment Planner dropdown list to select the Treatment Planner add-on module you wish to edit.
- 2. Use the Library dropdown list to select the component you wish to change.
- 3. The available components include:
  - Problem
  - Definition
  - Goals
  - Objectives/Interventions
  - Axis I diagnoses
  - Axis II diagnoses
- 4. To add a new problem to a Treatment Planner library, choose Problem in the Library dropdown list.
- 5. To edit or add content to the libraries (e.g., Definitions, Goals, Objectives/Interventions) of an existing problem, use the Problem dropdown list to choose from the list of problems tied to the Planner you selected.
- 6. Use the Lines toggle box to increase or decrease the number of rows visible for each library item.
- 7. To Edit an existing library component, click on the row containing that item, and type in the edited content.
- 8. Add new content to the library component by clicking Add and typing the content into the blank row which appears.
- 9. In the Objectives/Interventions section, you may relate a new intervention to an existing or new objective or edit existing links by clicking Change at the bottom of the screen. Check the boxes adjacent to the objective(s) you wish to tie to that intervention.

Note: Beware! If you delete a Problem, you will delete all Definitions, Goals, Objectives, Interventions, and Diagnoses associated with that problem.

[ Treatmo	ent Planners		?
Treatment Planner	Complete Adult 4e		~
Library	Problems		*
Problem			Add
Anger Manager	hent		
Antisocial Behav	/ior		Delete
Anxiety		≡	
Attention Deficit Disorder			
Borderline Perso	onality		
Chemical Depen	dence		
Chemical Depen	dence - Relapse		
Childhood Traumas			
Chronic Pain			
Cognitive Deficit	is		
Dependency			
Depression			
Dissociation			
Eating Disorder			
Educational Defi	icits	~	Lines 🛛 1 🤤

## 3.9.8 Progress Note Planners

The Progress Note Planners screen in the Tools group allows users with Administrator level or Advanced level security to permanently change the contents of the Progress Note Planner library items. This screen allows you to enter custom progress note planner options and delete or edit built-in options.

- 1. Use the Progress Note Planner dropdown list to select the planner you wish to change.
- 2. Use the Problem dropdown list to select a problem.
- 3. The Intervention Notes tab will display the notes typically associated with the problem; use the Intervention dropdown list to view notes associated with each intervention.
- 4. Click Add if you want to enter an additional custom note.
- 5. A new line will appear on the data grid, where you can type in your custom note.
- 6. Click the Order column heading in the data grid to reverse the given order of notes.

- 7. Select a note and click Delete to delete it from the data grid.
- 8. Click the Presentation Notes tab to view the notes typically associated with the selected problem.
- 9. Use the Definition dropdown list to select the Definition you want to change.
- 10. Follow steps 4-7 above to make changes to either the Symptom Subgroup data grid or the Presentation Note data grid.

🥢 Progress Note Planners	?
Progress Note Planner     Adult 3e       Problem     Anger Management	<ul><li>▼</li></ul>
Intervention Notes         Presentation Notes           Intervention         Assess Anger Dynamics	<b>~</b>
Order         Description           1         The client was assessed for various stimuli that have triggered his/her anger.           2         The client was assisted in identifying situations, people, and thoughts that have triggered his/her anger.	Add Delete
2       The client was assisted in identifying situations, people, and thoughts that have triggered his/her anger.         3       The client was assisted in identifying the thoughts, feelings, and actions that have characterized his/her anger responses.	
Li	ines 2 📚

## 3.9.9 Database

The Database screen in the Tools group provides several options for managing your Thera*Scribe*® database.

- The Administrator can import additional modules into Thera*Scribe*® and perform routine database maintenance.
- You can also use this screen to export all clinical records to an external database or statistical package, or save a single patient's clinical record to a floppy disk or other storage media.

🥃 Database	0
Import Planner Library Delete Planner Library	Database Location \My Documents\TheraScribe\TheraScribe5.mdb  Database Version TheraSync
Export Treatment Episodes Import Treatment Episodes	Synchronize Setup
Back Up Database	
Compact/Repair Database	
Change Database Password	
Import From Previous Version	
Deactivate	✓

#### **Importing Planner Add-On Modules**

- 1. To import data from a new Treatment Planner, Homework Planner, or Progress Notes Planner, click Import Planner Library on the Database screen. An Open window will appear.
- 2. Browse for the file you wish to import, and click Open.
- 3. Thera*Scribe*® will copy the data from the disk into the database and make it available to the user of Thera*Scribe*®.
- 4. The title of the new Planner module will be displayed in the relevant dropdown lists throughout the program.

#### **Deleting Planner Libraries**

- 1. To delete a Planner Library, click Delete Planner Library.
- 2. In the Delete Planner window, use the dropdown lists to select Planner Type and Planner title. Click OK to delete or cancel to return to the Database screen.

#### **Exporting and Importing Clinical Records**

Recognizing that many users use both desktop and laptop computers, Thera*Scribe*® provides for exchange of patient records between multiple installations of the program.
Due to data integrity requirements of most health care systems, this functionality is available only to an Administrator.

TIP: The export and import patient records features operate by completely writing over the existing patient record for the specified episode of care with the most recently dated record. This functionality should be used with care, as there is no way to undo the write-over once a new episode has been imported.

To export a patient record to your hard drive or to a writeable CD/DVD:

- 1. Click Export Treatment Episode.
- 2. From the Select Episodes to Export window, check the episode or episodes of care for a patient or group of patients that you wish to export. Click Select
- 3. A Save Export File window will appear. Select the location where you want to save the episode. Type the file name (e.g., John) in the File Name box. Click Save to save the file, where it can be opened in another installation of the software using step 4.
- 4. Click Import Treatment Episode to access data saved to a hard drive or writeable CD/DVD. Locate the file in the Look In box. Click Open. This will import the file into Thera*Scribe*®, and write over earlier episodes stored in the database.

# Backing Up and Repairing the Database

Note: These functions are not available in Thera*Scribe*® Enterprise version.

For security and data integrity reasons, you will want to make a copy of your clinical records regularly. Use the following steps to back up the Thera*Scribe*® database:

- 1. To make a copy of the database, click Back Up Database.
- 2. Select the location where you want to save the backup file.
- 3. Type in the name of the file. Click OK.
- 4. Restore the database from a backup by clicking Restore Database. Selecting the backup location and click OK.
- 5. To reorganize and speed access to your database, click Compact/Repair Database.

# Changing the Database Password

The Essential® and Small Practice® Editions store data in an Microsoft Access® database that can be opened and examined using Microsoft Access®. The database comes password protected. The default password is: TS5master. The Administrator can change this password to allow access to the raw data in the database using the Change Database Password button. If the password is changed to a blank value, no password will be required to open it in Microsoft Access®.

# Importing from a Previous Version

To import a database from Thera*Scribe*® 4.0:

- 1. Click Import from a Previous Version.
- 2. The Import from Thera*Scribe*® 4.0 Wizard will appear, prompting you through the steps.
- 3. Select either the Solo/Small Group Version or the Enterprise SQL Version.
- 4. Enter either the Database File or Server name.
- 5. Click Next.
- 6. Continue working through the Wizard.

Note: All patient and session data is imported except the following: the admin account password, TheraSync® settings, Administration/HIPAA data, Administration/Default Settings data, Saved Outcome Criteria, and any Report Layouts.

Note: If a particular Planner Library has been loaded into Thera*Scribe*®, and the Planner is also in the Thera*Scribe*® 4.0 data being imported, it will be skipped. This includes any changes made to the Planner. Otherwise, the Planner with changes will be imported.

# Deactivating TheraScribe®

- 1. If you wish to deactivate the current version of Thera*Scribe*® and return to Trial Mode, click Deactivate.
- 2. You will be asked to confirm your desire to deactivate by clicking Yes. Click No to return to the Database screen.

# Using TheraSync®

TheraSync® is designed to synchronize the Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> and TheraScribe®. software applications and allow for data exchange between the two. After some initial setup, TheraSync® operates from a single Synchronize button on the Database screen in TheraScribe®. If you are part of a larger office you will probably want to synchronize at least once a week to ensure that any new patient and/or provider information is identical in both applications. Still larger offices may need to synchronize more often.

# • Preparing for Initial Setup

TheraSync® synchronizes three sets of data between Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> and TheraScribe®: patients, providers, and sessions. Each one of these sets requires its own setup in order for TheraSync® to know how to handle the data.

# • Setting Up TheraSync®

1. Open Thera*Scribe*® and go to the Database screen in the Tools group. Click Setup.

- 2. In the TheraSync® setup window, use the Application dropdown list to select Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup>.
- 3. Click and complete the Patient tab data based on the following values:

a) Automatically look for matching new records in Thera*Scribe*® and Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup>. Check this box if you want TheraSync® to match records based on patient name. For example, if TheraSync® finds a patient named Smith, John in both Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> and Thera*Scribe*®, it marks the patient as a match between the two applications. If you do not have this box checked, you must do the matching manually. We recommend that this option be left on; otherwise duplicate data may start appearing in Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> when synchronizing multiple times.

b) Conflict Resolution. If TheraSync® finds mismatched data between matched records in Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> and TheraScribe®, you must decide how it will handle the resolution. Select one of three options:

Use Thera Scribe  $\mathbb{R}$  Value: Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup> is overwritten with the data from Thera Scribe  $\mathbb{R}$ .

Use Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup> Value: Thera*Scribe*® is overwritten with the data from Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup>.

Do Nothing: Thera*Scribe* ® 5.0 and Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> remain as they are; neither application is overwritten with data from the other.

c) New Records. If new records have been added to either application, you can select to transfer that new data to the other application. For example, if you add a new patient to Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup>, you can select Add new records found in Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup> to Thera*Scribe*® to have that patient transferred to Thera*Scribe*® and vice versa.

4. Click and complete the Provider tab data based on the following values:

a) Automatically look for matching new records in Thera*Scribe*® and Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup>. Check this box if you want TheraSync® to match records based on provider name. For example, if TheraSync® finds a provider named Smith, Jane in both Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> and Thera*Scribe*®, it marks the provider as a match between the two applications. If you do not have this box checked, you must do the matching manually.

b) Conflict Resolution: If TheraSync® finds mismatched data between matched records in Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> and Thera*Scribe*® 5.0, you must decide how it will handle the resolution. Select one of three options:

Use TheraScribe \$ 5.0 Value: Therapist Helper<sup>m</sup> is overwritten with the data from TheraScribe \$ 5.0

Use Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup> Value: Thera*Scribe*® is overwritten with the data from Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup>.

Do Nothing:Thera*Scribe*® and Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> remain as they are; neither application is overwritten with data from the other.

c) New Records: If new records have been added to either application, you can select to transfer that new data to the other application. For example, if you add a new provider to Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup>, you can select Add new records found in Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup> to Thera*Scribe*® to have that provider transferred to Thera*Scribe*® 5.0, and vice versa.

5. Click and complete the Sessions tab data based on the following:

a) Automatically look for matching new records in TheraScribe® 5.0 and Therapist Helper<sup>M</sup>. This box is grayed out for Sessions. TheraSync® automatically looks for matches between sessions.

b) Conflict Resolution: follow same guidelines as for Patients and Providers (above).

c) New Records: follow same guidelines as for Patients and Providers (above).

6. Click the Other Options tab to enter miscellaneous setup items:

a) Debug Mode. This may be useful for troubleshooting problems.

b) Filter Sessions. This allows you to filter sessions to those added since the last synchronization. This can greatly reduce the time required to import data if there are many session to review.

7. Click OK to complete the TheraSync® setup process.

# Running the Synchronization

Once you have TheraSync® set up to handle the data sets between Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> and TheraScribe®, you are ready to run the synchronization. TheraSync® first examines the data, then matches like elements, either automatically or manually according to your setup, before doing the final synchronization.

To run TheraSync®:

- 1. Go to the Database screen in the Tools group.
- 2. Click Synchronize. The Examining Data dialog box appears. If you need to do any matching or unmatching, click Modify next to any of the three update areas to change the synchronized information. (These steps are described in more detail under the next section: To Match/Unmatch Records.)
- 3. Click Do Update to finalize the synchronization.
- 4. Click Yes to confirm the changes.
- 5. Click OK to complete the synchronization.

# To Match Records

If you need to do any matching from the Synchronize Information window:

 Click Modify next to any of the three update areas. For example, if you prefer to match patients manually, you can uncheck the Automatically look for matching new records in TheraScribe® and Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> box under the Patient setup tab, run the Synchronization process, and then go into the Modify panel.

- To Match, highlight a name in the Unmatched in TheraScribe® box and the Unmatched in Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup> column and click Match. These records move to the Matched Items box and are now linked in TheraSync®.
- 3. To Remove Match, highlight a line in the Matched Items section and click Remove Match. These records are split apart in TheraSync and move to the respective Unmatched columns.

# To Unmatch Records

- 1. Click on an item in the Unmatched lists to view more details on the item.
- 2. Click Next.
- 3. The Unmatched Patients screen appears. (The term "Unmatched" means that the patient does not appear in the corresponding application. For example, if Henry Fonda appears in the Unmatched Patients in Thera*Scribe*® column, it means that Henry Fonda does not appear in Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup>. That particular patient is an "Unmatched" state in Thera*Scribe*®.)
- 4. Double click on an item here to view more detail.
- 5. Check the corresponding boxes according to the following definitions:
  - Checked: The patient will be added as a new patient in the corresponding application.
  - Grayed: No action will be taken for this patient. when you run the synchronization again, this patient will appear once more.
  - Unchecked: The patient will be marked as inactive in the existing application. By design, neither application deletes patients.
- 6. Click Next.
- 7. The Resolve Mismatches screen appears. This screen shows the field-level detail of any outstanding mismatches, allowing you to select the precise information to copy over to the corresponding application. For example, if a patient's phone number shows an incorrect area code in Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup>, you can select the value in TheraScribe® to carry over to Therapist Helper<sup>™</sup>.
- 8. Check the boxes next to the values that you want to use in both systems, or click the Select All buttons to copy over all values for a particular application.
- 9. Click Close to close the screen and return to the Synchronize Information window, where you can now perform similar matches for Providers and Sessions.

Note: If a new episode is created for a patient who has been previously synchronized, subsequent sychronizations will affect data on the original episode, not newer ones.

# 3.9.10 System Settings

The System Settings screen in the Tools group gives

the Administrator access to several functions within the program that are related to meeting the requirements of the Federal HIPAA regulations effective in April 2003. Although these functions do not make the provider HIPAA-compliant in and of themselves, they do provide prompts and assistance for making compliance more easily attained. The Systems Settings screen also allows the Administrator to select Active Start Time and End Time for the Appointment Scheduler. Changes on this screen will apply to all users. See Screenshot below for display of items referenced.

# Security Preferences

• Provides ability to set password rules to comply with HITECH guidelines.

#### **Users Permissions**

- **Only Primary Provider...** Clicking this box allows for all the Progress Note (Progress Note Planner, Objective Rating, Psychotherapy Notes, and Amendments) to be seen by only the Primary Provider assigned to the patient on the Provider screen in the Personal Data section. It allows a Team Member assigned to the patient to view only notes that he or she has entered. When this box is unchecked all Progress Notes may be viewed by any provider who is assigned to the patient.
- The next check box indicates whether the Maintenance User is allowed to see the Database screen in the Tools group.
- In the next set of check boxes, the administrator may select what screens Maintenance Users are able to access in the Personal Data group in addition to Demographics, Provider, and Insurance. The other screen options are:
  - General Notes
  - Attachments
  - Custom Fields

#### **Episodes**

- This option automatically generates Patient ID Numbers when implemeted. One can set the starting number on a patient and numbers will be incremented from there.
- Currently only works with 0-9

#### Sessions

• If Teams are implemented, on the Personal Data/Provider screen, this option will automatically assign new patients to the Primary Provider's team.

# Default Diagnosis Mode

• Determines which DSM/ICD version will be defaulted to new patients. Should default to DSM-5.

# Progress Notes

The Progress Note Locking Options check boxes allow the Administrator to select one of three options:

- No Locking of notes
- Lock when leaving the Progress screen
- Lock when leaving Patient
- Manual Locking (added in Ver. 19.1) -- Sessions can be locked by Primary Provider, Session Provider and Supervisor of Supervised Provider who cannot lock notes.

When a progress note is locked it may never be edited or deleted. The name of provider who created the note is locked along with the date of entry. This will add the Amendment screen to the Progress group. The Amendment screen allows the user to enter a change to the note through the entry of amendment text. This text is also locked and not able to be edited or deleted after the user leaves the screen or selects a new patient.

# **Default Sessions as Authorized**

• If insurances are used, will default all sessions to authorized

# Hide Supervisor Signature...

• This option relates to supervised Providers. It will print the supervisor signature on reports ONLY when printed by Supervisor

# **Insurance Authorization Warning Limit Settings**

Use the dropdown lists to select settings for sessions remaining and days remaining data. Use the checkboxes to enable or disable the Insurance Authorization Warning Limit settings.

# Automatic User Time-Out Function

- To help protect confidential PHI from being viewed by unauthorized persons, the Automatic User Time-out function may be enabled by checking the box provided. By entering a number in the Minutes Before Time-out Occurs box, you are setting the time after which the monitor screen will go blank if no activity occurs within the program.
- If the user leaves the screen unattended for the established number of minutes, the screen will go blank, protecting the patient information from being seen or the program from being operated by unauthorized people who might gain access to confidential information.
- The user who last logged on must enter his or her system password to unlock the blank screen and return the program to full functioning status.

# **Treatment Plan Review Reminders**

• This option displays reminders on the Home page when Tx Plan Reviews (Tx Plan/Problem screen -- see below) are due.

	tment Plan	🚈 Problem	
a	Problem	Patient Test Patient2	
	Definitions	Assign Clinical Pathway	Tx Plan Review/Archive
	Objectives / Interventions	Primary Problem Anxiety	Select
	Modality	Secondary Problems	

#### **Appointment Scheduler Options**

You may want to change the Active Start and End Times of your practice day. Using the dropdown lists to change these times will change the start and end times for the Appointment Scheduler.

Syst	tems Settings sci	reen	
🛞 The	eraScribe		
File	Go Help		
		+	
Home	Select Patient Manage Pathways Ad	d Patient	
Too * *	IS Providers Teams / Groups Custom Fields Default Settings	System Settings Security Preferences Password Settings Minimum Length 1 200	Automatic User Time-out
	Shortcut Bar	Force Change in Days 0 🗘 Set value to 0 to disable.	- Treatment Plan Review Reminders
8	Treatment Planners	History Reuse Limit 0 🗘 Set value to 0 to disable.	Z Enabled
1	Progress Note Planners	Enforce password cannot contain username	Days between Reviews 30 🜲
	Libraries	Enforce character requirements	
	Database	Password must contain at least three of the following:	Scheduler
<i></i>	System Settings	a uppercase character, a lowercase character, a numeric digit, a symbol (!@#\$%^*)	Active Start Time 8:00 AM
	Preferences	Failed Login Limit 0 🗘 Set value to 0 to disable.	Active End Time 5:00 PM 🗘
•		Inactivity Limit in Days	
	Personal Data	Custom Fields	
8	Assessment		
3	Treatment Plan	Episodes     On Add Patient, generate ID Number	
2	Progress	- Sessions	
<b>₹</b>	Prognosis / Discharge	Sessions ✓ On Add Session, set Session Team to Patient Team if available	
	Appointment Scheduler	Diseases	
	Reports	Diagnoses Default Diagnosis Mode	
	N 100	O DSM-5	Ψ

#### TheraScribe Help

Progress Notes	
Progress Note Locking Options	
No Locking     Lock when leaving Progress Note Screen     Lock when leaving Patient     Manual Locking (by Non Supervised Provider or Supervisor)	
Default Sessions as Authorized	
Hide Supervisor Signature Unless Supervisor Prints	
Insurance Authorization Warning Limit: Warn if less than  Sessions Remaining Enabled	
Days Remaining Enabled	
Reports	
Export Directory	
Prompt user to enter a Disclosure Request when printing or exporting	
Report Logo	

#### **Disclosure Request Check Box**

- If you want a disclosure authorization prompt to be displayed every time a report is going to be printed, check the Disclosure Request check box.
- Any attempt to print a report of clinical data from the Reports screen will prompt a dialog box to appear which contains a reminder that disclosure authorization is necessary before any information can be shared. The dialog box allows the user to indicate that he or she would like to enter disclosure authorization information and, if so, a second data entry dialog box appears.

#### Add Logo to Reports:

- Click on Report Logo button (right side, middle of screen below)
- Click Browse button and find logo file
- Set size of file in inches. As noted, to have logo resize proportionally, just enter one parameter -- either height or width
- Click OK and logo will appear on reports
- Clear Button removes logo and clicking OK with a blank image box removes logo from reports

#### Automatic Backup:

- 1. Clicking the Enabled checkbox will automatically backup Therascribe data.
- 2. Frequency in Days: When Therascribe is exited, the database will be backed up if the most recent backup occurred more than the number of days specified in the Number of Days selector ago.

- 3. The backup directory can be a local drive or a network drive-- a mapped drive or UNC.
- 4. **Note:** each backup schedule is unique to a user/computer so with multiple users there could be multiple backup schedules.
- 5. **Note:** automatic backup is not available for the Enterprise edition of TheraScribe.

# 3.9.11 Preferences

These settings are User and computer specific.

# Setting Home Page Preferences

You can set the number of Recently Selected Episodes and Upcoming Appointments that appear on your Home Screen in Thera*Scribe* R by using the Preferences screen in the Tools group.

Use the dropdown lists to make your selection or type in the number you desire.

# Setting Time Interval for the Appointment Scheduler

You can also set the time interval that will appear on your Appointment Scheduler by using the dropdown list on the Preferences screen in the Tools group.

#### Reports

Here one can select the program used to display reports. Options are DOCX (MS Word compatible), ODT (Open Office, Libre Office compatible) and PDF.

#### TheraScribe Help

Home Page —					
Number of Episodes shown 5 🌲					
Number of Appointments shown 5 🖕					
View Quick Lir	nks on the Home Page				
Scheduler —					
Time Interval on A	Appointment Scheduler 30 min	utes 🔻			
Reports					
Clinical Record Re	eport Export File Type DOCX	<b>*</b>			
Outlook Integ	ration - Patients	– Outlook Integration - Even	ts		
Copy Pa	atients to Outlook	Copy All Events to Outlook			
Copy Patient	Changes to Outlook	Synchronize future events and	the past 1 month		
TheraScribe U	pdate Notification ———				
Check Frequency	/ Daily 🔻	Check Now			
License ——					
Activation Code [	2F9E-B296-7C23-D562-F87F-2	2B2-4FD8-746F			
Valid Through	Sunday, January 3, 2021				
us about how to i	reactivate your maintenance pla	To once again receive support and an. For maintenance plan renewal i e-plan/ or call us at 1-616-776-174	nformation visit		
Activate Mainte	enance Plan Renewal				

#### Integrating with Outlook

If you are a Microsoft Outlook user, you may want to export the patient information and calendar information you gather in Thera*Scribe*® to Outlook by using the Preferences screen in the Tools group. This convenient option is available to users with the Small Practice and Enterprise editions of Thera*Scribe*®.

#### **Exporting Patient Information**

You can export the following patient information values from Thera Scribe® to your

Contacts list in Outlook: First name, Last name, Address 1, Address 2, City, State, and Postal Code.

#### To export patient information:

- 1. Click Copy Patients to Outlook.
- 2. In the Select Episodes window, click the patients for whom you wish to export information.
- 3. To select all patients listed, click Select All.
- 4. Click OK to export. Click Cancel to close the window.
- Check Copy Patient Changes to Outlook if you want future changes made to these patients to be automatically updated in Outlook as well. If a patient is unchecked in the selection window, his or her data will no longer be updated if the copy option is checked.

Select Episodes	
<ul> <li>Fisher, Judy</li> <li>James, John</li> <li>Johnson, Alice</li> <li>Jones, Marc</li> <li>Sample, Judy</li> <li>Sample, Judy</li> <li>Smith, John</li> <li>Tanner, Bill</li> <li>Taylor, Greg</li> <li>Young, Judy</li> </ul>	
Select All OK Cancel	

TIP: Changing contacts in Outlook that were exported from Thera*Scribe*® will not affect Thera*Scribe*® data and Outlook data may be overwritten by the export process.

# **Exporting Events**

You can also export Calendar information regarding patient sessions from Thera*Scribe*® to your Outlook Calendar.

#### To export Calendar information:

 Check the Copy All Events to Outlook checkbox. Any sessions or appointments assigned to the Provider currently logged in to TheraScribe® will be exported to Outlook. 2. To determine which past events to export and integrate, use the down arrow to complete the line Integrate future events and ... your choice. Choices include: the past 2 weeks, the past 1 month, the past 3 months, the past 6 months.

TIP: Changes made in events for Thera*Scribe*® will be updated in Outlook, but changes in Outlook will not be updated back to Thera*Scribe*® and may be overwritten by the export process. If the provider is changed for a session, then the Outlook appointment will be deleted for the previous provider and created for a new provider.

# TheraScribe Update Notifications

When active, this will notify when new versions of TheraScribe are available.

# License

This tracks Maintenance Plan activity and is where one updates Maintenance Plan expiration date when an expiring or expired plan is renewed.

# Opening the Log Folder

If an error occurs while you are using Thera*Scribe*®, an error file will be created. This file will be stored in a special directory called the Log Folder. To access error files:

- 1. Click Open Log Folder.
- 2. Select an error file.
- 3. You can then view the file or send the file to technical support for diagnostic work.

# 4. Technical Support

If you have Thera*Scribe* ®-related questions, Technical Support Representatives may be contacted via phone by dialing (616) 776\*1745 x5. Hours of availability are 9:00 AM to 6:00 PM Eastern time, excluding weekends and holidays. Off hours and weekends either fill out a Support Ticket or email Support@TheraScribe.com.

# 5. License Agreement

SOFTWARE LICENSE AGREEMENT

Important - Read carefully before opening software package.

This is a legal agreement between you, the end user, and PEC Technologies,LLC (PEC). The enclosed PEC software program and accompanying data (the "Software") is licensed by PEC for use only on the terms set forth herein. Please read this license agreement. Registering the product indicates that you accept these terms. If you do not agree to these terms, return the full product (including documentation) with proof of purchase within 30 days for a full refund. In addition, if you are not satisfied with this product for any other reason, you may return the entire product (including documentation) with proof of purchase within 15 days for a full refund.

- 1. <u>License</u>: PEC hereby grants you, and you accept, a non-exclusive and non-transferable license, to use the Software on the following terms and conditions only:
  - (a) The Software is for your personal use only.
  - (b) You may use the Software on a single terminal connected to a single computer (i.e., single CPU) and a laptop or other secondary machine for personal use.
  - (c) A backup copy or copies of the Software may be made solely for your personal use. Except for such back up copy or copies, you may not copy, modify, distribute, transmit or otherwise reproduce the Software or related documentation, in whole or in part, or systematically store such material in any form or media in a retrieval system; or store such material in electronic format in electronic reading rooms; or transmit such material, directly or indirectly, for use in any service such as document delivery or list serve, or for use by any information brokerage or for systematic distribution of material, whether for a fee or free of charge. You agree to protect the Software and documentation from unauthorized use, reproduction, or distribution.
  - (d) You agree not to remove or modify any copyright or proprietary notices, author attribution or disclaimer contained in the Software or documentation or on any screen display, and not to integrate material from there with other material or otherwise create derivative works in any medium based on or including materials from the Software or documentation.
  - (e) You agree not to translate, decompile, disassemble or otherwise reverse engineer the Software.

#### 2. Limited Warranty:

- (a) PEC warrants that this product is free of defects in materials and workmanship under normal use for a period of 60 days from the date of purchase as evidenced by a copy of your receipt. If during the 60-day period a defect occurs, you may return the product. Your sole and exclusive remedy in the event of a defect is expressly limited to the replacement of the defective product at no additional charge.
- (b) The limited warranty set forth above is in lieu of any and all other warranties, both express and implied, including but not limited to the implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. The liability of PEC pursuant to this limited warranty will be limited to replacement of the defective copies of the Software. Some states do not allow the exclusion of implied warranties, so the preceding exclusion may not apply to you.
- (c) Because software is inherently complex and may not be completely free of errors, you are advised to verify your work and to make backup copies. In no event will PEC, nor anyone else involved in creating, producing or delivering the Software, documentation or the materials contained therein, be liable to you for any direct, indirect, incidental, special, consequential or punitive damages arising out of the use or inability to use the Software, documentation or materials contained therein even if advised of the possibility of such damages, or for any claim by any other party. In no case will PEC's liability exceed the amount paid by you for the Software. Some states do not allow the exclusion or limitation of liability for incidental or consequential damages, so the above limitation or exclusion may not apply to you.
- (d) PEC reserves the right to make changes, additions, and improvements to the Software at any time without notice to any person or organization. No guarantee is made that future versions of the Software will be compatible with any other version.
- 3. <u>Term</u>: Your license to use the Software and documentation will automatically terminate if you fail to comply with the terms of this Agreement. If this license is terminated you agree

to destroy all copies of the Software and documentation.

- 4. <u>Ownership</u>: You acknowledge that all rights (including without limitation, copyrights, patents and trade secrets) in the Software and documentation (including without limitation, the structure, sequence, organization, flow, logic, source code, object code and all means and forms of operation of the Software) are the sole and exclusive property of PEC and/or its licensors, and are protected by the United Sates copyright laws, other applicable copyright laws, and international treaty provisions.
- 5. <u>Restricted Rights</u>: This Software and/or user documentation are provided with restricted and limited rights. Use, duplication, or disclosure by the Government is subject to restrictions as set forth in paragraph (b)(3)(B) of the Rights in Technical Data and Computer Software clause in DAR 7-104.9(a), FAR 52.2227-14 (June 1987) Alternate III(g)(3)(June 1987), FAR 52.227-19 (June 1987), or DFARS 52.227-701 (c)(1)(ii)(June 1988), or their successors, as applicable. Contractor/manufacturer is PEC Technologies, LLC, 401 Hall SW, Suite 355, Grand Rapids, MI 49503.
- 6. <u>Canadian Purchase</u>: If you purchased this product in Canada, you agree to the following: the parties hereto confirm that it is their wish that this Agreement, as well as all other documents relating hereto, including Notices, have been and will be drawn up in the English language only.
- 7. <u>Technical Support</u>: PEC will respond to all technical support inquiries within 48 hours.
- 8. <u>General</u>: This Agreement represents the entire agreement between us and supersedes any proposals or prior Agreements, oral or written, and any other communication between us relating to the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement will be construed and interpreted pursuant to the laws of the State of Michigan, without regard to such State's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or the breach thereof will be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in Kent County in the State of Michigan and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to the service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party. Should you have any questions concerning this Agreement or if you desire to contact PEC for any reason, please write to: PEC Technologies, LLC, 401 Hall SW, Suite 355, Grand Rapids, MI 49503